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Agenda

Agenda of the Ordinary General Meeting

1.	 To approve the minutes of the past AGM of the Bank dated 19 March 2023..

2.	 To consider and acknowledge the Report of the Auditors concerning the Consolidated Financial 
Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2023.

3.	 To discuss and approve the Report of the Board of Directors about the activities of the Bank for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2023..

4.	 To discuss and approve the Consolidated Financial Statements for the financial year ended 
31 December 2023.

5.	 To approve the recommendation of the Board of Directors for the appropriation of profits for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2023 as follows:

5.1	 The transfer of US$ 23.5 million to the legal reserve.

5.2	 Cash payment of 2.25% dividend or US$ 2.25 cent for each outstanding share (net of treasury 
shares) for approximately a total of US$ 70 million. The Cum-Dividend Date is 25 March 2024, Ex-
Dividend Date is 26 March 2024, Record Date is 27 March 2024, Payment Date is 10 April 2024.

5.3	 Transfer of the remaining balance of approximately US$ 142.3 million to the retained earnings.

6.	 To discuss and approve the Corporate Governance Report for the year 2023, as per the Central Bank of 
Bahrain requirements.

7.	 To ratify a remuneration of US$ 1,206,667 to the Members of the Board of Directors for the year 2023, 
subject to approval of the Ministry of Industry and Commerce.

8.	 To absolve the Directors from liability for the financial year ended 31 December 2023.

9.	 Subject to the approval of the Central Bank of Bahrain, to re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young as auditors 
of the Bank for the financial year ending 31 December 2024, and to authorise the Board of Directors to 
fix their remuneration.

10.	 To ratify the appointment of Dr. Khaled Kawan to the Board of Directors of the Bank.

11.	 Update on related party transactions pursuant to Article 189 (c) of the Commercial Companies Law and 
as set out in note 28 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 
2023.

12.	 Any other business under article 207 of the Commercial Companies Law.
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Agenda of the Extraordinary General Meeting

1.	 To approve the minutes of the past EGM of the Bank dated 23 March 2022.

2.	 AT1 Capital Securities Issuance

2.1	 To approve the issuance of convertible perpetual tier 1 capital securities in accordance with 
CA-2.1 (regulatory capital) of the Capital Adequacy Module of Volume 1 of the CBB Rulebook 
(“Capital Securities”) of up to four hundred million United States Dollars (US$ 400,000,000) and 
authorise the Board of Directors of Bank ABC to take the necessary decisions regarding the profit/
interest/coupon rate and issuance value, including but not limited to the matters set out in Article 
149 of Law No. 21 of 2021 promulgating the Commercial Companies Law, as amended (“Companies 
Law”) namely the power to determine the rules to convert the Capital Securities to shares and, in 
particular, the value of the share on the basis of which conversion is made; the Capital Securities 
issue rate shall be at least the nominal value of the share; the value of the Capital Securities 
converted to shares plus the value of the shares of Bank ABC shall not exceed the authorised 
share capital; the period during which it may be requested to convert the Capital Securities to 
shares; and the right of the holder of the Capital Securities to recover their value if he/she/it is 
not willing to convert the Capital Securities to shares, in addition to carrying out the procedures 
and requirements in this regard, subject to Central Bank of Bahrain’s approval and entry into 
any documents relating to any issuance and/or issuance of any shares (as applicable). For the 
avoidance of doubt, the Board of Directors of Bank ABC do not require any further approval from 
the shareholders of Bank ABC for any additional actions not specifically covered by this EGM or any 
other matter in connection with the issuance of the Capital Securities and/ or the issuance of shares 
and the Board of Directors of Bank ABC are hereby authorised to undertake any such actions and 
enter into any such documents as required.

2.2	 To approve the waiver of the shareholders’ pre-emptive rights to subscribe to the Capital Securities 
pursuant to Articles 149 and 150 of the Companies Law.

2.3	 In the event that the Capital Securities are to be converted into shares of the Bank pursuant to 
the terms of such Capital Securities, to approve the increase of paid-up capital (subject to the 
approval of the Central Bank of Bahrain) by up to (a) four hundred million United States Dollars 
(US$ 400,000,000), plus (b) the aggregate value of any outstanding payments under the Capital 
Securities, through the issuance of shares up to the maximum number permitted under applicable 
law, subject to the approval of the Central Bank of Bahrain, and to undertake all actions required to 
give effect to such issuance of shares and entry into any share issuance documentation (including 
notarisation of any documentation if required).
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2.4	 To approve the waiver of the pre-emptive rights under Article 128 of the Companies Law to 
subscribe to such shares pursuant to item 2.3.

2.5	 To authorise and empower the Group Chief Executive Officer of Bank ABC or his delegates to take 
the necessary action, to effect the amendment of the Memorandum and Articles of Association to 
increase the paid-up capital, subject to the approval of the Central Bank of Bahrain.

2.6	 To approve, empower and authorise the Group Chief Executive Officer of Bank ABC (or his 
delegates) to negotiate, approve and sign in the name of Bank ABC whenever requisite or expedient 
in any such documents required to issue or authorise the issuance including signing and/or 
notarising (as applicable) any documents relating to any issuance of the Capital Securities and/or 
shares (as applicable) including but not limited to:

(a) an agency agreement;

(b) a subscription agreement; and

(c) a global certificate,

	 and/or any powers of attorney and any documents whatsoever and generally to do each and every 
such act, matter or thing as required to achieve all the above. 

Important notice to shareholders

	 Shareholders whose names are registered in the Bank’s share register on the date of the meetings are 
entitled to attend the AGM/EGM or to appoint a proxy to attend and vote on the Shareholder’s behalf, 
provided that such proxy is not the chairman, a director, or an employee of the Bank.

	 If a Shareholder is an institutional shareholder, the representative attending the meetings must submit 
a letter of authorisation from the institutional shareholder, signed by an authorised signatory of the 
company. The proxy must be sealed by the institutional Shareholder’s stamp.

	 Shareholders and proxy holders attending the virtual AGM/EGM are required to register through  
http://agm.bank-abc.com, at least 24 hours before the meetings.

	 Proxy forms can be obtained from the Bank’s website www.bank-abc.com, Bahrain Bourse’s website: 
www.bahrainbourse.com, or from Bank ABC Head Office in Diplomatic Area in Manama.

	 Proxy forms should be submitted at least 24 hours prior to the meetings to Bank ABC’s registrar, Kfin 
Technologies W.L.L. PO Box 514, Manama, Bahrain, or by email to ShareholderRelations@bank-abc.com. 
Proxy forms submitted after the deadline will be considered void and will not be accepted.

	 The documents relating to the meetings can be obtained from the Bank’s website: www.bank-abc.com 
and Bahrain Bourse’s website: www.bahrainbourse.com.

	 For any inquiries, you may contact the Shareholders Relations on +973 1754 3222 or email 
ShareholderRelations@bank-abc.com.
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BANK ABC IS PERFORMING WHILE 
TRANSFORMING

On behalf of the Directors of the Bank ABC 

Group, I am delighted to present to our valued 

shareholders the Bank ABC Group’s Directors’ 

Report for 2023. The report showcases the Bank’s 

impressive financial results and remarkable 

accomplishments for the year, as well as our 

strategic vision and goals for the future.

Despite the unpredictable market conditions 

and geopolitical risks affecting the region, 

the relentless commitment and innovation of 

Bank ABC’s workforce resulted in remarkable 

performance for the Group in 2023. Maintaining 

our strong growth momentum, we achieved 

record levels of annual revenues and assets, and 

an exceptional year on year (YoY) uplift in our 

net profit and ROE. We grew our core business 

substantively and made excellent progress on 

key strategic initiatives including our digital 

transformation programme and the integration of 

BLOM Bank into ABC Egypt.

All in all, 2023 witnessed record-breaking value 

being generated for our shareholders, as the 

Group progressed on its strategic journey to 

become MENA’s International Bank of the Future.

2023 Economic Review

Across our core and network markets, economic 

activity faced a series of global shocks and 

significant policy tightening. According to the 

International Monetary Fund, global growth 

slowed from 3.5% in 2022 to 3.0% in 2023, below 

the historical average of 3.8%, weighed down by 

persistent inflation and higher interest rates. 

Growth of MENA region economies slowed to 

an estimated 2.0% this year, compared to 5.0% 

in 2022. This was a combined result of lower oil 

production in OPEC countries, tighter monetary 

policies and country-specific domestic issues. 

While inflation began to ease globally, large 

differences persisted among the region’s varied 

economies, with some remaining strong and 

stable, while others were more challenged given 

the regional uncertainties. 

Looking forward, the consensus view is that 

growth should improve to 3.4% in MENA in 2024, 

as oil production potentially ramps up, providing 

Directors’ 
Report
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a solid foundation for continued growth. Bank 

ABC is of course very hopeful that a more stable 

situation will return during 2024, which will be 

beneficial for all stakeholders. 

Remarkable Financial Performance

Despite the economic and geopolitical 

uncertainties, our financial performance for 

2023 showed another year of exceptional uplift. 

We recorded a 53% surge in net profit to reach 

US$235 million compared to US$154 million in 

2022. This was driven by volume growth in our 

core business across our markets, the uplift from 

the rising interest rate environment, as well as 

successful delivery of our strategic objectives. 

Total operating income increased by 16% to reach 

a record high level of $1.3 billion, the second year 

for the Group’s top line to exceed US$1 billion, 

with further significant growth projected. 

Our asset base reached $44 billion, growing 

strongly at 20% YoY and exceeding US$40 billion 

for the first time in the Group’s history, driven 

by a healthy combination of loans, securities and 

liquid asset growth. Supporting this, all capital and 

liquidity metrics were maintained at robust levels 

enabling us to maintain growth momentum. 

Our active cost management strategy enabled us 

to invest in our business and achieve efficiencies, 

while improving our cost/income ratio. Our return 

on equity increased by over 2% YoY to reach 

5.8%. Our earnings per share for 2023 were 

US$0.07, also improved by over 50% YoY.

Refreshed Strategic Focus 

In July 2023, the Board approved the Group’s 

ambitious 2023-2026 Strategy with the 

overarching goals to Accelerate growth, Boost 

returns and Capitalise on our investments. 

The new Group strategy is underpinned by 

three pillars:

	 Accelerating our Core performance in 

Wholesale Banking, Treasury, Retail and 

Brazil, to create near term value.

	 Maximising value in our Digital Units, ila and 

AFS, to create long-term value.

	 Strengthening our Operating Model, to drive 

the execution of the first two pillars. 

 23



Execution is now our priority, seeking rapidly 

to progress on our new strategic objectives, 

aspects of which are expanded upon in the 

following sections. 

Business Growth

Wholesale Banking

The Bank’s Global Wholesale Banking business 

achieved an excellent performance in 2023, with 

a strong double-digit TOI growth, accelerated 

by leveraging the strengths of the Corporate 

Banking and Financial Institutions businesses to 

offer a strong product portfolio, global presence, 

and customer-focused approach. Key value 

drivers included record income growth from 

new clients, digital transformation of Global 

Transaction Banking and commercial banking 

in our core MENA markets, also boosted by 

a significant contribution from the Group’s 

international banking business in the United 

Kingdom, United States, Europe and Brazil. 

Group Treasury and Financial Markets

Group Treasury and Financial Markets achieved 

remarkable milestones in supporting the Bank’s 

bottom line and its digitization efforts while 

providing innovative treasury products and 

market access to clients. Corporate Treasury 

further diversified the Bank’s funding mix and 

repositioned the Bank’s securities portfolios to 

reinforce the Bank’s strong balance sheet ratios 

that support our Investment Grade Credit Rating. 

In Debt Capital Markets, Bank ABC became the 

first regional bank to act as Sole Lead Arranger 

on a 144a/RegS Sukuk offering. The award 

winning US$600-million five-year Sukuk Issuance 

by Air Lease Corporation is the debut Sukuk for 

the leading aircraft leasing company as well as 

the first Sukuk issuance by a North American 

corporation. The Syndications team achieved a 

record underwriting of over US$2.0 billion during 

the year, while FM Sales integrated its eFX 

pricing platform into the Wholesale and ila 

digital banking platforms.

Retail Banking

As part of our Bank-wide digital-first strategy, 

Retail business is being transformed into a 

hybrid model that integrates the technology 

and operating platform of ila Bank with our 

MENA retail banking capabilities. This year, we 

upgraded our existing retail digital proposition 

with a customised version of the ila mobile-

banking proposition that meets local regulatory 

requirements for on-shore processing. We began 

the implementation of this upgrade for ABC Egypt 

this year, with Bank ABC in Algeria and Tunisia to 

follow suit in 2024. 

Operational Efficiency and Resilience 

In 2023, the resilience and efficiency of our 

technology platforms and banking operations 

gained further strength. We embarked on a major 

infrastructure upgrade to consolidate our core 

banking platforms across 15 units, which will 

drive efficiency and facilitate product innovation 

across the Group. We have also invested 

heavily in strengthening and safeguarding our 

systems against cyber threats. Global banking 

operations and client servicing has also been 

enhanced with Robotic Process Automation (RPA) 

implementation and other process improvements. 

Digital Transformation

In 2023, our digital transformation journey 

progressed significantly across our business 

Directors’ Report
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segments. We continued to innovate and improve 

our digital services and products to meet the 

needs and expectations of our customers.

Wholesale Banking 

In Global Transaction Banking (GTB), we launched 

ABC Trade, a comprehensive trade finance 

solution, and rolled out our digital corporate 

onboarding service across 15 global units, and 

on wholesale payments progressed our ABC 

Cash proposition. Another key development was 

the introduction of a next generation blockchain 

payment service in collaboration with JPM Coin 

System, a first in the region. Additional client 

service innovation in our wholesale bank has 

been the launch of a corporate banking portal as 

a single-point access to Bank ABC’s products and 

services, starting with GTB solutions. 

ila Bank

For ila Bank, our digital mobile-only bank, we 

saw its market share in Bahrain go from 

strength to strength, gaining excellent brand 

recognition and numerous industry awards. ila 

continued to prioritise customer-centric service 

innovation, app enhancements and multiple 

product launches. Moreover, ila continued to 

expand its presence in Jordan and launched 

alburaq, a new Islamic platform based mobile 

banking experience, in Bahrain. 

AFS

Our digital payments arm AFS progressed 

steadily on its strategy focused on expanding 

its geographic footprint, deepening its market 

shares in its market-leading merchant acquiring 

business in Bahrain and Oman, continuing to 

progress its roll out in Egypt and focusing on 

the early-stage development of acquiring in 

Libya and UAE. Additionally, it rolled out its SME 

Partner Programme with VISA, to launch prepaid 

cards for businesses in Bahrain and Oman. 

Other key innovations included the expansion 

of its payments acceptance portfolio with the 

introduction of AFS Pay 2.0 and AFS One, as 

well as initial steps to build a new open finance 

infrastructure for the region. 

ABC Labs

In ABC Labs, we piloted a Frontline Platform at 

our DIFC branch, a cutting-edge digital banking 

platform for our relationship managers. We 

also enhanced AI Fatema, our corporate digital 

assistant, and implemented an intelligent 

automation programme employing robotic 

process automation to boost business growth, 

customer satisfaction, and operational efficiency. 

Blom Bank Integration into ABC Egypt 

The BLOM Bank integration within ABC Egypt 

is in its final stages during the year. The final 

step is the seamless migration of retail 

customers onto a single technology platform, 

which we anticipate will complete in Q1 2024. 

Fully combining the retail banking business 

will complete the integration and be a historic 

moment, when all our customers are supported 

by one Bank ABC combined banking proposition 

across the franchise in Egypt. With integration 

concluded, 2024 will see the Bank further 

expanding its market share in this important 

MENA market on a turbo-charged basis.

Directors’ ReportDirectors’ Report
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Sustainability Strategy 

In 2023, the Bank has formulated a well-defined 

and holistic Sustainability Strategy, led by a new 

created Sustainability function with specialised 

expert resources, to drive this across our 

organisation in the markets we serve. 

Our Sustainability Strategy encompasses guiding 

principles with an emphasis on governance, 

operations, risk management and sustainable 

finance. On governance, we have an effective 

framework that includes substantive Board-level 

oversight, while establishing a clear targets for 

the Group to reduce environmental impact and 

boost our social impact. On operations and risk 

management, we are developing a clear picture 

of our Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions, as well 

as building the view of the Scope 3 implications 

of our client business, as we aim to mitigate the 

environmental risks of our financing activities. 

Finally, we are focusing more of the Bank’s front- 

line business to proactively target green and 

sustainability-linked financing opportunities.

In 2023, we signed multiple renewable energy 

and sustainability-linked deals to drive the 

transition towards an inclusive and sustainable, 

low-carbon economy. We also completed over 

100 impactful Group-wide Corporate Social 

Responsibility initiatives that are aligned with 

United Nations Sustainable Development Goals. 

In addition, Bank ABC was quick to respond to 

the catastrophic floods that affected Libya and 

the devastating earthquakes in Turkey and Syria, 

with support and significant donations towards 

the relief works.  

Industry-wide Recognition 

Bank ABC continued to be honoured with over 

15 international and regional awards in 2023, 

reflecting our excellence and innovation across 

our business segments. We are proud to have 

received the prestigious ‘Bank of the Year 2023’ 

award for Bahrain from The Banker, making Bank 

ABC the third time winner of the title. 

Our digital-only bank, ila, swept all six awards at 

the Global Finance World’s Best Digital Awards, 

including the ‘Best Consumer Digital Bank’ title for 

the third consecutive year. 

Bank ABC also received the ‘Best Trade Finance 

Provider in the Middle East’ from Global Finance 

and ‘Best Corporate Bank in Bahrain’ from the 

Euromoney Awards for Excellence. We have 

also been named ‘Market Leader in Corporate 

Banking,’ ‘Market Leader in Digital Solutions’ 

and ‘Highly Regarded in ESG’ by the Euromoney 

Market Leaders Awards. 

Our innovation hub, ABC Labs, was named 

one of the ‘World’s Best Financial Innovation 

Labs’ by the Global Finance Innovators Awards, 

demonstrating our commitment to digital 

transformation. Moreover, our Islamic banking 

arm, Bank ABC Islamic, was recognised as the 

‘Best Islamic Financial Institution in Bahrain’ by 

Global Finance’s World’s Best Islamic Financial 

Institution Awards. 

Recognising our Islamic and Conventional 

structured finance capabilities, The Bonds, Loans 

& Sukuks Middle East Awards, awarded us three 

key accolades: the Global Corporate Sukuk Deal 

Directors’ Report
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of the Year and Aircraft Finance Deal of the 

Year for its landmark Sukuk deal with Air Lease 

Corporation (ALC) and the Metals & Mining Deal 

of the Year, for the loan facilitated for Aluminium 

Bahrain (Alba). 

Finally, our cash management capabilities 

earned us recognition as the ‘Best Overall 

Cash Management Provider in Tunisia’ by 

Global Finance. 

2024 Priorities

The year ahead will present many continuing 

challenges and opportunities for the industry to 

navigate. Heightened geopolitical tensions will 

likely lead to additional economic stress on the 

more vulnerable economies in the region. In many 

markets, the interest rate cycle will likely turn as 

inflation abates, presenting repricing challenges 

and refinancing opportunities. New technologies 

such as AI techniques will be emerging, while new 

banking regulations on capital and climate change 

are coming into effect, with all these factors 

affecting the competitive environment. 

Despite these uncertainties, Bank ABC is 

confident it can capitalise on its strengths and 

continue to accelerate its performance. As 

referenced earlier, we will focus on executing our 

newly approved Group Strategy, which will drive 

both near-term and long-term value creation 

for our shareholders. We will remain vigilant on 

emerging risks, while continuing our focus on 

capital efficiency and balance sheet capacity, 

building on the momentum of the strong business 

pipeline achieved in 2023. We will also continue to 

invest in our digital capabilities and technology 

platforms, positioning ABC to be at the forefront 

of AI and other developments in data, and digital 

product and service propositions to unleash 

greater efficiency, agility, and performance 

throughout the Group.
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Board of Directors’ Remuneration Details 

The aggregate remuneration paid to Board 

members in 2023 amounted to US$1,897,023 

(2022: US$1,760,511), which was divided between 

the three elements as follows:
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Fixed remunerations Variable remunerations

Name

First: Independent Directors:

Dr. Khaled Kawan 50,000 4,500 - 9,407 63,907 - - - - - - - -

Dr. Farouk El Okdah 75,833 3,000 - 13,191 92,024 - - - - - - - -

Dr. Ibrahim El Danfour 135,000 22,500 - 95,566 253,066 - - - - - - - -

Mr. Abdullah Al Humaidhi 133,750 12,000 - 46,114 191,864 - - - - - - - -

Mr. Khalil Nooruddin 150,833 31,500 - 24,819 207,152 - - - - - - - -

Second: Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Saddek Omar 
El Kaber

147,500 9,000 - 49,911 206,411 - - - - - - - -

Mr. Mohammad Saleem 138,750 15,000 - 59,577 213,327 - - - - - - - -

Mr. Ashraf Mukhtar 110,000 9,000 - 58,149 177,149 - - - - - - - -

Dr. Tarik Yousef 137,917 30,000 - 112,768 280,685 - - - - - - - -

Ms. Huda Al Mousa 127,083 28,500 - 55,854 211,437 - - - - - - - -

Third: Executive Directors: 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Total 1,206,667 165,000 - 525,357 1,897,023 - - - - - - - -

*Travel and accommodation costs.

Note: The aggregate remuneration paid to the members of the Remuneration Committee with respect 
to their membership of such committee for the year 2023 was US$20,000, which sum is included in the 
Retainer fee (2022: US$20,000). 

No Director owned or traded Bank ABC shares in 2023.
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Executive Management Remuneration Details:

Executive management

Total paid 
salaries and 
allowances 

Total paid 
remuneration 
(Bonus) 

Any other 
cash/ in kind 
remuneration 
for 2023

Aggregate 
Amount

Remunerations of top 6 
executives, including CEO and 
Head of Finance & Administration

5,525,520 3,709,095 - 9,234,615

Note: All amounts stated are in US Dollars.

Saddek Omar El Kaber

Chairman

11 February 2024

Mohammad Abdulredha Saleem 

Deputy Chairman 
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

 

Ernst & Young - Middle East 
P O Box 140 
10th Floor, East Tower 
Bahrain World Trade Centre 
Manama 
Kingdom of Bahrain 

Tel: +973 1753 5455 
Fax: +973 1753 5405 
manama@bh.ey.com 
C.R. No. 29977-1 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF  
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.)  
 
 
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements  
 
Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.) 
(“the Bank”) and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”), which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023 and the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of cash flows 
and consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and its 
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). 
 
Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 'Auditor’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the consolidated financial statements' section of our report. We are independent of 
the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(including International Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”) together with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Kingdom of Bahrain, 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and 
the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance 
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided 
in that context. 
 
We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the 'Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements' section of our report, including in relation to these matters.  
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The 
results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matter below, 
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
 

 

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

 

Ernst & Young - Middle East 
P O Box 140 
10th Floor, East Tower 
Bahrain World Trade Centre 
Manama 
Kingdom of Bahrain 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF  
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.)  
 
 
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements  
 
Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.) 
(“the Bank”) and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”), which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023 and the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of cash flows 
and consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and its 
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). 
 
Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 'Auditor’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the consolidated financial statements' section of our report. We are independent of 
the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(including International Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”) together with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Kingdom of Bahrain, 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and 
the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance 
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided 
in that context. 
 
We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the 'Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements' section of our report, including in relation to these matters.  
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The 
results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matter below, 
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF  
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) (continued) 
 
 
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
 
Key audit matters (continued) 
 
Impairment provision for loans and advances 
 
Description of key audit matter How the key audit matter was addressed in 

the audit 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9) 
requires use of expected credit loss ("ECL") 
models for the purposes of calculating 
impairment loss against loans and advances 
carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The 
process for estimating the impairment 
provision on loans and advances in 
accordance with IFRS 9 is a significant and 
complex area, due to subjective nature of ECL 
calculation and the level of estimation 
involved. 
 
 

Our approach included testing the controls 
associated with the relevant processes for 
estimating ECL and performing substantive 
procedures on such estimates. Our 
procedures, among others, focused on 
following: 
 
● We assessed: 
 
- the compliance of Group’s IFRS 9 based 

impairment provisioning policy including the 
significant increase in credit risk criteria with 
the requirements of IFRS 9 and regulatory 
guidelines; 

- the Group’s ECL modelling techniques and 
methodology against the requirements of 
IFRS 9; 

- the basis of determination of any 
management overlays applied by the 
Group’s management to incorporate the 
effects of the current and future economic 
outlook; 

- the theoretical soundness and tested the 
mathematical integrity of the models. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF  
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) (continued) 
 
 
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
 
Key audit matters (continued) 
 
Impairment provision for loans and advances (continued) 
 
Description of key audit matter How the key audit matter was addressed in 

the audit 
Additional subjectivity and judgement has 
been introduced into measurement of ECL 
due to the heightened uncertainty associated 
with the impact of current economic outlook 
and uncertain geopolitical situation in 
countries where the Group and its customers 
operate. Due to the complexity of ECL related 
IFRS 9 requirements, effect of the matters 
stated above, significance of the judgements 
applied in determination of ECL and the 
Group’s exposure to loans and advances 
forming a major portion of the Group’s assets, 
the audit of ECL is a key area of focus. 
 

● We obtained an understanding of the design 
and tested the operating effectiveness of 
relevant controls over the ECL models, 
including approvals for any changes to the 
models, ongoing monitoring / validation, 
model governance and mathematical 
accuracy. We have also tested the 
completeness and accuracy of the data 
used and evaluated the reasonableness of 
the management assumptions. 

 
● We understood and assessed the significant 

modelling assumptions adopted by the 
Group for calculating ECL against 
exposures as well as process and basis for 
arriving at ECL related management 
overlays.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) (continued)

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Key audit matters (continued)

Impairment provision for loans and advances (continued)

Description of key audit matter How the key audit matter was addressed in 
the audit

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s gross 
loans and advances amounted to US$ 19,744 
million and the related ECL amounted to US$ 
648 million, comprising US$ 213 million of 
ECL against Stage 1 and 2 exposures and 
US$ 435 million of ECL against exposures 
classified under Stage 3.

The basis of calculation of ECL is presented 
in note 4 “summary of material accounting
policies” and note 25 “risk management” to the
consolidated financial statements. Material 
accounting judgements, estimates and as-
sumptions and disclosures of loans and ad-
vances and credit risk are included in notes 
4, 9 and 25 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

● For a sample of exposures, we performed 
procedures to evaluate:

- Appropriateness of exposure at default, 
probability of default and loss given default 
(including collateral values used) in the 
calculation of ECL;

- Timely identification of exposures with a 
significant increase in credit risk and 
appropriateness of the Group’s staging; and

- Appropriateness of the ECL calculation.

● For forward looking information used by the 
Group’s management in its ECL 
calculations, we held discussions with 
management and checked internal 
approvals by management for the economic 
outlook used for purposes of calculating 
ECL; 

● We considered the adequacy of the 
disclosures included in the consolidated 
financial statements in relation to 
impairment of loans and advances as 
required under IFRS.

We also involved our specialists in performing 
the above procedures.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF  
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) (continued) 
 
 
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
 
Other information included in the Group’s 2023 annual report 
Other information consists of the information included in the Group’s 2023 annual report, other 
than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Board of 
Directors is responsible for the other information. Prior to the date of this auditors’ report, we 
obtained the Directors report which forms part of the annual report, and the remaining sections 
of the annual report are expected to be made available to us after that date. 
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
 
If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of 
the auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the consolidated financial statements 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with IFRSs and for such internal control as the Board of 
Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In preparing 
the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either 
intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF  
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) (continued) 
 
 
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

 
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors. 
 
- Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis 

of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

 
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

 
- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 

entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance 
of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

  

 37



 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF  
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) (continued) 
 
 
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law 
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication. 
 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
 
As required by the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law and (Volume 1) of the Central Bank of 
Bahrain (CBB) Rule Book, we report that: 
 
a)  the Bank has maintained proper accounting records and the consolidated financial 

statements are in agreement therewith; 
 
b)  the financial information contained in the Directors report is consistent with the 

consolidated financial statements; 
 
c)  we are not aware of any violations of the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law, the 

Central Bank of Bahrain and Financial Institutions Law, the CBB Rule Book (Volume 1 
and applicable provisions of Volume 6) and CBB directives, regulations and associated 
resolutions, rules and procedures of the Bahrain Bourse or the terms of the Bank’s 
memorandum and articles of association during the year ended 31 December 2023 that 
might have had a material adverse effect on the business of the Bank or on its 
consolidated financial position; and 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF  
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) (continued) 
 
 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements (continued) 
 
d)  satisfactory explanations and information have been provided to us by management in 

response to all our requests. 
 
The partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Kazim Merchant. 
 

 
 
Partner's registration no: 244 
11 February 2024 
Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain 
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2023

Note 2023 2022

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 296           209          

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Other comprehensive income (loss) that will be reclassified
    (or recycled) to  profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Foreign currency translation:
Unrealised gain (loss) on exchange translation in foreign subsidiaries 18             (139)         

Debt instruments at FVOCI:
Net change in fair value during the year 15 (e) 31             (85)           

49             (224)         

Other comprehensive income (loss) that will not be reclassified 
     (or recycled) to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Net change in fair value of FVOCI equity securities
during the year                 4 (2)             

Net change in pension fund reserve               -                (1)

                4              (3)

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year 53             (227)         

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 349           (18)           

Attributable to:

Shareholders of the parent 258           (98)           
Non-controlling interests 91             80            

349           (18)           

All figures in US$ Million

    The attached notes 1 to 36 form part of these consolidated financial statements.____________________________________________________________________________________________
12
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2023

Note 2023 2022

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 296           209          
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                4              (3)
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TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 349           (18)           

Attributable to:

Shareholders of the parent 258           (98)           
Non-controlling interests 91             80            

349           (18)           

All figures in US$ Million

    The attached notes 1 to 36 form part of these consolidated financial statements.____________________________________________________________________________________________
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2023

Note 2023 2022
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2023

Note 2023 2022

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit for the year 296             209             
Adjustments for:

Credit loss expense 10 145             119             
Depreciation and amortisation 65               63               
Gain on disposal of non-trading debt investments - net 19 (14)              (16)              

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Treasury bills and other eligible bills 38               3                 
Trading securities (423)            377             
Placements with banks and other financial institutions (129)            278             
Securities bought under repurchase agreements (739)            (677)            
Loans and advances (611)            (2,062)         
Other assets (97)              (762)            
Deposits from customers* 2,138          2,157          
Deposits from banks 231             (618)            
Securities sold under repurchase agreements 4,027          861             
Other liabilities 433             742             
Exchange rate changes and non-cash movements 20               261             

Net cash from operating activities 5,380          935             

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of non-trading investments (12,953)       (5,322)         
Sale and redemption of non-trading investments 9,629          4,942          
Purchase of premises and equipment (55)              (36)              
Sale of premises and equipment 8                 6                 
Investment in subsidiaries - net 3                 (13)              

Net cash used in investing activities (3,368)         (423)            

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issue of certificates of deposit 442             294             
Repayment of certificates of deposit (741)            (480)            
Issue of borrowings 163             83               
Repayment of borrowings (161)                            (3)
Interest paid on additional / perpetual tier-1 capital instruments (18)                              (9)
Dividend paid to the Group's shareholders (46)                            (31)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests (28)              (23)              

Net cash used in financing activities (389)            (169)            

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 1,623          343             

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (5)                (81)              

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 2,848          2,586          

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR 6 4,466          2,848          

All figures in US$ Million

*This excludes non-cash item amounting to US$ 390 million, which was converted from deposits from customers
to additional / perpetual tier-1 capital instruments during the year ended 31 December 2022.

     The attached notes 1 to 36 form part of these consolidated financial statements.____________________________________________________________________________________________
13
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2023

1

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of compliance

2.2 Accounting convention

2.3 Basis of consolidation

●

●
●

●
●
●

Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

INCORPORATION AND ACTIVITIES

Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.) ['the Bank'] is incorporated in the Kingdom of Bahrain by an Amiri decree and
operates under a conventional wholesale banking licence issued by the Central Bank of Bahrain [CBB]. The Bank
is a Bahraini Shareholding Company with limited liability and is listed on the Bahrain Bourse. The Central Bank of
Libya is the ultimate parent of the Bank and its subsidiaries (together 'the Group').

The Bank's registered office is at ABC Tower, Diplomatic Area, P.O. Box 5698, Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain.
The Bank is registered under commercial registration number 10299 issued by the Ministry of Industry and
Commerce, Kingdom of Bahrain.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
measurement at fair value of derivatives and certain debt and equity financial assets. In addition, as more fully
discussed below, assets and liabilities that are hedged items in fair value hedges, and are otherwise carried at cost,
are adjusted to record changes in fair values attributable to the risk being hedged.

The Group's consolidated financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (US$), which is also the
Bank's functional currency. All values are rounded to the nearest million (US$ million), except when otherwise
indicated.

The Group is a leading provider of Trade Finance, Treasury, Project & Structured Finance, Syndications,
Corporate & Institutional Banking, Islamic Banking services and the digital, mobile-only banking space named "ila
Bank" within retail consumer banking services. Retail banking services are only provided in the MENA region.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by International Accounting Standard Board ("IASB") and the relevant
provisions of the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law and the Central Bank of Bahrain and Financial Institutions
Law and the CBB Rulebook (Volume 1 and  applicable provisions of Volume 6) and CBB directives.

Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and

The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee);

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries as at 31
December 2023. Control is achieved when the Bank has:

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

The ability to use its power over the investee to influence those returns.

_____________________________________________________________________________________________
15

 47



Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2023

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

2.3 Basis of consolidation (continued)

3

3.1 Standards effective for the year

-

-

a)

b)
•

•

International Tax Reform—Pillar Two Model Rules – Amendments to IAS 12

In periods in which Pillar Two legislation is (substantively) enacted but not yet effective, the amendment requires
disclosure of known or reasonably estimable information that helps users of financial statements understand the
entity’s exposure arising from Pillar Two income taxes including both qualitative and quantitative information
about its exposure to Pillar Two income taxes at the end of the reporting period. For example:

These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group as it is not a first-time
adopter. 

A mandatory temporary exception to the recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the
jurisdictional implementation of the Pillar Two model rules; and

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. 
If the Bank loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-
controlling interests and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
Any investment retained is recognised at fair value at the date of loss of control.

NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are consistent with those
used in previous year, except for the adoption of the new and amended standards and interpretations, applicable to
the Group, and which are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. 

The amendments to IAS 12 have been introduced in response to the OECD’s BEPS Pillar Two rules and include:

Disclosure requirements for affected entities to help users of the financial statements better understand an
entity’s exposure to Pillar Two income taxes arising from that legislation, particularly before its effective
date.

Qualitative information such as how an entity is affected by Pillar Two legislation and the main
jurisdictions in which exposures to Pillar Two income taxes might exist, and
Quantitative information such as:
An indication of the proportion of an entity’s profits that might be subject to Pillar Two income taxes and
the average effective tax rate applicable to those profits; or
An indication of how the entity’s overall effective tax rate would have changed if Pillar Two legislation
had been effective.

Once the legislation is effective, additional disclosures are required for the current tax expense related to Pillar
Two income taxes. The requirements apply for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, but
not for any interim periods ending on or before 31 December 2023.

The Group has reviewed its corporate structure in light of the introduction of Pillar Two Model Rules in the
various jurisdictions in which it operates. The Group has determined that it will be subject to Pillar Two taxes once
the legislation becomes effective since its effective tax rate is below 15% in some of the jurisdictions in which it
operates. 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2023

3

3.1 Standards effective for the year (continued)

3.2 New and amended standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective
New and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of
the Group’s consolidated financial statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these standards, if
applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to IFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback: effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024;

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current : effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024;

The amendments have had an impact on the Group’s disclosures of accounting policies, but not on the
measurement, recognition or presentation of any items in the Group’s financial statements.

Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to IAS 8
The amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in accounting estimates, changes in accounting
policies and the correction of errors. They also clarify how entities use measurement techniques and inputs to
develop accounting estimates. The amendments had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction – Amendments to IAS 12
The amendments to IAS 12 Income Tax narrow the scope of the initial recognition exception, so that it no longer
applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences such as leases and
decommissioning liabilities. The amendments had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS (continued)

Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2

The Group has, therefore, applied judgement and developed an accounting policy, in accordance with IAS 8
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, and concluded that not accounting for deferred
taxes related to Pillar Two income taxes would result in the most relevant and reliable information.

IAS 12 does not offer specific guidance on accounting for Pillar Two income taxes. As noted in the IASB’s
Exposure Draft International Tax Reform—Pillar Two Model Rules (Proposed amendments to IAS 12), it is
unclear whether the Pillar Two model rules create additional temporary differences, whether to remeasure deferred
taxes for the Pillar Two model rules and which tax rate to use to measure deferred taxes. Furthermore, the tax rate
that will apply to an entity’s excess profit in future periods depends on a number of factors that are difficult, if not
impossible, to forecast reliably. 

International Tax Reform—Pillar Two Model Rules – Amendments to IAS 12 (continued)

The amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements provide guidance and
examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to
help entities provide accounting policy disclosures that are more useful by replacing the requirement for entities to
disclose their ‘significant’ accounting policies with a requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies
and adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in making decisions about accounting policy
disclosures.

_____________________________________________________________________________________________
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2023

4

4.1 Liquid funds

4.2 Cash and cash equivalents

4.3 Trading securities

4.4 Placements with banks and other financial institutions

4.5 Investments in associates

4.6 Premises and equipment

4.7 Intangible assets

4.8 Leases - Group as a lessee
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those necessary to
determine control over subsidiaries. Investments in associates are accounted for under the equity method of
accounting.

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition,
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised at cost. The
carrying amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the
associate or joint venture since the acquisition date.

Premises and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment in value, if
any. Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other premises and equipment is provided on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives ranging from 3 to 30 years.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Trading securities are initially recorded at fair value. Subsequent to initial measurement, gains and losses arising
from changes in fair values are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Interest earned and dividends received are included in 'Interest and similar income' and 'Other operating
income' respectively, in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

Cash and cash equivalents referred to in the consolidated statement of cash flows comprise of cash and non-
restricted balances with central banks, deposits with central banks, treasury bills and other eligible bills with
original maturities of three months or less.

Placements with banks and other financial institutions are initially measured at fair value and subsequently
remeasured at amortised cost, net of any amounts written off and provision for impairment. 

Liquid funds comprise of cash, nostro balances, balances with central banks and treasury bills and other eligible
bills. Liquid funds are initially measured at their fair value and subsequently remeasured at amortised cost, less
provision for impairment.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life (ranging from 3 to 10 years) and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of
each reporting period. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment
annually, either individually or at the cash-generating unit level.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.
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4.8 Leases - Group as a lessee (continued)

4.9 Collateral repossessed

4.10 Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements

Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of
lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (less any lease
incentives receivable), variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects
exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as expenses in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets. 

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. The Group discloses right of use assets
under other assets.

Assets sold with a simultaneous commitment to repurchase at a specified future date (repos) are not derecognised.
The counterparty liability for amounts received under these agreements are shown as securities sold under
repurchase agreements in the consolidated statement of financial position. The difference between sale and
repurchase price is treated as interest expense and is accrued over the life of the agreement using the effective
interest rate. Assets purchased with a corresponding commitment to resell at a specified future date (reverse repos)
are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, as the Group does not obtain control over the
assets. The difference between purchase and resale price is treated as interest income using the effective yield
method.

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment
(i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment
that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group discloses lease liabilities under other liabilities.

Right-of-use assets

Any repossessed assets are held for sale at their fair value (if financial assets) and fair value less cost to sell for non-
financial assets at the repossession date in, line with the Group’s policy.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for
the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an
option to purchase the underlying asset.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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4.11 Employee pension and other end of service benefits 

4.12 Recognition of income and expenses

4.12.1 The effective interest rate (EIR) method

4.12.2 Interest and similar income/expense
Net interest income comprises interest income and interest expense calculated using the effective interest method.

If expectations of fixed rate financial assets’ or liabilities’ cash flows are revised for reasons other than credit risk,
then changes to future contractual cash flows are discounted at the original EIR with a consequential adjustment to
the carrying amount. The difference from the previous carrying amount is booked as a positive or negative
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial asset or liability on the balance sheet with a corresponding
increase or decrease in interest revenue/expense calculated using the effective interest method.

For floating-rate financial instruments, periodic re-estimation of cash flows to reflect the movements in the market
rates of interest also alters the effective interest rate, but when instruments were initially recognised at an amount
equal to the principal, re-estimating the future interest payments does not significantly affect the carrying amount of
the asset or the liability. 

The EIR (and therefore, the amortised cost of the financial asset) is calculated by taking into account transaction
costs and any discount or premium on the acquisition of the financial asset, as well as fees and costs that are an
integral part of the EIR. The Group recognises interest income using a rate of return that represents the best
estimate of a constant rate of return over the expected life of the loan. Hence, the EIR calculation also takes into
account the effect of potentially different interest rates that may be charged at various stages of the financial asset’s
expected life, and other characteristics of the product life cycle (including prepayments, penalty interest and
charges).

Under IFRS 9 Financial instruments (IFRS 9), interest income is recorded using the EIR method for all financial
assets measured at amortised cost, interest rate derivatives for which hedge accounting is applied and the related
amortisation/recycling effect of hedge accounting. Interest income on interest bearing financial assets measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) under IFRS 9 is also recorded using the EIR method.
Interest expense is also calculated using the EIR method for all financial liabilities held at amortised cost. The EIR
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life of the
financial asset or liability or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
or liability. 

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The Group calculates interest income on financial assets, other than those considered credit-impaired, by applying
the EIR to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. 

When a financial asset becomes credit-impaired (therefore regarded as ‘Stage 3’), the Group suspends the
recognition of interest income of the financial asset. If the financial asset cures and is no longer credit-impaired, the
Group reverts to calculating interest income on a gross basis.

Costs relating to employee pension and other end of service benefits are generally accrued in accordance with
actuarial valuations based on prevailing regulations applicable in each location. 

The IBOR reform Phase 2 amendments allow as a practical expedient for changes to the basis for determining
contractual cash flows to be treated as changes to a floating rate of interest, provided certain conditions are met.
The conditions include that the change is necessary as a direct consequence of IBOR reform and that the transition
takes place on an economically equivalent basis.
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4.12 Recognition of income and expenses (continued)

4.12.3 Fee and commission income

Asset management fees

Loan commitment and other fees

4.13 Treasury shares

4.14 Financial instruments

4.14.1 Date of recognition 

The performance obligations, as well as the timing of their satisfaction, are identified, and determined, at the
inception of the contract. When the Group provides a service to its customers, consideration is invoiced and
generally due immediately upon satisfaction of a service provided at a point in time or at the end of the contract
period for a service provided over time. The Group has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue
arrangements because it typically controls the services before transferring them to the customer. 

The Group earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of financial services it provides to its customers.
Fee and commission income is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for providing the services. 

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Own equity instruments that are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognised at cost and deducted from equity. No
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity
instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount and the consideration, if reissued, is recognised as share
premium.

These fees are earned for the provision of asset management services, which include portfolio diversification and
rebalancing, typically over defined periods. These services represent a single performance obligation comprised of
a series of distinct services which are substantially the same, being provided continuously over the contract period.
Asset management fees consist of management and performance fees that are considered variable consideration. 

Financial assets and liabilities, with the exception of loans and advances to customers, deposits to customers and
banks, are initially recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. This includes regular way trades: purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market place.
Loans and advances to customers are recognised when funds are transferred to the customers’ accounts. The Group
recognises deposits from customers and banks when funds are received by the Group.

Management fees are invoiced quarterly and determined based on a fixed percentage of the net asset value of the
funds under management at the end of the quarter. The fees are allocated to each quarter because they relate
specifically to services provided for a quarter, and are distinct from the services provided in other quarters. The
fees generally crystallise at the end of each quarter and are not subject to a clawback. Consequently, revenue from
management fees is generally recognised at the end of each quarter.

These are fixed fees paid by customers for loan and other credit facilities with the Group, but where it is unlikely
that a specific lending arrangement will be entered into with the customer and the loan commitment is not measured
at fair value. The Group promises to provide a loan facility for a specified period. As the benefit of the services is
transferred to the customer evenly over the period of entitlement, the fees are recognised as revenue on a straight-
line basis.

Performance obligations satisfied over time include asset management and other services, where the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs.
The Group’s fee and commission income from services where performance obligations are satisfied over time
include the following:
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4.14 Financial instruments (continued)

4.14.2 Initial measurement

4.14.3 Day 1 profit or loss

(a)

(b)

4.15  Financial assets

4.15.1 Debt type instruments - classification and subsequent measurement
The classification requirements for financial assets is as below.

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depend on:

(i)

(ii)

-

-

When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability
(i.e. a Level 1 input) or based on a valuation technique that uses data only from observable markets, the
difference is recognised as a day 1 gain or loss.

the cash flow characteristics of the asset i.e. solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) test.

Based on these factors, the Group classifies its debt instruments into one of the following three measurement
categories:

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): Financial assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent SPPI, and that are
not designated at FVTPL, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive income (OCI), except for the
recognition of expected credit losses or writebacks, interest income and foreign exchange gains and
losses. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI
is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in 'Other operating income' as 'Gain or loss on
disposal of non-trading debt investments'. Interest income from these financial assets is included in
‘Interest and similar income’ using the effective interest rate (EIR) method.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent SPPI, and that are not designated at FVTPL, are measured at amortised cost. The carrying
amount of these assets is adjusted by any ECL allowance recognised and measured. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in ‘Interest and similar income’ using the EIR method.

the Group’s business model for managing the asset; and

The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their contractual terms and the business
model for managing the instruments, as described in notes 4.15 and 4.16.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value plus or minus, in the
case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), transaction costs that
are incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability, such
as fees and commissions. Transaction costs of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at FVTPL are
expensed in profit or loss. Immediately after initial recognition, an expected credit loss (ECL) is recognised for
financial assets measured at amortised cost and investments in debt instruments measured at FVOCI, which results
in an accounting loss being recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when an asset is newly
originated. When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities at initial recognition differs from the transaction
price, the Group accounts for the Day 1 profit or loss, as described below.

In all other cases, the difference is deferred and the timing of recognition of deferred day 1 profit or loss
is determined individually. It is either amortised over the life of the instrument, deferred until the
instrument’s fair value can be determined using market observable inputs, or when the instrument is
derecognised.

When the transaction price of the instrument differs from the fair value at origination, the difference is treated as
follows:

_____________________________________________________________________________________________
22

54 



Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2023

4

4.15  Financial assets (continued)

4.15.1 Debt type instruments - classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

-

4.15.2 Business model

-

-

-
-

4.15.3 SPPI test

The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. In
particular, whether management's strategy focuses on earning contractual interest revenue, maintaining a
particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the
liabilities that are funding those assets or realizing cash flows through the sale of the assets;
How the asset’s and business model performance is evaluated and reported to key management personnel
and Group Asset and Liability Committee (GALCO);

Interest is the consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin
that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement. 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Group considers
the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual
term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In
making the assessment, the Group considers:

Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL): Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or
FVOCI are measured at fair value through profit or loss. The Group may also designate a financial asset
at FVTPL, if so doing eliminates or significantly reduces measurement or recognition inconsistencies. A
gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVTPL is recognised and presented in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss within 'Other operating income' as 'Gain from trading book' in
the year in which it arises. Interest income from these financial assets is included in ‘Interest and similar
income’ using the EIR method.

Financial assets that are held for trading and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are measured at
FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash
flows and to sell financial assets.

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking 'worst case' or 'stress
case’ scenarios into account. 

Principal for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition and may
change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments of principal or amortisation of the
premium/discount). 

The Group assesses the contractual terms of financial asset to identify whether they meet the SPPI test.

The frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations
about future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as
part of an overall assessment of how the Group's stated objective for managing the financial assets is
achieved and how cash flows are realised.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

How risks are assessed and managed; and

The Group determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial assets to
achieve its business objective. The business model reflects how the Group manages the assets in order to generate
cash flows. That is, whether the Group’s objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows from the assets or
is to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither of these is
applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part of
‘held for trading’ business model and measured at FVTPL. The business model assessment is not carried out on an
instrument-by-instrument basis but at the aggregate portfolio level and is based on observable factors such as:
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4.15  Financial assets (continued)

4.15.3 SPPI test (continued)

-
-
-
-
-

4.15.4 Reclassification

4.15.5 Equity type instruments - classification and subsequent measurement

4.15.6 Modified or forbearance of loans

-

-

-

-

-

contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;
leverage features;

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective; that is,
instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a residual interest in the issuer’s
net assets.

Upon initial recognition, the Group elects to irrevocably designate certain equity investments at FVOCI which are
held for purposes other than held for trading. When this election is used, fair value gains and losses are recognised
in other comprehensive income and are not subsequently reclassified to consolidated profit or loss, including on
disposal. Equity investments at FVOCI are not subject to impairment assessment. All other equity investments
which the Group has not irrevocably elected at initial recognition or transition, to classify at FVOCI, are recognised
at FVTPL.

Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in financial difficulty.

terms that limit the Group's claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse asset
arrangements).

prepayment and extension terms; and

Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and measured at FVTPL.

Change in the currency the loan is denominated in.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes. 
The reclassification takes place from the start of the first reporting period following the change. Such changes are
expected to be very infrequent and none occurred during the year.

Dividends are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss under 'Other operating income' when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established.

The Group sometimes makes concessions or modifications to the original terms of loans as a response to the
borrower’s financial difficulties, rather than taking possession or to otherwise enforce collection of collateral. The
Group considers a loan forborne when such concessions or modifications are provided as a result of the borrower’s
present or expected financial difficulties and the Group would not have agreed to them if the borrower had been
financially healthy. Indicators of financial difficulties include:

If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely reduces the contractual cash
flows to amounts the borrower is expected to be able to pay.

Whether any substantial new terms are introduced, such as a profit share/equity-based return that
substantially affects the risk profile of the loan.

Significant change in the interest rate.

Gains and losses on equity investments at FVTPL are included in the 'Other operating income' as 'Income from
trading book' line in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash
flows are SPPI.

the currency in which the financial asset is denominated, and the period for which the interest rate is set;
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4.15  Financial assets (continued)

4.15.6 Modified or forbearance of loans (continued)

-

-

-

-

4.15.7 Derecognition other than on a modification

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

The Group enters into transactions where it retains the contractual rights to receive cash flows from assets but
assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to other entities and transfers substantially all of the risks
and rewards. These transactions are accounted for as ‘pass through’ transfers that result in derecognition if the
Group:

Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from
the assets have expired, or when they have been transferred and either (i) the Group transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership, or (ii) the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership and the Group has not retained control.

Has an obligation to remit any cash it collects from the assets without material delay.

The customer does not have any contract that is more than 30 days past due.

Is prohibited from selling or pledging the assets; and

In order for the loan to be reclassified out of the forborne category, the customer has to meet all of the following
criteria:

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

If the terms are substantially different, the Group derecognises the original financial asset and recognises a ‘new’
asset at fair value and recalculates a new EIR for the asset. The date of renegotiation is consequently considered to
be the date of initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes, including for the purpose of determining
whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred. However, the Group also assesses whether the new
financial asset recognised is deemed to be credit-impaired at initial recognition, especially in circumstances where
the renegotiation was driven by the customer being unable to make the originally agreed payments. Differences in
the carrying amount are also recognised in profit or loss as a gain or loss on derecognition.

If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification does not result in derecognition, and
the Group recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the revised cash flows of the financial asset and
recognises a modification gain or loss in consolidated profit or loss. The new gross carrying amount is recalculated
by discounting the modified cash flows at the original EIR (or credit-adjusted EIR for purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets).

Once the terms have been renegotiated, any impairment is measured using the original EIR as calculated before the
modification of terms. It is the Group’s policy to monitor forborne loans to help ensure that future payments
continue to be likely to occur. Derecognition decisions and classification between Stage 2 and Stage 3 are
determined on a case-by-case basis or based on SICR criteria. If these procedures identify a loss in relation to a
loan, it is disclosed and managed as an impaired Stage 3 forborne asset until it is collected or written off or is
transferred back to Stage 2.

Collateral (shares and bonds) furnished by the Group under standard repurchase agreements and securities lending
and borrowing transactions are not derecognised because the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
on the basis of the predetermined repurchase price, and the criteria for derecognition are therefore not met.

All of its facilities has to be considered performing;

Regular payments of more than an insignificant amount of principal or interest have been made during
most of the period when asset has been classified as forborne; and

Has no obligation to make payments unless it collects equivalent amounts from the assets;

Insertion of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that significantly affect the credit risk
associated with the loan.
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4.15  Financial assets (continued)

4.15.8 Derecognition of financial instruments in the context of IBOR reform

4.16 Financial liabilities

4.16.1 Classification and subsequent measurement

-

-

-

4.16.2 Derecognition

Financial liabilities are classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost, except for:

Financial liabilities at FVTPL: this classification is applied to derivatives and financial liabilities held for
trading. Gains or losses on financial liabilities designated at FVTPL are presented partially in other
comprehensive income (the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable
to changes in the credit risk of the issuer, which is determined as the amount that is not attributable to
changes in market conditions that give rise to market risk) and partially in profit or loss (the remaining
amount of change in the fair value of the liability). This is unless such a presentation would create, or
enlarge, an accounting mismatch, in which case the gains and losses attributable to changes in the credit
risk of the issuer are also presented in consolidated profit or loss;

Financial liabilities arising from the transfer of financial assets which did not qualify for derecognition,
whereby a financial liability is recognised for the consideration received for the transfer. In subsequent
periods, the Group recognises any expense incurred on the financial liability; and

Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract
is discharged, cancelled or expires).

For financial instruments measured at amortised cost, the Group applies the practical expedient as described in note
4.12, to reflect the change in the referenced interest rate from an IBOR to an RFR. Second, for any changes not
covered by the practical expedient, the Group applies judgement to assess whether the changes are substantial and
if they are, the financial instrument is derecognised and a new financial instrument is recognised. If the changes are
not substantial, the Group adjusts the gross carrying amount of the financial instrument by the present value of the
changes not covered by the practical expedient, discounted using the revised EIR.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

As explained in note 4.15.6 and 4.16.2, the Group derecognises financial assets and financial liabilities if there has
been a substantial modification of their terms and conditions. In the context of IBOR reform, substantially all of the
financial instruments have already been amended during 2023 as they transitioned from IBORs to ARRs. Only
those instruments that reference synthetic LIBORs or local IBORs will be amended in the future as they complete
the transition from IBORs to ARRs. In addition to the interest rate of a financial instrument changing, there may be
other changes made to the terms of the financial instrument at the time of transition.

The exchange between the Group and its original lenders of debt instruments with substantially different terms, as
well as substantial modifications of the terms of existing financial liabilities, are accounted for as an
extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. The terms are
substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees
paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original EIR, is at least 10% different from the discounted
present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. In addition, other qualitative factors,
such as the currency that the instrument is denominated in, changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion
features attached to the instrument and change in covenants are also taken into consideration. If an exchange of
debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are
recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. If the exchange or modification is not accounted for as
an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the
remaining term of the modified liability.
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4.17 Financial instruments measured using amortised cost measurement and lease receivables

4.18 Impairment of financial assets

-

-

-

Measurement of ECL

-

-

-

-

●

●

In the context of IBOR reform, the Group’s assessment of whether a change to an amortised cost financial
instrument is substantial, is made after applying the practical expedient introduced by IBOR reform Phase 2. This
requires the transition from an IBOR to an RFR to be treated as a change to a floating interest rate, as described in
Note 4.12.1.

To calculate ECL, the Group estimates the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument during its
expected life. ECLs are estimated based on the present value of all cash shortfalls over the remaining expected life
of the financial asset, i.e., the difference between: the contractual cash flows that are due to the Group under the
contract, and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate of the loan or
an approximation thereof.

The time value of money; and

An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible
outcomes;

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis, the expected credit loss (ECL) associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost and FVOCI and against the exposure arising from loan commitments and financial
guarantee contracts. The Group recognises an ECL for such losses on origination and reassess the expected losses
at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:

Stage 2 – Significant increase in credit risk: when a financial asset shows a significant increase in credit
risk, the Group records an allowance for the lifetime ECL.

financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows;

financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls
(i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive);

financial guarantee contracts: estimates the ECLs based on the present value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the guarantor expects to receive
from the holder, the debtor or any other party. If a loan is fully guaranteed, the ECL estimate for the
financial guarantee contract would be the same as the estimated cash shortfall estimate for the loan
subject to the guarantee.

undrawn loan commitments: estimates the expected portion of the loan commitment that are drawn down
over the expected life of the loan commitment; and calculates the present value of cash shortfalls
between the contractual cash flows that are due to the entity if the holder of the loan commitment draws
down that expected portion of the loan and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive if that
expected portion of the loan is drawn down; and

For the purposes of calculation of ECL, the Group categorises its FVOCI and amortised cost debt securities, loans
and advances and loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts into Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3 and POCI,
based on the applied impairment methodology, as described below:

Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:

Stage 1 – Performing: when financial assets are first recognised, the Group recognises an allowance
based up to 12-month ECL.
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4.18 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Measurement of ECL (continued)

●

●

Stage 1

-

-

-

-

-

Stage 2

Stage 3 – Impaired: the Group recognises the lifetime ECL for these financial assets.

All exposures with external rating A- or above.

IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be classified in Stage 2 when their credit risk has increased significantly since
their initial recognition. For these assets, a loss allowance needs to be recognised based on their lifetime ECLs. 

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The Group applies low credit risk expedient and considers following types of debts as 'low credit risk (LCR)':

All local currency sovereign exposures funded in local currency;

No impairment is recorded on equity instruments.

Purchased or originated credit impaired ('POCI'): when financial assets are purchased or are originated at
a deep discount or are credit-impaired on initial recognition. These are subject to lifetime ECLs. It also
includes recognition of previously written off loans of the Group where the expectation of recovery has
improved. 

For the purposes of categorisation into above stages, the Group has established a policy to perform an assessment
at the end of each reporting period of whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition by
considering the change in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument.

debt type assets that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

on which credit risk has not increased significantly since their initial recognition.

All local currency exposures to the Government of Bahrain or the CBB; and

It is the Group’s policy to evaluate additional available reasonable and supportive forward-looking information as
further additional drivers.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount up to 12-month ECL for Stage 1 customers. All financial assets
are classified as Stage 1 on initial recognition date, unless the new loan is deemed to be POCI. Subsequently on
each reporting date the Group classifies following as Stage 1:

The Group considers whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk of an asset by comparing the rating
migration upon initial recognition of the asset against the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the end of
each reporting period. In each case, this assessment is based on forward-looking assessment, in order to recognise
the probability of higher losses associated with more negative economic outlooks. In addition, a significant increase 
in credit risk is assumed if the borrower falls more than 30 days past due in making its contractual payments, or if
the Group expects to grant the borrower forbearance or facility has been restructured owing to credit related
reasons, or the facility is placed on the Group’s list of accounts requiring close monitoring. Further, any facility
having an internal credit risk rating of 8 are also subject to stage 2 ECL calculation.

The Group records impairment for FVOCI debt securities, depending on whether they are classified as Stage 1, 2,
or 3, as explained above. However, ECL does not reduce the carrying amount of these financial assets in the
consolidated statement of financial position, which remains at fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the allowance
that would arise if the asset were measured at amortised cost is recognised in OCI as an accumulated impairment
amount, with a corresponding charge to profit or loss.
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4.18 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Stage 2 (continued)

Stage 3

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Purchased or originated credit impaired (‘POCI’)

In making an assessment of whether an investment in sovereign debt is credit-impaired, the Group considers the
following factors.

The market's assessment of creditworthiness as reflected in the bond yields.

The probability of debt being restructured, resulting in holders suffering losses through voluntary or
mandatory debt forgiveness.

For revolving facilities such as credit cards and overdrafts, the Group measures ECLs by determining the period
over which it expects to be exposed to credit risk, taking into account the credit risk management actions that it
expects to take once the credit risk has increased and that serve to mitigate losses.

significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data among others:

The international support mechanisms in place to provide the necessary support as 'lender of last resort' to
that country, as well as the intention, reflected in public statements, of governments and agencies to use
those mechanisms. This includes an assessment of the depth of those mechanisms and, irrespective of the
political intent, whether there is the capacity to fulfil the required criteria.

the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider
otherwise;

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or

the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

Financial assets are included in Stage 3 when there is objective evidence that the loan is credit impaired. At each
reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt financial assets
carried at FVOCI are credit-impaired. A financial asset is 'credit-impaired' when one or more events that have
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

The rating agencies' assessments of creditworthiness.

The country's ability to access the capital markets for new debt issuance.

Other than originated credit-impaired loans, loans are transferred out of Stage 3 if they no longer meet the criteria
of credit-impaired after a cooling-off period of 12 months.

For POCI financial assets, the Group only recognises the lifetime ECL and any cumulative changes since initial
recognition are recorded in the ECL allowance. There are no migration from POCI to other Stages. 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________
29

 61



Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2023

4

4.18 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Forward looking information

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position

-

-

-

Limitation of estimation techniques

Experienced credit adjustment

4.19 Impairment of non-financial assets

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
from continuing use that is largely independent of the cash inflows of others assets or cash generating units (CGU).
Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use an fair value less costs to sell. Value in
use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. 

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The models applied by the Group may not always capture all characteristics of the market at a point in time as they
cannot be recalibrated at the same pace as changes in market conditions. Interim adjustments are expected to be
made until the base models are validated. Although the Group uses data that is as current as possible, models used
to calculate ECLs are based on data that is up to date except for certain macro-economic factors for which the data
is updated once it is available.

Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:

debt instruments measured at FVOCI: The ECL for debt instruments measured at FVOCI do not reduce
the carrying amount of these financial assets in the consolidated statement of financial position, which
remains at fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the allowance that would arise if the assets were
measured at amortised cost is recognised in OCI as an accumulated impairment amount, with a
corresponding charge to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The accumulated loss recognised in
OCI is recycled to the consolidated statement of profit and loss upon derecognition of the assets.

loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: as a provision under other liabilities; and

financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assets;

The Group’s ECL allowance methodology requires the Group to use its experienced credit judgement to
incorporate the estimated impact of factors not captured in the modelled ECL results, in all reporting periods. Refer
note 25.4.1 for additional details.

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other than deferred tax
assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. 

The Group considers forward-looking information such as macroeconomic factors (e.g., GDP growth, oil prices,
country's equity indices and unemployment rates) and economic forecasts. To evaluate a range of possible
outcomes, the Group formulates three scenarios: a base case, an upward and a downward scenario. The base case
scenario represents the more likely outcome from Moody’s macro-economic models. For each scenario, the Group
derives an ECL and apply a probability weighted approach to determine the impairment allowance.

The Group also uses published external information from International Monetary Fund (IMF).

The Group incorporates forward-looking information in the measurement of ECLs.

_____________________________________________________________________________________________
30

62 



Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2023

4

4.19 Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

4.20 Provisions

4.21  Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments

4.22 Derivatives and hedging activities

-

-

-

An impairment loss is recogised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of others assets in the CGU on pro-rata basis.
An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed. For, other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics:

The Group enters into derivative transactions with various counterparties. These include interest rate swaps,
futures, credit default swaps, cross-currency swaps, forward foreign exchange contracts and options on interest
rates, foreign currencies and equities. Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which the
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. All derivatives are carried as
assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative.

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The expense relating to any
provision is presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

An ECL is calculated and recorded for these in a similar manner as for debt type financial instruments as explained
in note 4.18.

The Group issues financial guarantees, letters of credit and loan commitments.

Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the consolidated financial statements at fair value, being the
premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group’s liability under each guarantee is measured at the
higher of the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, and an ECL provision.

The premium received is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in 'Other operating income' on a
straight line basis over the life of the guarantee.

Undrawn loan commitments and letters of credits are commitments under which, over the duration of the
commitment, the Group is required to provide a loan with pre-specified terms to the customer. 

Its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price,
commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other
variable, provided that, in the case of a non-financial variable, it is not specific to a party to the contract
(i.e., the 'underlying').
It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for
other types of contracts expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors.
It is settled at a future date.

The nominal contractual value of financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments, where the
loan agreed to be provided is on market terms, are not recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group has adopted IFRS 9 on its effective date of 1 January 2018 and applies the same for hedge accounting. 

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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4.22 Derivatives and hedging activities (continued)

(a)
(b)

(c) 

(a) Fair value hedge

(b) Cash flow hedge

(c) Net investment hedge

4.23 Fair value measurement

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss
on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognised directly in other
comprehensive income; the gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Gains and losses accumulated in equity are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss when the foreign operation is disposed of as part of the gain or loss on the disposal.

The Group documents, at the inception of the hedge, the relationship between hedged items and hedging
instruments, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The
Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives
that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of
hedged items.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

All derivatives are measured at FVTPL except for when the derivative is designated and qualifies as a hedging
instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged determines the method of recognising the resulting gain
or loss. The Group designates certain derivatives as either:

The Group measures financial instruments at fair value at each reporting date. 

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, together with changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that
are attributable to the hedged risk.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged
item for which the effective interest rate method is used is amortised to profit or loss over the period to maturity
and recorded as net interest income.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges
is recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the periods when the
hedged item affects profit or loss. They are recorded in the income or expense lines in which the revenue or
expense associated with the related hedged item is reported.

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net investment hedges).

Hedges of highly probable future cash flows attributable to a recognised asset or liability (cash flow
hedges); or

Hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or firm commitments (fair value hedges);

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting,
any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised in the periods when
the hedged item affects profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur (for example, the
recognised hedged asset is disposed of), the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is immediately reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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4.23 Fair value measurement (continued)

●
●

●
●
●

4.24 Taxation on foreign operations

-

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Level 3 valuation: Derived proxies (interpolation of proxies) for similar instruments that have not been
observed.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.

When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

Current tax

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. Deferred tax liabilities
are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interests.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data is
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

There is no tax on corporate income of the Bank in the Kingdom of Bahrain. Taxation on foreign operations is
provided for in accordance with the fiscal regulations applicable in each location. No provision is made for any
liability that may arise in the event of distribution of the reserves of subsidiaries. A substantial portion of such
reserves is required to be retained to meet local regulatory requirements.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement as a whole:

In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

Level 2 valuation: Directly observable proxies for the same instrument accessible at valuation date.

In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

Level 1 valuation: Directly observable quotes for the same instrument.

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions
where appropriate.
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4.24 Taxation on foreign operations (continued)

-

-

-

4.25 Foreign currencies

Transactions and balances

Deferred tax (continued)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

In assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets, the Group relies on forecasts used for its budgeting purposes
and in other management reports.

In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint arrangements, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.
In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint arrangements, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits
and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the spot rate of exchange ruling at the date of the
transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into functional currency at the rates of exchange
ruling at the reporting date.  Any gains or losses are taken to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside
profit or loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or
directly in equity.

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate recognition at
that date, are recognised subsequently if new information about facts and circumstances change. The adjustment is
either treated as a reduction in goodwill (as long as it does not exceed goodwill) if it was incurred during the
measurement period or recognised in profit or loss.

The Group offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.
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4.25 Foreign currencies (continued)

Transactions and balances (continued)

Group companies

4.26 Trade and settlement date accounting

4.27 Fiduciary assets

4.28 Offsetting

4.29 Borrowings

4.30 Write-off

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowings are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. After initial measurement, the borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Amortised cost is calculated by
taking into account any discount or premium on the issue and costs that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate.

Issued financial instruments (or their components) are classified as liabilities under 'Borrowings', where the
substance of the contractual arrangement results in the Group having an obligation either to deliver cash or another
financial asset to the holder.  

Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and the Group intends
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. This is not generally the case
with master netting agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

All “regular way” purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, i.e. the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset, except for loans and advances to customers, deposits to customers and
banks.

Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no realistic prospect of recovery.
However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with
the Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due. If the amount to be written off is greater than the accumulated
loss allowance, the difference is first treated as an addition to the allowance that is then applied against the gross
carrying amount. Any subsequent recoveries are credited to consolidated statement of profit and loss.

Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and, accordingly, are not
included in the consolidated statement of financial position.

As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into the Bank's functional
currency at rates of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Income and expense items are translated at average
exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising on translation are recorded in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income under unrealised gain or loss on exchange translation in foreign subsidiaries. On disposal
of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. The gain or loss
arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on the change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in OCI or profit or loss are also recognised in OCI or profit or loss, respectively).
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4.31 Collateral valuation

4.32 Business combination and goodwill

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

To the extent possible, the Group uses active market data for valuing financial assets held as collateral. Other
financial assets which do not have readily determinable market values are valued using internal valuation
techniques as appropriate. Non-financial collateral, such as real estate, is valued based on data provided by third
parties such as mortgage brokers, or based on housing price indices.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any previous interest held over the net identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed). If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate
consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all
of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the
acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the
aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss. After initial recognition, goodwill
is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. Where goodwill has
been allocated to a cash-generating unit (CGU) and part of the business within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the disposed business operation is included in the carrying amount of the business operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is measured at acquisition date fair value, and the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in relevant line items in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. 

To mitigate its credit risks on financial assets, the Group seeks to use collateral, where possible. The collateral
comes in various forms, such as cash, securities, letters of credit/financial guarantees, real estate, receivables,
inventories, other non-financial assets and credit enhancements such as netting agreements. Collateral, unless
repossessed, is not recorded on the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position. However, the fair value of
collateral affects the calculation of ECLs. It is generally assessed, at a minimum, at inception and re-assessed on a
periodic basis. However, some collateral, for example, cash or securities relating to margining requirements, is
valued daily.
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4.32 Business combination and goodwill (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

4.33 Material accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

Going concern

Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance (ECL)

-
-
-
-

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal calculation is based
on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s length, for similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs of disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is based on a DCF model. The
cash flows are derived from the budget for the next 5-7 years and do not include restructuring activities that the
Group is not yet committed to or significant future investments that will enhance the performance of the assets of
the CGU being tested. The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for the DCF model as well as
the expected future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. These estimates are most
relevant to goodwill recognised by the Group. 

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The measurement of the ECL for financial assets subject to credit risk measured at amortised cost and FVOCI is an
area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about future economic conditions, credit
behaviour (e.g. the likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting losses), estimation of the amount and timing 
of the future cash flows and collateral values. These estimates are driven by several factors, changes in which can
result in different levels of allowances.

The Group's ECL calculation are outputs of complex models with several underlying assumptions regarding the
choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. A number of significant judgements are also required in
applying the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as:

Internal credit rating model, which assigns probability of defaults (PDs) to the individual ratings;
Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk (SICR);
Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL;
Determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and, economic inputs, such as GDP, oil
prices, equity indices, unemployment levels and collateral values, and the effect on PD, exposure at
default (EAD) and loss given default (LGD);

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
accompanying disclosures, as well as the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or
liabilities affected in future periods. In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has
made the following judgements and assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future
developments may change due to circumstances beyond the Group’s control and are reflected in the assumptions if
and when they occur. Items with the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements with substantial management judgement and/or estimates are collated below with respect to
judgements/estimates involved.

The Bank's management has made an assessment of the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and is
satisfied that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the
management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements continue to be prepared on the going
concern basis.
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4

4.33 Material accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance (ECL) (continued)

-

-
-

Classification of financial assets

Fair value of financial instruments

4.34 Corresponding figures 

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Certain of the prior year's figures have been re-classified to conform to the presentation adopted in the current year.
Such reclassifications do not affect previously reported net profit and total comprehensive income for the year or
shareholder's equity.

The Group applies judgement while carrying out SPPI test and considers relevant factors such as the currency in
which the financial asset is denominated, and the period for which the interest rate is set.

Selection and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios to derive the economic inputs into the
ECL models;

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that
include the use of valuation models. The inputs to these models are derived from observable market data where
possible, but if this is not available, judgement is required to establish fair values. Refer to note 23 for further
disclosures.

Determining relevant period of exposure with respect to the revolving credit facilities and facilities
undergoing restructuring at the time of the reporting date.

Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL; and

Classification of financial assets in the appropriate category depends upon the business model and SPPI test.
Determining the appropriate business model and assessing whether the cash flows generated by the financial asset
meet the SPPI test is complex and requires significant judgements by management.
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5 CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Amortised
At 31 December 2023 FVTPL FVOCI cost Total

ASSETS
Liquid funds                 -                    -              4,466            4,466 
Trading securities            1,070                  -                    -              1,070 
Placements with banks and other 

financial institutions                 -                    -              2,231            2,231 
Securities bought under repurchase agreements                 -                    -              2,191            2,191 
Non-trading investments                 -              5,405            5,963          11,368 
Loans and advances                 39               754          18,303          19,096 
Other assets               952                  -              1,681            2,633 

           2,061            6,159          34,835          43,055 

Amortised
FVTPL FVOCI cost Total

LIABILITIES
Deposits from customers                 -                    -   23,705                 23,705 
Deposits from banks                 -                    -   4,135                     4,135 
Certificates of deposit                 -                    -   142                           142 
Securities sold under repurchase agreements                 -                    -   6,933                     6,933 
Other liabilities               779                  -   1,851                     2,630 
Borrowings                 -                    -   1,303                     1,303 

              779                  -            38,069          38,848 

Amortised
At 31 December 2022 FVTPL FVOCI cost Total

ASSETS
Liquid funds                 -                    -              2,886 2,886          
Trading securities 590                              -                    -   590             
Placements with banks and other 

financial institutions                 -                    -   2,226          2,226          
Securities bought under repurchase agreements                 -                    -   1,386          1,386          
Non-trading investments                 -   6,683          1,397          8,080          
Loans and advances                 95 631             17,464        18,190        
Other assets 968                              -   1,570          2,538          

1,653          7,314          26,929        35,896        

Amortised
FVTPL FVOCI cost Total

LIABILITIES
Deposits from customers                 -                    -   21,396        21,396        
Deposits from banks                 -                    -   3,764          3,764          
Certificates of deposit                 -                    -   435             435             
Securities sold under repurchase agreements                 -                    -   2,878          2,878          
Other liabilities               809                  -   1,356          2,165          
Borrowings                 -                    -   1,297          1,297          

809                              -   31,126        31,935        

As at 31 December, financial instruments have been classified as follows:

All figures in US$ Million
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6 LIQUID FUNDS
2023 2022

Cash on hand 13             80             
Balances with banks 562           516           
Deposits with central banks 3,630        2,062        
Treasury bills and other eligible bills with 

original maturities of three months or less             261             190 

         4,466 2,848        

Treasury bills and other eligible bills with 
original maturities of more than three months               -   38             

         4,466 2,886        
ECL allowances               -                 -   

         4,466 2,886        

7 TRADING SECURITIES
2023 2022

Debt instruments          1,060 576           
Equity instruments               10 14             

         1,070 590           

8 NON-TRADING INVESTMENTS

2023 2022

At amortised cost 5,977        1,397        
At FVOCI 5,458        6,755        

11,435      8,152        
ECL allowances (88)            (87)            

11,347               8,065 

At FVOCI 21             15             

11,368      8,080        

2023 2022

5,466        1,400        
1,646        2,011        
1,130        1,365        
2,818        3,116        

375           260           

11,435      8,152        
(88)            (87)            

11,347      8,065        

Unrated debt securities

The external ratings distribution of non-trading debt investments are given below:

AAA rated debt securities
AA to A rated debt securities

ECL allowances

Other non-investment grade debt securities
Other investment grade debt securities

Equity securities

Debt securities

Debt securities - net

All figures in US$ Million

Cash and cash equivalents
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All figures in US$ Million

8 NON-TRADING INVESTMENTS (continued)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Debt securities, gross 11,361                      - 74             11,435      
ECL allowances             (14)                 - (74)            (88)            

11,347                      -                 - 11,347      

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Debt securities, gross 8,078                        - 74             8,152        
ECL allowances             (13)                 -             (74) (87)            

8,065                        - -                8,065        

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

As at 1 January 13             -                74             87             

Additions 1               -                -                1               
Recoveries / write back -                -                -                -                

Charge for the year - net 4               -                -                4               
Amounts written-off -                -                -                -                
Exchange adjustments and other movements (3)              -                -                (3)              

As at 31 December 14             -                74             88             

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

As at 1 January 19             -                86             105           

Additions -                -                -                -                
Recoveries / write back (5)              -                (2)              (7)              

Charge for the year - net (5)              -                (2)              (7)              
Amounts written-off -                -                (10)            (10)            
Exchange adjustments and other movements (1)              -                -                (1)              -            -            -            
As at 31 December 13             -                74             87             

No interest income was received during the year on impaired investments classified under Stage 3 (2022: nil). 

2022

An analysis of movement in the ECL allowances during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December
2022 are as follows:

Following are the stage wise break-up of debt securities as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022:

2023

2023

2022
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9 LOANS AND ADVANCES 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
At FVTPL

- Wholesale 39             -                -                39             
At FVOCI

- Wholesale 754           -                -                754           
At Amortised cost

- Wholesale 16,574      755           655           17,984      
- Retail 852           60             55             967           

18,219      815           710           19,744      
ECL allowances (139)          (74)            (435)          (648)          

       18,080             741             275        19,096 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
At FVTPL

- Wholesale 95             -                -                95             
At FVOCI

- Wholesale 631           -                -                631           
At Amortised cost

- Wholesale 15,902      701           611           17,214      
- Retail 838           41             44             923           

17,466      742           655           18,863      
ECL allowances (139)          (71)            (463)          (673)          

17,327      671           192           18,190      

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Financial services 4,057        3,729        21             20             4,036        3,709        
Government 917           1,220        8               7               909           1,213        
Other services 1,748        1,549        257           285           1,491        1,264        
Manufacturing 2,876        2,751        123           99             2,753        2,652        
Agriculture, fishing and forestry 1,681        1,408        25             13             1,656        1,395        
Construction 2,095        1,863        61             74             2,034        1,789        
Utilities 772           627           6               5               766           622           
Energy 802           1,004        3               3               799           1,001        
Distribution 1,074        1,059        5               5               1,069        1,054        
Personal /consumer finance 1,500        1,496        51             44             1,449        1,452        
Transport 542           632           22             30             520           602           
Commercial real estate financing 492           331           21             10             471           321           
Technology, media and

telecommunications 440           447           3               22             437           425           
Trade 287           370           23             41             264           329           
Retailers 330           250           1                             -   329           250           
Mining and quarrying 128           90             18             15             110           75             
Residential mortgage 3               37                           -                 -   3               37             -            

       19,744 18,863                  648 673                  19,096 18,190      

Below is the classification of loans and advances by measurement:

Gross loans ECL allowances Net loans

Below is the classification of loans and advances by industrial sector:

2023

2022
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9 LOANS AND ADVANCES (continued)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

As at 1 January 139 71             463           673           

Transfers to stage 1 3               (3)              -                -                
Transfers to stage 2 (2)              2               -                -                
Transfers to stage 3 (1)              (15)            16             -                

Net transfers between stages -                (16)            16             -                

Net remeasurements / additions (14)            15             193           194           

Recoveries / write back -                -                (54)            (54)            

Charge for the year - net (14)            15             139           140           
Amounts written-off -                -                (205)          (205)          
Exchange adjustments and other movements 14             4               22             40             

As at 31 December 139           74             435           648           

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

As at 1 January 109           89             493           691           

Transfers to stage 1 7               (7)              -                -                
Transfers to stage 2 (2)              2               -                -                
Transfers to stage 3 -                (23)            23             -                

Net transfers between stages 5               (28)            23             -                

Net remeasurements / additions 27             10             121           158           

Recoveries / write back -                -                (39)            (39)            

Charge for the year - net 27             10             82             119           
Amounts written-off -                (2)              (153)          (155)          
Exchange adjustments and other movements (2)              2               18             18             

As at 31 December 139           71             463           673           

At 31 December 2023, interest in suspense on impaired loans under Stage 3 amounts to US$ 97 million (2022:
US$ 99 million).

2023

2022 

An analysis of movement in the ECL allowances during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December
2022 are as follows:

The fair value of collateral that the Group holds relating to loans and advances individually determined to be
impaired and classified under Stage 3 at 31 December 2023 amounts to US$ 111 million (2022: US$ 59 million).  
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10 CREDIT LOSS EXPENSE

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Non-trading debt investments (note 8) 4                 -                  -                  4                 
Loans and advances (note 9) (14)              15               139             140             
Credit commitments and contingent items (note 22) 2                 3                 (2)                3                 
Other financial assets (1)                (5)                4                 (2)                

                (9)                 13               141               145 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Non-trading debt investments (note 8) (5)                -                  (2)                (7)                
Loans and advances (note 9) 27               10               82               119             
Credit commitments and contingent items (note 22) 1                 -                  (1)                -              
Other financial assets -                  1                 6                 7                 

                23                 11                 85               119 

11 OTHER ASSETS
2023 2022

Interest receivable 581           460           
Goodwill (note 35) 41             51             
Right-of-use assets 57             52             
Trade receivables 341           340           
Positive fair value of derivatives (note 21) 952           968           
Assets acquired on debt settlement 37             40             
Deferred tax assets 282           220           
Bank owned life insurance 40             40             
Margin dealing accounts 247           133           
Staff loans 39             40             
Advances and prepayments 200           154           
Investments in associates 33             33             
IT projects work-in-progress 109           62             
Others 251           423           

         3,210          3,016 

2023 2022

As at 1 January               52               48 
Add: New/terminated leases - net               16               16 
Less: Amortisation             (12)             (10)
Others (including foreign exchange movements)                 1               (2)

As at 31 December               57               52 

The negative fair value of derivatives amounting to US$ 779 million (2022: US$ 809 million) is included in other
liabilities (note 13).  Details of derivatives are given in note 21.

Below are the carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and movements during the year:

2023

Right-of-use assets

Allowances for ECL against other financial assets included in "other assets" amounts to US$ 2 million (2022: US$
6 million).

2022
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12

2023 2022
Consolidated statement of financial position
Current tax liability               44 20             
Deferred tax liability             102 64             

            146               84 

Consolidated statement of profit or loss
Current tax on foreign operations               91 70             
Deferred tax on foreign operations             (17) 13             

              74               83 

Analysis of tax charge
At Bahrain (income tax rate of nil) -                              -   
On profits of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions               72 82             
Charge arising from tax treatment of hedging currency movements                 2 1               

              74               83 

13 OTHER LIABILITIES
2023 2022

Interest payable 1,074        693           
Lease liabilities 62             55             
Negative fair value of derivatives (note 21) 779           809           
Employee related payables 120           127           
Margin deposits including cash collateral 31             32             
Deferred income 21             18             
ECL allowances for credit commitments and contingent items (note 22) 32             44             
Accrued charges and other payables 605           486           

         2,724          2,264 

The positive fair value of derivatives amounting to US$ 952 million (2022: US$ 968 million) is included in other
assets (note 11).  Details of derivatives are given in note 21.

Income tax expense reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

Determining the Group's taxation charge for the year involves a degree of estimation and judgement.

The effective tax rates on the profit of subsidiaries in MENA was 36% (2022: 40%) and United Kingdom was 18%
(2022: 18%) as against the actual tax rates of 19% to 35% (2022: 19% to 35%) in MENA and 25% (2022: 25%) in
United Kingdom. 

In the Bank's Brazilian subsidiary, the effective tax rate on normalised earnings was 12% (2022: 13%) as against
the actual tax rate of 45% (2022: 45%), after taking into account the tax debit for the year of US$ 1 million arising
from the tax treatment of hedging currency movements (2022: tax debit of US$ 1 million) on a certain transaction.
Adjusted for deferred tax, the effective tax rate was 1% (2022: 20%). 

In view of the operations of the Group being subject to various tax jurisdictions and regulations, it is not practical
to provide a reconciliation between the accounting and taxable profits.

TAXATION ON FOREIGN OPERATIONS
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13 OTHER LIABILITIES (continued)

2023 2022

              55               50 
Add: New/terminated leases - net               16               16 

                3                 2 
            (14)             (11)

Others (including foreign exchange movements)                 1 (2)              

              61               55 

14

Total obligations outstanding at 31 December 2023

Currency Rate of interest Parent bank Subsidiaries Total
Aggregate maturities %

2024 EUR EURIBOR +1.15%                 -   55               55               
2025* US$ SOFR +1.35% 175             175             
2027* US$ SOFR +2%               470                 -   470             
2028* US$ SOFR +2%               470                 -   470             

US$ 2.67%                 -   30               30               
TND 9.7-11.50%                 -   5                 5                 

Perpetual** BRL Selic *1.2                 -   98               98               

              940               363            1,303 

Total obligations outstanding at 31 December 2022

Currency Rate of interest Parent bank Subsidiaries Total
Aggregate maturities %

2023* US$ SOFR +1.35%                 -                 175 175             
2024 EUR EURIBOR +1.15%                 -                   53 53               
2027* US$ SOFR +2%               470                 -   470             
2028* US$ SOFR +2%               470                 -   470             

US$ 2.67%                 -                   30 30               
TND 8.2-11.50%                 -   7                 7                 

Perpetual* BRL Selic *1.2                 -   92               92               

              940               357            1,297 

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank and certain subsidiaries raise term financing through various capital
markets at commercial rates.

2024-2027

2023-2027

**Perpetual

*These borrowings are from ultimate parent as disclosed in note 28.

2024-2029

2024-2029

Add: Interest expense
Less: Repayments

All figures in US$ Million

As at 1 January

Lease liabilities
Below are the carrying amounts of the Group's lease liabilities and movements :

As at 31 December

This instrument issued by a subsidiary qualifies as Additional Tier 1 ("AT1") capital for the purpose of capital
adequacy calculation as disclosed in note 33. 

BORROWINGS
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15 EQUITY

a) Share capital
2023 2022

4,500        4,500        

3,110        3,110        

b) Treasury shares

c) Statutory reserve

d)     General reserve

e)
2023 2022

At 1 January (22)            63             
Net movement in fair value during the year 35             (85)            

At 31 December 13             (22)            

16 ADDITIONAL / PERPETUAL TIER-1 CAPITAL

17 INTEREST AND SIMILAR INCOME
2023 2022

Loans and advances 1,773        1,290        
Securities and investments 696           495           
Placements with banks and other financial institutions 494           232           
Others 89             22             

         3,052 2,039        

Cumulative changes in fair value

        (2022: 3,110 million shares of US$ 1 each)

Authorised – 4,500 million shares of US$ 1 each 
        (2022: 4,500 million shares of US$ 1 each)

Issued, subscribed and fully paid – 3,110 million shares of  US$ 1 each

The Group issued Basel 3 compliant additional / perpetual Tier 1 Capital securities amounting to US$ 390 million
during the year. These securities are perpetual, subordinated and unsecured and carry an interest of 4.75% per
annum payable semi-annually. The holders of these securities do not have a right to claim the interest and such an
event of non-payment will not be considered an event of default. Further, the corresponding interest paid to
investors is accounted for as an appropriation of profits.

As required by the Articles of Association of the Bank and the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law, 10% of the
profit for the year is transferred to the statutory reserve. Such annual transfers will cease when the reserve totals
50% of the paid up share capital. The reserve is not available for distribution except in such circumstances as
stipulated in the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law and following the approval of the Central Bank of Bahrain. 

The general reserve underlines the shareholders’ commitment to enhance the strong equity base of the Bank. There
are no restrictions on the distribution of this reserve.

The Group owns 15,515,000 treasury shares (2022: 15,515,000 shares) for a cash consideration of US$ 6 million
(2022: US$ 6 million).
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18 INTEREST AND SIMILAR EXPENSE
2023 2022

Deposits from banks 596         239           
Deposits from customers 1,399      932           
Borrowings 99           50             
Certificates of deposit and others 23           32             

      2,117 1,253        

19 OTHER OPERATING INCOME
2023 2022

Fee and commission income - net* 190         184           
Bureau processing income 48           32             
Net gain from trading book (including foreign currencies transaction) 33           38             
Gain on disposal of non-trading debt investments - net 14           16             
Merchant acquiring income 14           12             
Others - net 43           32             

342         314           

Gain on hedging foreign currency movements** 2             1               

344         315           

20

20.1

Principal Country of
activities incorporation

` 2023 2022
% %

ABC International Bank Plc Banking United Kingdom         100.0            100.0 
ABC SA Banking France         100.0            100.0 

ABC Islamic Bank (E.C.) Banking Bahrain         100.0            100.0 
Arab Banking Corporation (ABC) - Jordan Banking Jordan           87.0              87.0 
Banco ABC Brasil S.A. Banking Brazil           63.6              63.7 
ABC Algeria Banking Algeria           88.9              88.9 
Arab Banking Corporation - Egypt [S.A.E.]* Banking Egypt           99.6              99.6 
ABC Tunisie Banking Tunisia         100.0            100.0 
Arab Financial Services Company B.S.C. (c) Credit card Bahrain           90.4              90.4 

and Fintech services

All figures in US$ Million

GROUP INFORMATION

Information about subsidiaries
The principal subsidiaries, all of which have 31 December as their year-end, are as follows:

**Gain (loss) on hedging foreign currency movements relate to a transaction which has an offsetting impact on the
tax expense for the year.

*Included in the fee and commission income is US$ 13 million (2022: US$ 12 million) of fee income relating to
funds under management.

* On 1 January 2023, the Group has completed legal merger of Arab Banking Corporation - Egypt [S.A.E.] with
Blom Bank - Egypt [S.A.E.]. The interest disclosed for Arab Banking Corporation - Egypt [S.A.E.] reflects the
interests of the Group in the combined entity including 99.6% holding in  Blom Bank - Egypt [S.A.E.].

Interest of Arab Banking 
Corporation (B.S.C.)
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20

20.2

20.3

2023 2022

Proportion of equity interest held by non-controlling interests (%) 36.4% 36.3%
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 27           23            

2023 2022

Interest and similar income 1,146      950          
Interest and similar expense (838)        (664)         
Other operating income 134         120          
Operating expenses (199)        (169)         
Credit loss expense (78)          (47)           

Profit before tax           165 190          
Taxation * (1)            (37)           

Profit for the year           164 153          

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests 60           56            

Total comprehensive income 240         207          

Total comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests             87 75            

Total assets 11,341    9,613       
Total liabilities 10,125    8,610       

Total equity        1,216 1,003       

Equity attributable to non-controlling interests 443         365          

Summarised cash flow information:
Operating activities 8             272          
Investing activities 81           (265)         
Financing activities (25)          (85)           

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents             64 (78)           

Summarised statement of financial position:

All figures in US$ Million

GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Summarised statement of profit or loss:

* This includes tax debit of US$ 2 million (2022: tax debit of US$ 1 million) relating to hedging of currency
movements as explained in note 12.

The summarised financial information of this subsidiary is provided below. 

Banco ABC Brasil S.A. 

Material partly-owned subsidiaries
Financial information of a subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is provided below:

Significant restrictions
The Group does not have significant restrictions on its ability to access or use its assets and settle its liabilities other
than those resulting from supervisory frameworks within which banking subsidiaries operate. The supervisory
frameworks require banking subsidiaries to keep certain levels of regulatory capital and liquid assets, limit their
exposure to other parts of the Group and comply with other ratios. In certain jurisdictions, distribution of reserves is
subject to prior supervisory approval.
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All figures in US$ Million

21 DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING

Positive 
fair value

Negative 
fair value

Notional 
amount

Positive 
fair value

Negative 
fair value

Notional 
amount

Derivatives held for trading
Interest rate swaps 210          219         9,216                 314           287         8,369 
Currency swaps 32            25           980                        5               3            248 
Forward foreign exchange contracts 77            85           9,370                   63             33         8,415 
Options* 517          415         12,991               460           420       11,011 
Futures 17            22           5,386                   23             62         2,985 

          853           766      37,943            865           805       31,028 

Derivatives held as hedges
Interest rate swaps             81 13                  2,308            103               2         3,248 
Currency swaps             17              -             133               -                -              118 
Forward foreign exchange contracts               1              -             169               -                 2              86 

            99             13        2,610            103               4         3,452 

          952           779      40,553            968           809       34,480 

Risk weighted equivalents 
1,328              1,232 (credit and market risk)

2022

In the ordinary course of business the Group enters into various types of transactions that involve derivative financial
instruments.  

The table below shows the positive and negative fair values of derivative financial instruments. The notional amount is
that of a derivative’s underlying asset, reference rate or index and is the basis upon which changes in the value of
derivatives are measured. The notional amounts indicate the volume of transactions outstanding at year end and are
not indicative of either market or credit risk. 

Most of the Group’s derivative trading activities relate to sales, positioning and arbitrage. Sales activities involve
offering products to customers. Positioning involves managing market risk positions with the expectation of profiting
from favourable movements in prices, rates or indices. Arbitrage involves identifying and profiting from price
differentials between markets or products. Also included under this heading are any derivatives which do not meet
IFRS 9 hedging requirements.

2023

Derivatives held or issued for trading purposes

* This includes options for which the Group has a back-to-back cover available.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, net impact from ineffectiveness from hedges is US$ nil (2022: US$ nil)
comprising net loss of US$ 30 million (2022: net loss of US$ 173 million) on hedging instruments offsetting the total
gain on hedged items attributable to the hedged risk amounted to US$ 30 million (2022: gain of US$ 173 million).

Derivatives are carried at fair value using valuation techniques based on observable market inputs.

Derivatives held as hedges include fair value hedges which are predominantly used to hedge fair value changes arising
from interest rate fluctuations in debt instruments at FVOCI and/or amortised cost.

The Group uses deposits which are accounted for as hedges of net investment in foreign operations. As at 31
December 2023, the Group had deposits amounting to US$ 718 million (2022: US$ 636 million) which were
designated as net investment hedges.

________________________________________________________________________________________________
50

82 



Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2023

All figures in US$ Million

21 DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING (continued)

Interest rate risk on fixed rate debt type instruments (fair value hedge)

(i)

(ii)
(iii) counterparty credit risk which impacts the fair value of uncollateralised interest rate swaps but not the hedged

items.

Derivative related credit risk

As part of its asset and liability management the Group uses derivatives for hedging purposes in order to reduce its
exposure to currency and interest rate risks. This is achieved by hedging specific financial instruments, forecasted
transactions as well as strategic hedging against overall statement of financial position exposures. For interest rate risk
this is carried out by monitoring the duration of assets and liabilities using simulations to estimate the level of interest
rate risk and entering into interest rate swaps and futures to hedge a proportion of the interest rate exposure, where
appropriate. Since strategic hedging does not qualify for special hedge accounting related derivatives are accounted for
as trading instruments. 

The Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts, currency options, currency swaps to hedge against specifically
identified currency risks. In addition, the Group uses interest rate swaps and interest rate futures to hedge against the
interest rate risk arising from specifically identified loans and securities bearing fixed interest rates. In all such cases
the hedging relationship and objective, including details of the hedged item and hedging instrument, are formally
documented and the transactions are accounted for as hedges.

The Group has adopted a comprehensive system for the measurement and management of risk. Part of the risk
management process involves managing the Group’s exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates (currency risk)
and interest rates through asset and liability management activities. It is the Group’s policy to reduce its exposure to
currency and interest rate risks to acceptable levels as determined by the Board of Directors. The Board has
established levels of currency risk by setting limits on currency position exposures. Positions are monitored on an
ongoing basis and hedging strategies used to ensure positions are maintained within established limits. The Board has
established levels of interest rate risk by setting limits on the interest rate gaps for stipulated periods. Interest rate gaps
are reviewed on an ongoing basis and hedging strategies used to reduce the interest rate gaps to within the limits
established by the Board of Directors.

Only the interest rate risk element is hedged and therefore other risks, such as credit risk, are managed but not hedged
by the Group. The interest rate risk component is determined as the change in fair value of the long-term variable /
fixed rate loans and securities arising solely from changes in the benchmark rate of interest. Such changes are usually
the largest component of the overall change in fair value. The Group primarily designates the benchmark rate as the
hedged risk and, accordingly, enters into interest rate swaps whereby the fixed legs represent the economic risks of the
hedged items. This strategy is designated as a fair value hedge and its effectiveness is assessed by critical terms
matching and measured by comparing changes in the fair value of the loans / secuities attributable to changes in the
benchmark rate of interest with changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps.

The Group establishes the hedging ratio by matching the notional of the derivatives with the principal of the portfolio
being hedged. Possible sources of ineffectiveness are as follows:

Credit risk in respect of derivative financial instruments arises from the potential for a counterparty to default on its
contractual obligations and is limited to the positive fair value of instruments that are favourable to the Group. The
majority of the Group’s derivative contracts are entered into with other financial institutions and there is no significant
concentration of credit risk in respect of contracts with positive fair value with any individual counterparty at the date
of the consolidated statement of financial position.

differences between the expected and actual volume of prepayments, as the Group hedges to the expected
repayment date taking into account expected prepayments based on past experience;
hedging derivatives with a non-zero fair value at the date of initial designation as a hedging instrument; and

Derivatives held or issued for hedging purposes

The Group applies hedge accounting in two separate hedging strategies, as follows:

The Group holds a portfolio of long-term variable and fixed rate loans / securities / deposits and therefore is exposed
to changes in fair value due to movements in market interest rates. The Group manages this interest rate risk exposure
by entering into pay fixed / receive floating interest rate swaps.

________________________________________________________________________________________________
51  83



Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2023

All figures in US$ Million

21 DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING (continued)

Net investment in foreign operation (net investment hedge)

Within 1
month

1 - 3
months

3 - 6
months

6 - 12 
months

 1 - 5 
years

5-10 
years

Over 10 
years Total

Notional
2023        5,815          5,806             1,994             9,261           14,462              3,110                105           40,553 
2022        5,881          5,129             2,579             6,791             8,775              5,025                300           34,480 

Hedge ineffectiveness 

22

2023 2022

Short-term self-liquidating trade and transaction-related contingent items 4,536      2,892       
Direct credit substitutes and guarantees 3,102      2,970       
Undrawn loans and other commitments 2,738      2,119       

     10,376 7,981       

Credit exposure after applying credit conversion factor        4,332 3,339       

Risk weighted equivalents 3,696      2,657       

The following table sets out the maturity profile of the trading and hedging instruments used in the Group’s trading and
non-dynamic hedging strategies:

At the reporting date, the principal outstanding and the risk weighted equivalents were as follows:

Credit commitments and contingent items include commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit, acceptances
and guarantees, which are structured to meet the various requirements of customers.

Hedge ineffectiveness only arises to the extent the hedging instruments exceed in nominal terms the risk exposure from
the foreign operations. 

The ineffectiveness during 2023 or 2022 in relation to the interest rate swaps is however not significant to the Group.

CREDIT COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT ITEMS

The Group has an investment in a foreign operation which is consolidated in its financial statements. The foreign
exchange rate exposure arising from this investment is hedged through the use of deposits. These deposits are
designated as net investment hedges to hedge the equity of the subsidiaries. The Group establishes the hedging ratio by
matching the deposits with the net assets of the foreign operation.

Hedge effectiveness is determined at the inception of the hedge relationship, and through periodic prospective
effectiveness assessments to ensure that an economic relationship exists between the hedged item and hedging
instrument. For hedges of exposures to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, the Group enters into hedge
relationships where the critical terms of the hedging instrument match exactly with the terms of the hedged item. The
Group therefore performs a qualitative assessment of effectiveness. If changes in circumstances affect the terms of the
hedged item such that the critical terms no longer match exactly with the critical terms of the hedging instrument, the
Group uses quantitative hedge effectiveness testing using the dollar offset method to assess effectiveness.

In hedges of foreign currency exposures, ineffectiveness may arise if the timing of the cash flows changes from what
was originally estimated, or if there are changes in the credit risk of the Bank or the derivative counterparty.
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22

2023 2022

1,861      1,360       
2,881      2,450       
2,413      1,894       
3,201      2,248       

20           29            

     10,376 7,981       

Exposure (after applying credit conversion factor) and ECL by stage

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Credit commitments and contingencies 4,212      100           20                   4,332 

ECL allowances 8             13             11                        32 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Credit commitments and contingencies 3,229      71             39           3,339       

ECL allowances               7                9             28 44            

An analysis of changes in the ECL allowances are as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

As at 1 January 7             9               28           44            

Net transfers between stages -              -               -                           -   

Additions 2             3               1                            6 
Recoveries / write back              -                 -               (3)              (3)
Charge for the year - net 2             3               (2)                           3 
Amounts written-off -              -               (2)                         (2)
Exchange adjustments and other movements (1)            1                         (13)            (13)

As at 31 December               8              13             11              32 

2023

Over 5 years
1 - 5 years
6 - 12 months

On demand

CREDIT COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT ITEMS (continued)

1 - 6 months

The table below shows the contractual expiry by maturity of the Group's credit commitments and contingent items:

2022

2023
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22

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

As at 1 January 12           9               41           62            

Transfers to stage 1              -                 -                -                -   
Transfers to stage 2             (3)                3              -                -   
Transfers to stage 3              -                 (1)               1              -   

Net transfers between stages (3)            2               1                          -   

Additions 1             -               3                            4 
Recoveries / write back              -                 -               (4)              (4)

Charge for the year - net 1             -               (1)                         -   
Exchange adjustments and other movements (3)            (2)                       (13)            (18)

As at 31 December               7                9             28              44 

23 SIGNIFICANT NET FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURES

Currency
US$ 

equivalent Currency
US$ 

equivalent

       5,255         1,083        3,366            637 
            (2)               (3)             (5)              (6)
       9,826            318        8,886            359 
            99            140             87            123 
     23,693            176      22,828            166 
          104              34             83              27 
            22              25             83              89 

Bahraini Dinar             15              39             14              37 
Omani Riyal               2                4               2                5 

2022

CREDIT COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT ITEMS (continued)

Euro

Algerian Dinar

Long (short)

Brazilian Real 

Egyptian Pound
Jordanian Dinar

Tunisian Dinar

2023

Pound Sterling

2022

The Group expects that not all of the contingent liabilities or commitments will be drawn before expiry of the
commitments.

The Group is engaged in litigation in various jurisdictions. The litigation involves claims by and against the Group
which have arisen in the ordinary course of business. The Directors of the Bank, after reviewing the claims pending
against Group companies and based on the advice of relevant professional legal advisors, are satisfied that the outcome
of these claims will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the Group. 

Significant net foreign currency exposures, arising mainly from investments in subsidiaries, are as follows:

________________________________________________________________________________________________
54

86 



Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2023

24 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

24.1 31 December 2023

Financial assets measured at fair value:
Level 1 Level 2 Total

Trading securities           1,070                -             1,070 
Non-trading investments           4,702              777           5,479 
Loans and advances                -                793              793 
Derivatives held for trading              458              395              853 
Derivatives held as hedges                -                  99                99 

Financial liabilities measured at fair value:
Level 1 Level 2 Total

Derivatives held for trading 361            405                         766 
Derivatives held as hedges                -   13                             13 

Fair values of financial instruments not carried at fair value

Carrying 
value Fair value

Financial assets
Non-trading investments at amortised cost - gross (level 1 and level 2)           5,978 5,982         

Financial liabilities
Borrowings - perpetual (level 1) 98              104            

24.2 31 December 2022

Financial assets measured at fair value:
Level 1 Level 2 Total

Trading securities 590                           -   590            
Non-trading investments 5,859         911            6,770         
Loans and advances                -   726            726            
Derivatives held for trading 324            541            865            
Derivatives held as hedges                -   103            103            

All figures in US$ Million

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities.

Quantitative disclosure of fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at 31 December 2023:

Quantitative disclosure of fair value measurement hierarchy for liabilities as at 31 December 2023:

Except for the following, the fair value of financial instruments which are not carried at fair value are not materially
different from their carrying value.

Quantitative disclosure of fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at 31 December 2022:
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24 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

24.2 31 December 2022 (continued)

Financial liabilities measured at fair value:
Level 1 Level 2 Total

Derivatives held for trading 323            482            805            
Derivatives held as hedges                -   4                4                

Fair values of financial instruments not carried at fair value

Carrying 
value Fair value

Financial assets
Non-trading investments at amortised cost - gross (level 1 and level 2)           1,397 1,354         

Financial liabilities
Borrowings - perpetual (level 1)                92 97              

Financial instruments in level 1

Financial instruments in level 2

Transfers between level 1 and level 2

Quantitative disclosure of fair value measurement hierarchy for liabilities as at 31 December 2022:

Except for the following, the fair value of financial instruments which are not carried at fair value are not materially
different from their carrying value.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the reporting
date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by
the Group is the current bid price. These instruments are included in Level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter
derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of
observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all
significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

There were no transfers between level 1 and level 2 during the year ended 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022:
none).
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT

25.1 Introduction

25.2 Risk management structure

The Board Audit Committee is responsible to the Board for ensuring that the Group maintains an effective system of
financial, accounting and risk management controls and for monitoring compliance with the requirements of the
regulatory authorities in various countries in which the Group operates.

Within the broader governance framework, the Board Committees carry out the main responsibility for best practice of
risk management and oversight. The BRC oversees the establishment of the risk appetite framework, risk capacity and
risk appetite statement. BRC is supported by two management level committees – Group Risk Committee (GRC) and
Group Asset Liability Committee (GALCO). The Board Compliance Committee ("BCC") assists the Board in
discharging its governance and oversight responsibilities for the compliance risk management framework of the Bank
and of the Bank’s compliance with applicable laws and regulations on a group wide basis. The Board Compliance
Committee is supported by Group Compliance Oversight Committee (GCOC).

The primary objectives of the GRC are to define, develop and monitor the Group’s overarching risk management
framework taking into account the Group’s strategy and business plans. The GRC is assisted by specialised sub-
committees to manage Credit Risk (Group Credit Committee), Operational Risk (Group Operational Risk Committee),
Model Risk (Group Risk Governance and Analytics Committee) and Operational Resilience (Group Operational
Resilience Committee).

The above management structure, supported by teams of risk & credit analysts, and compliance officers, provide a
coherent infrastructure to carry out credit, risk, balance sheet management and compliance responsibilities in a
seamless manner.

Each subsidiary is responsible for managing its own risks and has its own Board Risk Committee and Management
Committees with responsibilities generally analogous to the Group Committees.

The GCOC has the oversight responsibilities relating to maintaining and enforcing a strong and sustainable compliance
culture, regulatory compliance, AML and mitigating financial crime. It is also responsible for establishing the
operating framework and the processes to support a permanent and an effective compliance function. Reputational
risk is managed by the Reputational Risk Committee which is a sub-committee of the GCOC.

Executive Management is responsible for implementing the Group's Risk Appetite and Policy Guidelines set by the
Board Risk Committee (BRC), including the identification and evaluation on a continuous basis of all material risks to
the business and the design and implementation of appropriate internal controls to mitigate them. This is done through
the Board Committees, Senior Management Committees, the Credit & Risk Group, Compliance and Balance Sheet
Management Group functions at the Head Office.

All figures in US$ Million

The GALCO assists the BRC in overseeing the implementation of the Group’s Asset / Liability Management
Framework which includes capital, liquidity & funding and market risk in line with the risk appetite framework.
GALCO monitors the Group’s capital, liquidity, funding and market risks, stress testing and the Group’s risk profile in
the context of economic outlook and market developments. GALCO is assisted by technical sub-committees for
Capital & Liquidity Management.

Risk is inherent in the Group's activities and is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and
monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. The Group is exposed to financial and non-financial risks
including credit risk, liquidity risk, operational risk, market risk, legal risk, strategic risk as well as other forms of risk
inherent in its financial operations, all of which are captured and detailed in the Group’s Risk Taxonomy.

The Group continues to invest to strengthen its comprehensive and robust risk management infrastructure. This
includes risk identification processes under credit, market and operational risk spectrums, risk measurement models
and rating systems as well as a strong business process to monitor and control these risks.
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

25.3 Risk mitigation techniques

25.3.1 Risk mitigation

25.3.2 Excessive credit risk concentration

25.4 Credit risk

-
-
-
-
-
- Review and recommend the Credit Policies to the BRC for approval.  

Credit risk is managed by the Group Credit Committee (“GCC”), which is the main credit risk decision-making forum
of the Group. GCC has the following roles and responsibilities:

Review and decision credit proposals in line with its delegated authorities.

Group Treasury and Financial Markets (GTFM) regularly enters hedge transactions to manage market risks within its
portfolios that are within its delegated authority, and each hedging strategy is approved by appropriate level of
committee within the Group. Also, if a hedge becomes ineffective, the Group may decide to undertake the risk (and
profit or loss volatility) rather than enter into a new hedge relationship. 

The Group uses collaterals to reduce its credit risk .

To avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Group policies and standards include specific guidelines for country,
industry and single obligor limits aimed at maintaining a diversified portfolio. Where a concentration of risk is
identified, action is taken to reduce or mitigate the concentration as appropriate.

Credit risk occurs when an obligor fail to discharge its contractual obligation with the Group causing the Group to
incur a financial loss. The Group controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it is willing to accept for an
individual obligor or group of connected obligors as per the Bank’s risk appetite, credit acceptance criteria and limit
framework described in more detail above under the heading Excessive credit risk concentration. The credit limit
assigned to an obligor is based on its risk rating, the collateral posted in support of the facility and the facility maturity.
Credit limits are approved at credit committees within a delegated authority framework.

As a part of its overall risk management, the Group uses derivatives and other instruments to manage exposures
resulting from changes in interest rates, foreign currencies, equity risks, credit risks, and exposures arising from
forecast transactions.

Concentration risk arises when the quantum of exposure to a single obligor or obligor group through ownership,
control or interconnectedness is judged to be excessive. Risk concentration can also occur across economic activity,
geographic areas or bank products. High levels of concentration in the event of a negative event e.g. changes in
economic, political or other conditions may cause the Group to suffer higher than expected losses.

Review and approve Internal Risk Ratings (IRR) and any overrides as applicable. 
Review and approve credit impairment provisions.
Credit portfolio reviews.
Review of credit resources and infrastructure.

As part of the Credit review process, the Bank assesses the facility structure, primary source of repayment and the need
for any credit risk mitigation. This includes collateral or any third-party guarantees that provide additional support for
inherent and identified credit risk. 

The Group uses collaterals to reduce its credit risk. The Bank manages and monitors collateral value on a regular basis
to ensure proper risk mitigation, supported by legal documentation that is enforceable and can protect the Bank’s
interest, particularly in a default scenario.
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

25.4 Credit risk (continued)

25.4.1 Credit risk assessment and mitigation

Exposure at default (EAD)

Internal Risk Rating (IRR) and the Probability of Default (PD) estimation process

Credit Risk Rating Scale

Satisfactory

Rating models and process is subject to periodic validation and recalibration in order to ensure that the PD accurately
reflects current market default experience.

The Group assigns an IRR to each obligor which maps to the Group’s assessment of PD for the obligor. The IRR scale
is aligned to that of the international rating agencies (see below). An obligor’s IRR is reviewed at least annually.

The Group's internal credit rating grades along with the respective TTC PDs are as below: 

The PDs obtained as above are then adjusted for IFRS 9 ECL calculations to incorporate forward looking information.
This is repeated for each economic scenario as appropriate.

Satisfactory

Internal 
rating grades

The Group’s rating method comprises 20 rating levels covering Stages 1 & 2 (1 to 8) and three default classes covering
Stage 3 (9 to 11). The master scale maps the internal risk rating (IRR) to a percentage point which indicates a
probability of default. The strongest credits are rated ‘1’ as the credit quality weakens so the IRR increases in value.
Obligors with an IRR of 4- or better are investment grade, whilst IRR of 5+ or weaker are non-investment grade.

Internal rating grade 
description

Superior

Watchlist

>= 1.52% to <5.02%
>= 5.02% to <17.32%Marginal
>= 17.32% to  <100%

The exposure at default (EAD) represents the gross carrying amount of the financial instruments subject to the
impairment calculation. EAD for unfunded facilities is calculated by multiplying the outstanding exposure with the
credit conversion factor (CCF) ranging from 20% to 100%.

To calculate the EAD for a Stage 1 loan, the Group assesses the possible default events and the cash flows within 12
months for the calculation of the 12 months ECL. For Stage 2, Stage 3 and POCI, the EAD is considered for events
over the lifetime of the instruments.

The Group uses internal rating models tailored to the various categories of counterparties that consider an obligor’s
financial standing, geographic location, its industry plus additional relevant information added through selective
qualitative inputs to derive the IRR. 

The credit grades are calibrated such that the risk of default increases exponentially as the credit quality weakens. 

01 to 04-
05+ to 05-
06+ to 06-
07+ to 07-

08

PD range
(%)

>= 0.00% to <0.49%
>= 0.49% to <1.52%
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

25.4 Credit risk (continued)

25.4.1 Credit risk assessment and mitigation (continued)

Loss given default (LGD)

Definition of default and cure 

-

-

-

-
-
-
-

-
- Other cases where the assessment of the Bank’s GCC / GCCRO / GCCO suggests customers unlikeliness to

pay.

Bankruptcy, liquidation, administration, insolvency or similar proceedings have been filed by or against the
customer;

For direct loan to the government or the contractors directly working for a government entity and the
repayment of the loan is contingent on payment from government entity even though all prerequisite
conditions for the payment have been complied with. 

The above criteria have been applied to all financial instruments held by the Group and are consistent with the
definition of default used for internal credit risk management purposes. The default definition has been applied
consistently to model the PD, EAD and LGD throughout the Group’s expected loss calculations.

The 90 days past due is rebutted only if there is reasonable and supportive information demonstrating that this does not
meet the impairment definition requirements. For example, this may include:

The purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects an incurred loss; and

Principal and/or interest and / or fees are past due for more than 90 days after the last billing date and/or
scheduled payment date, ignoring technical defaults and / or data errors. However, the Group can rebut 90
days past due assumption on a case-by-case basis, only upon prior approval from Group Chief Credit
Officer (GCCO) / Group Chief Credit and Risk Officer (GCCRO) (at Head Office level) / Chief Risk
Officer (CRO) or CRO (at Subsidiary level), as applicable;
Any account put on non-accrual status i.e. interest suspended;
A loan is classified as “Substandard”, “Doubtful” or “Loss”;
A covenant breach not waived by the Group;

The credit risk mitigation assessment is based on a standardised LGD framework. The Group uses models to calculate
the LGD values based on the collateral type and value, obligor rating, economic scenarios, seniority of tranche,
industry and country of the borrower, etc.

The Group segments its retail lending products into smaller homogeneous portfolios, based on key characteristics that
are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows. The applied data is based on historically collected loss data and
involves a wider set of transaction characteristics (e.g., product type, wider range of collateral types) as well as
borrower characteristics.

The Group considers a contract to be in default, if the terms of that contract have not been met. If the contractual
repayments on a facility are 90 days past due the facility is moved to Stage 3 and a specific ECL allowance is recorded. 

As a part of a qualitative assessment of whether a customer is in default, the Group also considers a variety of instances
that may indicate unlikeliness to pay. When such events occur, the Group carefully considers whether the event should
result in treating the customer as defaulted and therefore assessed as Stage 3 for ECL calculations or whether Stage 2 is
appropriate. Such events include:

Non-payment was an administrative oversight or technical fault instead of resulting from the obligor’s
financial difficulty (or) the management at the Group has strong evidence, that there is no dispute regarding
payments and the obligor is likely to pay its outstanding amount, without any loss to the Group .
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

25.4 Credit risk (continued)

25.4.1 Credit risk assessment and mitigation (continued)

Definition of default and cure (continued)

Credit risk grading and PD estimation process
The following are additional considerations for each type of portfolio held by the Group:

Wholesale portfolio

-

-
-

-
-

-

Retail portfolio

Relationship managers in the first line of defence are responsible for day-to-day management of existing credit
exposures, and for periodic review of the client and associated risks.

At the request of the obligor the Bank’s first line of defense generates a paper to be considered at a business
acceptance committee to confirm the facility is in line with the Bank’s strategy and meets the Bank’s profitability
criteria. If approved at the business acceptance committee, a credit application form (CAF), is presented to the second
line of defense which confirms that the request is factually correct and in line with the Bank’s policies and standards
relating to the risk being underwritten. The credit risk units of the Group validate the IRR being proposed. The CAF is
then presented to a credit committee appropriate to the geography, product, IRR, maturity and amount requested for
approval.

The Group runs its retail lending via a series of product programs which are approved by the relevant credit
committees. The Group uses the ‘roll rate’ methodology for ongoing assessment of the ECL across the retail portfolio.
The roll rate methodology uses statistical analysis of historical data on delinquency levels to estimate the amount of
ECL that might reasonably be incurred. Management overlays are applied to ensure that the estimate of ECL is
appropriate given the prevailing economic conditions at the reporting date.

At a minimum the CAF contains the following information:

• Any available relevant economic, sectorial, market, regulatory, reputational, or financial information on
the obligor from third parties.
•  Collateral assessment.

Supporting the GCC with reference to its roles and responsibilities.

The wholesale portfolio includes obligors across sovereigns, banks, corporates, non-bank financial institutions and
small and medium enterprises (SME) sub-sectors.  

Description of the facility request, the amount, its structure/risk mitigation, its purpose, terms and
conditions, source of repayment and a commentary outlining the risks and mitigants to the repayment of the
facility.

The Bank employs ’cooling-off’ periods when moving a cured account from Stage 3 (12 month) to Stage 2 (6 to 12
months) to Stage 1. In cases, where the financial assets are originated or purchased at deep discount which reflects the
incurred credit loss, the financial asset is classified under POCI and is not eligible for transfers to other stages. The
Bank may choose to make exceptions to this on a case-by-case basis, upon prior approval from GCCO / GCCRO (at
Head Office level) or CRO (at Subsidiary level). The Bank will be guided by the CBB's requirements while approving
the exceptions.

•  Historical and forecast financial information.

Profitability analysis.

Monitoring and maintaining oversight of the credit portfolio through client reviews, portfolio management
information (MI) and key risk indicators (KRIs); and

Independent credit review of the clients;

The centralised credit unit in the second line of defence is responsible for:

Identification of the model inputs for expected credit loss (ECL) calculation namely, IRR, LGD of the
facility through consideration and analysis of: 
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

25.4 Credit risk (continued)

25.4.1 Credit risk assessment and mitigation (continued)

Retail portfolio (continued)

-

-
-

-
-
-

ECL measurement

-

-

-
-

-

Stage 1

12-month expected credit losses

IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three-stage’ model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition as
summarised below:

Lifetime expected credit losses 
(specific provisions)

Lifetime expected credit 
losses

Change in credit quality since initial recognition

The following diagram summarises the impairment requirements under IFRS 9 (other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets):

Through the annual and ad-hoc thematic review process and the regrading of the IRR and staging as
appropriate;
Mechanical observation of past due (see below) or notch movement of the IRR from inception to date; and
Other qualitative factors such as obligors assigned to close monitoring, restructured / forbearance facilities,
etc.  

If a SICR since initial recognition is identified, the financial instrument is moved to ‘Stage 2’ but is not yet
deemed to be credit-impaired. Please refer above for a description of how the Group determines when a
SICR has occurred.

All local currency sovereign exposures funded in local currency;

(since initial recognition)

A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition or where the credit risk has not
significantly increased since initial recognition is classified in ‘Stage 1’ and has its credit risk continuously
monitored by the Group.

Stage 3

Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime
expected credit losses that result from default events possible within the next 12 months. Instruments in
Stages 2 or 3 have their ECL measured based on expected credit losses on a lifetime basis. 
A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should consider forward-looking
information.

(Default or credit-impaired 
assets)

Significant increase in credit 
risk

All local currency exposures to the government of the Kingdom of Bahrain or Central Bank of Bahrain; and
All exposures with external rating A- or above.

(Initial recognition)

Further, the Group has used the low credit risk (LCR) expedient which includes all exposures meeting the following
criteria: 

Stage 2

If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to ‘Stage 3’. 

A backstop is applied, and the financial instrument is considered to have experienced SICR if the borrower is 30 or
more days past due on its contractual payments. 
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

25.4 Credit risk (continued)

25.4.1 Credit risk assessment and mitigation (continued)

Measuring ECL – Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques

LGD represents the Group’s expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted exposure. LGD varies by type of
counterparty, type and seniority of claim, availability of collateral or other credit support, geography and industry.
LGD is expressed as a percentage loss per unit of exposure at the time of default (EAD). LGD is calculated on a 12-
month or lifetime basis, where 12-month LGD is the percentage of loss expected to be made if the default occurs in the
next 12 months and Lifetime LGD is the percentage of loss expected to be made if the default occurs over the
remaining expected lifetime of the loan.

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD and LGD for each future month and for each individual exposure. The
three components (PD, LGD and EAD) are multiplied together, and the projected PD is adjusted for the likelihood of
survival (i.e. the exposure has not prepaid or defaulted in an earlier month). This effectively calculates an ECL for each 
future month, which is then discounted back to the reporting date and summed. The discount rate used in the ECL
calculation is the original effective interest rate or an approximation thereof.

EAD is based on the amounts the Group expects to be owed at the time of default, over the next 12 months (12M
EAD) or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime EAD). For example, for a revolving commitment, the Group includes
the current drawn balance plus any further amount that is expected to be drawn up to the current contractual limit by
the time of default, should it occur.

The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation (as per “Definition of default”
above), either over the next 12 months (12m PD), or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD) of the obligation.

For revolving products, the behavioral maturity of upto 2 years or contractual maturity is considered. The behavioral
maturity treatment is only applicable to on-balance sheet exposures, for off-balance sheet exposures contractual
maturity is used and exposure at default is predicted by applying a “credit conversion factor” to the off-balance sheet
exposures which allows for the expected drawdown of the remaining limit by the time of default. These assumptions
vary by product type.

For amortising products and bullet repayment loans, this is based on the contractual repayments owed by the borrower
over a 12 month or lifetime basis.

The ECL is measured on either a 12-month (12m) or lifetime basis depending on whether a significant increase in
credit risk has occurred since initial recognition or whether an asset is considered to be credit-impaired. Expected
credit losses are the discounted product of PD, EAD and LGD, defined as follows:

For unsecured products, LGD’s are computed based on models which consider several factors such as country,
industry, PD, etc. which consider the recoveries made post default.

The Lifetime PD is developed by applying the forward-looking information on 12-month PD over the maturity of the
loan. The maturity profile is based on historical observed data and is assumed to be the same across all assets within a
portfolio and credit grade band. 

For secured products, this is primarily based on collateral values after applying approved haircuts depending on the
collateral type. Further, the Group has applied LGD floors with respect to the fully secured portion of the portfolio
depending on the collateral type.
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

25.4 Credit risk (continued)

25.4.1 Credit risk assessment and mitigation (continued)

Measuring ECL – Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques (continued)

Assessment and calculation of ECL in the current macroeconomic environment 

Economic variable assumptions

(i)    
(ii)    
(iii)    

Forward-looking economic information is also included in determining the 12-month and lifetime PD and LGD. Refer
to note 4 and below for an explanation of forward-looking information and its inclusion in ECL calculations.

Considering the current scenario, the Group has applied management overlays on the model ECL estimates
considering the impacts of rising interest rate environment led by the Fed, and the global inflation. As with any
economic forecasts, the projections and likelihoods of the occurrence are subject to a high degree of inherent
uncertainty and therefore the actual outcomes may be significantly different to those projected.

The Group’s models have been constructed and calibrated using historical trends and correlations as well as forward
looking economic scenarios. The complexity caused by the various support schemes and regulatory guidance across
the main regions in which the Group operates present modelling challenges for the time being. As a consequence, the
existing models may generate results that are either overly conservative or overly optimistic depending on the specific
portfolio / segment. As a result, post-model adjustments maybe needed. Given model changes take a significant
amount of time to develop and test and the data limitation issues noted above, the Group expects that post model
adjustments will be applied where relevant. 

An overview of the approach to estimating ECLs is set out above and in note 4.19. To ensure appropriate ECL
estimation, the Bank uses independent third party data sources (e.g Moody’s and IMF).

GDP, given the significant impact on companies’ performance and collateral valuations;

The assumptions underlying the ECL calculation – such as how the maturity profile of the PDs and how collateral
values change, etc., are monitored and reviewed on a quarterly basis. The calculation of ECL involves significant
accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions. These are set out in note 4.19 and note 4.33. There have been no
significant changes in the ECL methodology during the year. 

Relevant equity indices, given its impact on the economy, counterparty performance and collateral 

The most significant assumptions affecting the ECL allowance are as follows:

Additional information and sensitivity analysis in respect of the inputs to the ECL model under multiple economic
scenarios is provided under economic variable assumptions below:

Oil price, given its impact on the global economy and specially the regional economies for the Bank; and
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

25.4 Credit risk (continued)

25.4.1 Credit risk assessment and mitigation (continued)

Economic variable assumptions (continued)

Assumptions used in 2023

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

[ 0.4%, 5.8%] [ 1.4%, 10.4%] [ 2.7%, 15.3%] [ 4.2%, 20.9%] [ 5.9%, 26.8%]

[ 2.9%, 8.0%] [ 5.0%, 13.2%] [ 6.5%, 18.2%] [ 8.0%, 24.0%] [ 10.0%, 30.0%]

[ - 9.9%, 0.63%] [ - 6.8%, 4.5%] [ - 4.0%, 10.7%] [ - 0.8%, 16.9%] [ 1.1%, 23.1%]

-2.5% -12.2% -12.5% -12.2% -11.9%

0.2% -12.1% -12.5% -12.2% -11.9%

-29.3% -25.1% -15.1% -14.8% -13.9%

[- 1.7%, 14.4%] [- 0.6%, 25.9%] [ 6.2%, 42.5%] [ 11%, 58.2%] [ 14.3%, 70.3%]

[ 4.9%, 32.9%] [ 4.8%, 43.2%] [ 9.4%, 57.3%] [ 13.3%, 66.4%] [ 16.7%, 76.3%]

[ - 33.8%, -13.2%] [ - 26.3%, -2.0%] [ -9.8%, 24.9%] [ 2.4%, 43.1%] [ 5.5%, 59.3%]

Assumptions used in 2022

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

[ - 0.8%, 5.8%] [ 0.4%, 11.1%] [ 1.8%, 16.6%] [ 3%, 22.2%] [ 4.4%, 28.1%]

[ 1.9%, 8.4%] [ 3.1%, 13.9%] [ 4.3%, 19.5%] [- 5.5%, 25.3%] [ 7.2%, 31.3%]

[ - 9.6%, 0.7%] [ - 6.3%, 5.7%] [ - 3.3%, 11.9%] [ - 2.1%, 18.1%] [ - 0.9%, 24.4%]

-11.1% -24.5% -25.6% -24.7% -23.6%

-8.7% -24.4% -25.6% -24.7% -23.6%

-33.8% -36.0% -27.8% -27.0% -25.3%

[- 2.7%, 31.6%] [- 3%, 35.2%] [- 1.9%, 38.7%] [- 0.4%, 42.2%] [ 2.1%, 51%]

[ 3.3%, 49.8%] [ 0.5%, 46.2%] [ 0.3%, 45.9%] [ 0.3%, 47.9%] [ 2.9%, 56.3%]

[ - 34.7%, -15.3%] [ - 29.9%, 9.6%] [ -12.9%, 28.7%] [ - 4.5%, 32.5%] [ -0.8%, 41.2%]

* GDP and equity index are represented as range as they cover the indices of multiple countries the Group operates in.

ECL scenario and 
assigned weightage

Downside (30%)

Equity index*

The following table sets out the key macroeconomic variables of ECL calculation and weightages used for scenarios
showing increase /decrease in comparison to 2023 as base year (2022 as base year for assumptions used in 2022):

Downside (30%)

Key macroeconomic 
variables used

GDP growth rate*

Upside (30%)

Downside (30%)

Oil price

Key macroeconomic 
variables used

Equity index*

As with any economic forecasts, the projections and likelihoods of occurrence are subject to a high degree of inherent
uncertainty and therefore the actual outcomes may be significantly different to those projected. The Group considers
these forecasts to represent its best estimate of the possible outcomes and has analysed the non-linearities and
asymmetries within the Group’s different geographies to establish that the chosen scenarios are appropriately
representative of the range of possible scenarios.

The above macroeconomic variables are selected based on the regression analysis between the macroeconomic
variables and the PD. These economic variables and their associated impact on the PD and LGD vary by country and
industry. Forecasts of these economic variables (for all scenarios) are provided by Moody's on a quarterly basis and
provide the best estimate view of the economy over future years.

Upside (30%)

Downside (30%)

Upside (30%)

Downside (30%)

Base (40%)

Upside (30%)

GDP growth rate*

Base (40%)

Upside (30%)

Base (40%)

Upside (30%)

Downside (30%)

Base (40%)

Base (40%)

Base (40%)

Oil price

ECL scenario and 
assigned weightage

_______________________________________________________________________________________________
65  97



Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2023

All figures in US$ Million

25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

25.4 Credit risk (continued)

25.4.1 Credit risk assessment and mitigation (continued)

Economic variable assumptions (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

25.4.2

2023 2022

Liquid funds 4,453           2,806          
Trading debt securities 1,060           576             
Placements with banks and other financial institutions 2,231           2,226          
Securities bought under repurchase agreements 2,191           1,386          
Non-trading debt investments 11,347         8,065          
Loans and advances 19,096         18,190        
Other credit exposures 2,633           2,538          

          43,011 35,787        

Credit commitments and contingent items (note 21) 10,376         7,981          

Total           53,387 43,768        

25.4.3

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Western Europe 4,812              85                                          24 4,921                
Arab World 12,736            281                                      141 13,158              
Asia 868                 -                                         -   868                   
North America 10,704            221                                        -   10,925              
Latin America 10,418            159                                      108 10,685              
Other 2,451              -                                           3 2,454                

Total 41,989            746                 276                    43,011              

Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value the amounts shown above represent the current credit risk
exposure but not the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a result of changes in values.

The Group's assets (before taking into account any cash collateral held or other credit enhancements) can be analysed
by the following geographical regions:

Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral and other credit 
enhancements

Based on the above significant assumptions and changes in each economic variable by +5% and -5% while keeping
other key variables constant will result in a change in the ECL (stage 1 and 2) in the range of decrease by 11.2%
(2022: decrease by 11.2%) to an increase by 7.7% (2022: increase by 10.7%.)

Gross maximum exposure

The Group's concentration of risk is managed by geographical region and by industry sector. The table below shows
the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the consolidated statement of financial position, including
credit commitments and contingent items. The maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of mitigation
through the use of master netting and collateral agreements.

Risk concentration of the maximum exposure to credit risk

2023
Assets

_______________________________________________________________________________________________
66

98 



Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2023

All figures in US$ Million

25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

25.4 Credit risk (continued)

25.4.3

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Western Europe 3,598              196                                        -   3,794                
Arab World 14,336            249                 102                    14,687              
Asia 841                                     -                          -   841                   
North America 5,445              45                                          -   5,490                
Latin America 8,836              179                 91                      9,106                
Other 1,869                                  -                          -   1,869                

Total 34,925            669                 193                    35,787              

2023 2022

Western Europe 5,670                 3,019                

Arab World 24,618               23,204              

Asia 940                    492                   

North America 3,930                 2,672                

Latin America 8,325                 6,721                

Other 409                    531                   

Total 43,892               36,639              

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Western Europe 2,331              53                   -                     2,384                
Arab World 3,471              98                   20                      3,589                
Asia 148                                     -                          -   148                   
North America 1,280              4                                            -   1,284                
Latin America 2,816              14                   1                        2,831                
Other 111                 28                   1                        140                   

Total 10,157            197                 22                      10,376              

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Western Europe 1,131              46                   5                        1,182                
Arab World 3,195              39                   36                      3,270                
Asia 135                                     -   3                        138                   
North America 707                 37                                          -   744                   
Latin America 2,466              9                                              6 2,481                
Other 146                 20                                          -   166                   

Total 7,780              151                 50                      7,981                

Liabilities and equity

Risk concentration of the maximum exposure to credit risk (continued)

The Group's liabilities and equity can be analysed by the following geographical regions:

The Group's commitments and contingencies can be analysed by the following geographical regions:

2022 
Assets

Credit commitments and contingent items
2023

Credit commitments and contingent items
2022
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

25.4 Credit risk (continued)

25.4.3

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Financial services 15,853                               16                        -                 15,869 
Government 10,903                                 9                        -                 10,912 
Other services 2,417                                 69                      100                 2,586 
Manufacturing 2,718                                 86                        36                 2,840 
Agriculture, fishing and forestry 1,653                                 34                        13                 1,700 
Construction 1,784                               246                        14                 2,044 
Utilities 989                                    54                        -                   1,043 
Energy 986                                      2                        -                      988 
Distribution 1,063                                 32                        -                   1,095 
Personal / consumer finance 1,502                                 29                        11                 1,542 
Transport 540                                    20                        16                    576 
Commercial real estate financing 370                                    77                        24                    471 
Technology, media and telecommunications 533                                      1                          2                    536 
Trade 230                                    53                        55                    338 
Retailers 351                                      6                        -                      357 
Mining and quarrying 94                                      12                          5                    111 
Residential mortgage 3                                         -                          -                          3 

Total              41,989                  746                      276               43,011 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Financial services 12,660            15                   -                     12,675              
Government 7,741                                  -                          -   7,741                
Other services 2,458              56                   81                      2,595                
Manufacturing 2,629              94                   17                      2,740                
Agriculture, fishing and forestry 1,544              21                   4                        1,569                
Construction 1,583              192                 14                      1,789                
Utilities 884                                    12                        -   896                   
Energy 1,093              2                                            -   1,095                
Distribution 1,021              33                                          -   1,054                
Personal / consumer finance 1,434              12                   6                        1,452                
Transport 538                 69                   9                        616                   
Commercial real estate financing 251                 70                                          -   321                   
Technology, media and telecommunications 540                                      1                          4 545                   
Trade 216                 60                   53                      329                   
Retailers 235                 20                                          -   255                   
Mining and quarrying 61                   12                   5                        78                     
Residential mortgage 37                                       -                          -   37                     

Total 34,925            669                 193                    35,787              

Risk concentration of the maximum exposure to credit risk (continued)
An industry sector analysis of the Group's financial assets (after taking risk transfer into account), before taking into
account cash collateral held or other credit enhancements, is as follows:

2022 

2023
Gross maximum exposure

Gross maximum exposure
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

25.4 Credit risk (continued)

25.4.3

2023 2022

Financial services 13,443               11,557              
Government 10,906               7,712                
Other services 2,479                 2,625                
Manufacturing 2,792                 2,722                
Agriculture, fishing and forestry 1,692                 1,561                
Construction 1,945                 1,782                
Utilities 1,042                 896                   
Energy 988                    1,095                
Distribution 1,095                 1,054                
Personal / consumer finance 1,542                 1,452                
Transport 558                    610                   
Commercial real estate financing 432                    321                   
Technology, media and telecommunications 535                    544                   
Trade 325                    319                   
Retailers 357                    255                   
Mining and quarrying 111                    78                     
Residential mortgage                        -                         -   

Total                 40,242 34,583              

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Financial services 3,874                                 53                        -                   3,927 
Government 52                                       -                            1                      53 
Other services 712                                    27                        -                      739 
Manufacturing 1,295                                 41                          3                 1,339 
Agriculture, fishing and forestry 172                                     -                          -                      172 
Construction 1,478                                 49                        13                 1,540 
Utilities 823                                      4                        -                      827 
Energy 377                                     -                          -                      377 
Distribution 186                                      8                        -                      194 
Personal / consumer finance 315                                     -                            1                    316 
Transport 464                                    11                        -                      475 
Commercial real estate financing 33                                       -                          -                        33 
Technology, media and telecommunications 104                                     -                            1                    105 
Trade 113                                      4                          3                    120 
Retailers 98                                       -                          -                        98 
Mining and quarrying 61                                       -                          -                        61 

Total              10,157                  197                        22               10,376 

An industry sector analysis of the Group's credit commitments and contingent items, before taking into account cash
collateral held or other credit enhancements, is as follows:

Risk concentration of the maximum exposure to credit risk (continued)

Gross maximum exposure

Net maximum exposure

An industry sector analysis of the Group's financial assets, after taking into account cash collateral held or other credit
enhancements, is as follows:

2023
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

25.4 Credit risk (continued)

25.4.3

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Financial services                2,813                    47                          2 2,862                
Government                     64                     -                          -   64                     
Other services                   669                      2                        -   671                   
Manufacturing                   867                    40                          7 914                   
Agriculture, fishing and forestry                   117                     -                          -   117                   
Construction                1,073                    53                        28 1,154                
Utilities                   698                     -                            1 699                   
Energy                   264                     -                            1 265                   
Distribution                   115                      6                          1 122                   
Personal / consumer finance                   341                      1                        -   342                   
Transport                   380                     -                            6 386                   
Commercial real estate financing                     24                     -                          -   24                     
Technology, media and telecommunications                   151                     -                            2 153                   
Trade                   101                      2                          2 105                   
Retailers                     68                     -                          -   68                     
Mining and quarrying                     35                     -                          -   35                     

Total 7,780              151                 50                      7,981                

2023 2022

Financial services 3,736                 2,697                
Government 53                      56                     
Other services 719                    666                   
Manufacturing 1,296                 908                   
Agriculture, fishing and forestry 170                    114                   
Construction 1,532                 1,117                
Utilities 825                    698                   
Energy 366                    262                   
Distribution 177                    120                   
Personal /consumer finance 316                    342                   
Transport 464                    380                   
Commercial real estate financing 33                      24                     
Technology, media and telecommunications 104                    152                   
Trade 114                    99                     
Retailers 98                      68                     
Mining and quarrying 58                      35                     

Total                 10,061 7,738                

Risk concentration of the maximum exposure to credit risk (continued)

Net maximum exposure

An industry sector analysis of the Group's credit commitments and contingent items, after taking into account cash
collateral held or other credit enhancements, is as follows:

Gross maximum exposure
2022
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

25.4 Credit risk (continued)

25.4.4

Past due
Past due and

High Standard but not 
grade grade* impaired impaired Total

Liquid funds                4,271                   182                     -                          -                   4,453 
Trading debt securities                   504                   556                     -                          -                   1,060 
Placements with banks and other 

financial institutions                   780                1,451                     -                          -                   2,231 
Securities bought under repurchase agreements                   545                1,646                     -                          -                   2,191 
Non-trading debt investments                8,067                3,280                     -                          -                 11,347 
Loans and advances                3,630              15,040                  151 275                                  19,096 
Other credit exposures                2,193                   439                     -                            1                 2,633 

             19,990              22,594                  151                      276               43,011 

Past due
Past due and

High Standard but not 
grade grade* impaired impaired Total

Liquid funds 2,411                                395                     -                          -   2,806                
Trading debt securities                   271 305                                     -                          -   576                   
Placements with banks and other 

financial institutions 705                 1,521                                  -                          -   2,226                
Securities bought under repurchase agreements                      -   1,386                                  -                          -   1,386                
Non-trading debt investments 4,501              3,564                                  -                          -   8,065                
Loans and advances 3,859              14,006                             133 192                    18,190              
Other credit exposures 2,175              362                                     -                            1 2,538                

13,922            21,539                             133 193                    35,787              

individually

individually

The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Group using internal credit ratings. The table below shows the
credit quality by class of financial asset, based on the Group's credit rating system.

Neither past due nor impaired

Neither past due nor impaired

Credit quality per class of financial assets

31 December 2022

31 December 2023

* Including exposures categorised as watchlist.
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2023

25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

25.4 Credit risk (continued)

25.4.4 Credit quality per class of financial assets (continued)

25.4.5 Carrying amount per class of financial assets whose terms have been renegotiated as at year-end

2023 2022

Loans and advances 406           351            

25.4.6 Overview of modified or forborne loans

25.4.7 Collateral and other credit enhancements

Credit exposure loan to value ratios of real estate portfolio

25.4.8 Maximum exposure to credit risk – Financial instruments not subject to impairment

2023 2022
Trading securities
- Debt Securities 1,060             576                 

Trading derivatives 853                865                 

Hedging derivatives 99                  103                 

Financial assets designated at FVTPL
- Loans and advances to customers 39                  95                   

25.5 Settlement risk

All figures in US$ Million

The amount and type of collateral depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. The types of
collateral mainly include cash, guarantees from banks, movable and immovable assets.

Management monitors the market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance with the underlying
agreement, and monitors the market value of collateral obtained during its review of the adequacy of the allowance for
impairment losses.  The Group also makes use of master netting agreements with counterparties. 

Settlement risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of a counterparty to honour its obligations to deliver cash, securities
or other assets as contractually agreed. Where relevant and/or where possible, the Group mitigates this risk through a
settlement agent to ensure that a trade is settled only when both parties fulfil their settlement obligations. Settlement
approvals form a part of credit approval and limit monitoring procedure.

The real estate credit exposure of the Group amounts to US$ 2,082 million (2022: US$ 1,576 million). The average
loan to value ratios for this exposure is 54% (2022 average: 47%).

From a risk management point of view, once an asset is forborne or modified, the Group’s Remedial Loan Unit (RLU)
continues to monitor the exposure until it is completely and ultimately derecognised.

The following table contains an analysis of the maximum credit risk exposure from financial assets not subject to
impairment (i.e. FVTPL):

It is the Group's policy to maintain accurate and consistent risk ratings across the credit portfolio through a risk rating
system. This facilitates focused management of the applicable risks and the comparison of credit exposures across all
lines of business, geographic regions and products. The rating is supported by a variety of financial analytics,
combined with processed market information to provide the main inputs for the measurement of credit risk. All
internal ratings are tailored to the various categories and are derived in accordance with the Group's credit policy. The
attributable risk ratings are assessed and updated regularly. Each risk rating class has grades equivalent to Moody's,
S&P, Fitch and CI rating agencies.

Maximum exposure to credit 
risk

________________________________________________________________________________________________
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2023

All figures in US$ Million

25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

25.6 Market risk

25.7 Interest rate risk in the banking book

Increase in Sensitivity Decrease in Sensitivity
basis consolidated basis consolidated
points statement of points statement of

profit or loss profit or loss

US Dollar 25                                       1 25                                      (1)
Euro 25                                       1 25                                      (1)
Pound Sterling 25                                       1 25                                      (1)
Brazilian Real 25                                       2 25                                      (2)
Others 25                                       1 25                                      (1)

Market risk is the risk that the Group’s earnings or capital, or its ability to support business strategy, will be impacted
by the change in market rates or prices related to interest rates, equity prices, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates,
and commodity prices.

Investment market risk arises from market factors affecting securities held in high quality liquid assets (HQLA)
portfolio and liquid marketable securities which are held under its FVOCI portfolio and where the impact of the
changes in fair value due to market factors is through FVOCI.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The trading and investment market risks are independently overseen and monitored by RMD’s Market Risk team
daily. A full suite of risk limits is utilised including Value at Risk, sensitivity limits on key market parameters, notional
limits on the size of investment portfolios and stop-loss limits. Stress testing is also performed to monitor the impact
of various scenarios and significant market movements.  

The sensitivity of the consolidated statement of profit or loss is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on
the net interest income for one year, based on financial assets and financial liabilities held at 31 December, including
the effect of hedging instruments. The sensitivity of equity is calculated by revaluing fixed rate FVOCI financial
assets, including the effect of any associated hedges and swaps. Substantially all the FVOCI non-trading securities
held by the Group are floating rate assets. Hence, the sensitivity to changes in equity due to interest rate changes is
minimal.

2023

The Group manages market risk by classifying into two types: a) trading market risk; and b) investment market risk.
Trading market risk arises primarily from positions held in the trading books from market-making to support client
activities. This involves the management of client originated exposures in interest rates, equities, corporate and
sovereign debt, foreign exchange rates, commodities and derivatives of these asset classes, such as forwards, futures,
options and swaps. Trading market risk may also arise from positions originated by the Bank subject to the market risk
appetite and limits defined by the GALCO and BRC.

The Group has established risk management policies and limits within which exposure to market risk is monitored and
measured by the Risk Management Department (RMD) with strategic oversight exercised by GALCO. The RMD’s
Market Risk (MR) unit is responsible for oversight of market risk policy, risk measuring/monitoring methodology and
product limits prior to GALCO approval. The unit also has the responsibility to independently measure and report
market risk against limits throughout the Group.

Interest rate risk in the banking book refers to current or prospective risk to the Group’s capital and earnings arising
from adverse movements in interest rates that affect future profitability or the fair values of financial instruments . The
Group is exposed to interest rate risk because of mismatches of interest rate re pricing of assets and liabilities. This
risk is minimized as the Group's rate sensitive assets and liabilities are mostly floating rate, where the duration risk is
lower. The Group has set risk limits for both earnings at risk (EAR) and economic value of equity (EVE) for interest
rate risk in the banking book (IRRBB). In general, the Group uses matched currency funding and translates fixed rate
instruments to floating rate to better manage the duration in the asset book.

________________________________________________________________________________________________
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2023

All figures in US$ Million

25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

25.7 Interest rate risk in the banking book (continued)

Increase in Sensitivity Decrease in Sensitivity
basis consolidated basis consolidated
points statement of points statement of

profit or loss profit or loss

US Dollar 25                                      -   25                                       -   
Euro 25                                       1 25                                      (1)
Pound Sterling 25                                      -   25                                       -   
Brazilian Real 25                                       2 25                                      (2)
Others 25                                       1 25                                      (1)

25.8 Currency risk

Change in Effect on Change in Effect on
currency profit Effect on currency profit Effect on

 rate in % before tax equity  rate in % before tax equity
Currency
Brazilian Real +/- 5%                 -   +/-38 +/- 5%                    -   +/-31
Pound Sterling +/- 5%                 -                    -   +/- 5% -                                      -   
Egyptian Pound +/- 5%                 -   +/-16 +/- 5%                    -   +/-18
Jordanian Dinar +/- 5% +/-3 +/-10 +/- 5% +/-4 +/-10
Algerian Dinar +/- 5%                 -   +/-9 +/- 5%                    -   +/-8
Tunisian Dinar +/- 5%                 -   +/-1 +/- 5%                    -                        -   
Bahrain Dinar +/- 5% +/-2                  -   +/- 5% +/-2                      -   
Euro +/- 5% +/-1                  -   +/- 5% +/-1                      -   

25.9 Equity price risk

Managing interest rate benchmark reform and associated risks

2022

The IBOR reforms exposes the Group to risks including risks relating to interest rate basis, pricing, operations and
information system.  

The table below indicates the currencies to which the Group had significant exposure at 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022 on its monetary assets and liabilities and its forecast cash flows. The analysis calculates the effect of a
reasonably possible movement of the currency rate against the US$, with all other variables held constant on the
consolidated statement of profit or loss (due to the fair value of currency sensitive trading and non-trading monetary
assets and liabilities) and equity (due to the change in fair value of currency swaps and forward foreign exchange
contracts used as fair value hedges) and the effect of the impact of foreign currency movements on the structural
positions of the Bank in its subsidiaries. A negative amount in the table reflects a potential net reduction in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss or equity, while a positive amount reflects a potential net increase.

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities decrease as the result of changes in the levels of equity
indices and the value of individual stocks. The non-trading equity price risk exposure arises from the Group's
securities portfolio.

2023 2022

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 

The Group applies temporary reliefs available under phase 1 and 2 amendments which enable its hedge accounting to
continue during the period of uncertainty, before the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with an ARR.
These are explained in note 4. As of 31 December 2023, majority of the Group's exposures have transitioned to ARRs.
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2023

All figures in US$ Million

25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

25.9 Equity price risk (continued)

Effect on Effect on
consolidated consolidated

statement statement
% Change in of profit or loss/ % Change in of profit or loss/

equity price equity equity price equity

Trading equities +/- 5%  +/-1 +/- 5% +/-1

Equity securities at FVOCI +/- 5%  +/-1 +/- 5% +/-1

25.10 Operational risk

●

●

●

●

●

●
●
●
●
●
●
●

The GORCO:

The Group adheres to the three lines of defence model for the management of operational risk. The business (first line
of defence) is supported by independent Operational Risk Management Departments reporting to the local Chief Risk
Officers or local Heads of Risk (second line of defence). The management of Operational Risk is subject to
independent review by Internal Audit (third line of defence).

Operational Risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and
systems including internal frauds, or from external events.

The Group Operational Risk Committee (GORCO), as a sub-committee of Group Risk Committee (GRC) assists with
the management of Operational Risks across the Group to ensure that the Operational Risk Framework and Policy as
approved by the BRC, is implemented and monitored across the Group.

2023 2022

Change inChange in

The effect on equity (as a result of a change in the fair value of trading equity instruments and equity instruments held
at FVOCI) due to a reasonably possible change in equity indices or the net asset values, with all other variables held
constant, is as follows:

Risk Register

Group Risk Taxonomy

Defines the policy for the management of Operational Risks and recommends for approval by the GRC and
BRC.

Review and recommend the Operational Risk Appetite and Group Risk Taxonomy for approval by the GRC
and BRC.

Monitors and reviews the Operational Risk profile across various Group businesses and its subsidiaries.

Defines the various components of the Operational Risk Management Framework at the Group and oversees
the implementation of the framework across the Group.

Oversees the actions taken are in line with the Operational Risk Appetite.

The implementation of the Operational Risk Management Framework is governed by the GORCO. Respective Local
Operational Risk Committees oversee the implementation of the Operational Risk Management Framework and the
management of Operational Risk across all subsidiaries and branches of the Group. The Group Operational Risk
Management Department at Head Office is responsible for the development of the group-wide methodology, quality
control and system support.

The Group has implemented the following elements for the management of Operational Risks:

Operational Risk Appetite, as part of the Group Risk Appetite Statement;

Incident management;
Risk & Control Self-Assessments;
Issue and Action management; 
Key Risk Indicators; and

________________________________________________________________________________________________
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

25.10 Operational risk (continued)

Operational risk appetite

25.10.1 Operational resilience

● Cyber security and Information security
● Information Technology
● Business Continuity, Disaster Recovery and Crisis Management
● Bank’s compliance with Privacy laws (Personal Data Protection) 
● Outsourcing and Vendor Management (External dependencies)

A wide range of management information reports have been tailored to meet the needs of different stakeholders, these
also provide information on the Operational Risk profile of the Bank and its subsidiaries.

Operational resilience is the ability of the Bank to anticipate, prevent, adapt, respond to, recover and learn from
operational disruptions while minimising customer, firm and market impact.
 

The GORC meets 4 times a year and reviews and recommends to GRC, the Bank’s business resilience for each area.

The Group Operational Resilience Committee (“GORC”) assists GRC with the oversight of the Bank’s Operational
resilience practices that is driven by the activities in the following areas. , by such it oversees:

In line with the Board-led Group Risk Appetite Statement, Operational Risk metrics are set and monitored by the
Board Risk Committee.

Operational Risk incidents, issues and Key Risk Incidents are captured in a group-wide Governance, Risk and
Compliance solution, GRC platform. This group-wide solution is being used by Audit, Risk and Compliance.

The Group has its Operational Risk appetite defined to measure Cumutlative Gross and Net Operational Risk Losses
and Single Operational Loss Events. In addition a set of Early Warning Indicators are used to monitor different sub
risk categories related to operational risk.

________________________________________________________________________________________________
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2023

26 OPERATING SEGMENTS

●

●

●
●

●

International
MENA wholesale Group ABC

subsidiaries banking treasury Brasil Other Total

Net interest income 221         203             46              307         158                          935 
Other operating income 45           82               39              131         47                            344 

Total operating income           266               285                85           438            205             1,279 

Total operating expenses (134)        (132)                         (31) (199)                  (102)              (598)

132         153             54                        239            103 681              
Credit loss expense (34)          (32)                             -   (78)                        (1) (145)             

98           121             54                        161            102 536              
Taxation expense on

foreign operations (50)          (14)                             (2) (8)                          -   (74)               
Unallocated operating expenses (166)             

Profit for the year 296              

Operating assets
as at 31 December 2023 5,343      8,698          18,034       11,364    453           43,892         

Operating liabilities
as at 31 December 2023 4,641      -              23,629       10,113    705           39,088         

Other includes activities of Arab Financial Services Company B.S.C. (c) and ila Bank. 

Group treasury comprises treasury activities of Bahrain Head Office, New York and London;
ABC Brasil primarily reflects the commercial banking and treasury activities of the Brazilian subsidiary
Banco ABC Brasil S.A., focusing on the corporate and middle market segments in Brazil and its related
holding Company; and

All figures in US$ Million

For management purposes, the Group is organised into five operating segments which are based on business units
and their activities. The Group has accordingly been structured to place its activities under the distinct divisions
which are as follows:

MENA subsidiaries cover retail, corporate and treasury activities of subsidiaries in North Africa and
Levant;
International wholesale banking encompasses corporate and structured finance, trade finance, Islamic
banking services and syndications;

2023

Profit (loss) before taxation and 

    unallocated operating expenses

Net operating profit (loss) before
    credit loss expense, taxation and

   unallocated operating expenses

_____________________________________________________________________________________________
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2023

All figures in US$ Million

26 OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

International
MENA wholesale Group ABC

subsidiaries banking treasury Brasil Other Total

Net interest income 218         172             59              287         50             786              
Other operating income 47           77               41              113         37             315              

Total operating income 265         249             100            400         87             1,101           

Total operating expenses (147)        (117)            (30)             (169)        (89)           (552)             

118         132             70              231         (2)                            549 
Credit loss expense (34)          (42)                               4 (47)                        -   (119)             

Profit (loss) before taxation and 
unallocated operating expenses 84           90               68              190         (2)             430              

Taxation (expense) credit on
foreign operations (42)          2                 -             (43)                        -   (83)               

Unallocated operating expenses (138)             

Loss for the year 209              

Operating assets
as at 31 December 2022 5,653      8,954          12,035       9,628      369           36,639         

Operating liabilities
as at 31 December 2022 4,939                      -   18,145       8,544      490           32,118         

Geographical information

2023 Bahrain Europe Brasil Other Total

Total operating income 341             167            441         330                       1,279 

2022

Total operating income 262             115            406         318           1,101           

The Group operates in six geographic markets: Middle East and North Africa, Western Europe, Asia, North
America, Latin America and others. The following table show the external total operating income of the major
units within the Group, based on the country of domicile of the entity for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022:

There were no revenues derived from transactions with a single external customer that amounted to 10% or more of
the Group's revenue (2022: none).

2022

    unallocated operating expenses
    credit loss expense, taxation and
Net operating profit (loss) before
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26 OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)
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2023 Bahrain Europe Brasil Other Total

Total operating income 341             167            441         330                       1,279 

2022

Total operating income 262             115            406         318           1,101           

The Group operates in six geographic markets: Middle East and North Africa, Western Europe, Asia, North
America, Latin America and others. The following table show the external total operating income of the major
units within the Group, based on the country of domicile of the entity for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022:

There were no revenues derived from transactions with a single external customer that amounted to 10% or more of
the Group's revenue (2022: none).

2022

    unallocated operating expenses
    credit loss expense, taxation and
Net operating profit (loss) before
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26 OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

International
MENA wholesale Group ABC

subsidiaries banking treasury Brasil Other Total
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Credit loss expense (34)          (42)                               4 (47)                        -   (119)             

Profit (loss) before taxation and 
unallocated operating expenses 84           90               68              190         (2)             430              

Taxation (expense) credit on
foreign operations (42)          2                 -             (43)                        -   (83)               

Unallocated operating expenses (138)             

Loss for the year 209              

Operating assets
as at 31 December 2022 5,653      8,954          12,035       9,628      369           36,639         

Operating liabilities
as at 31 December 2022 4,939                      -   18,145       8,544      490           32,118         

Geographical information

2023 Bahrain Europe Brasil Other Total

Total operating income 341             167            441         330                       1,279 

2022

Total operating income 262             115            406         318           1,101           

The Group operates in six geographic markets: Middle East and North Africa, Western Europe, Asia, North
America, Latin America and others. The following table show the external total operating income of the major
units within the Group, based on the country of domicile of the entity for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022:

There were no revenues derived from transactions with a single external customer that amounted to 10% or more of
the Group's revenue (2022: none).

2022

    unallocated operating expenses
    credit loss expense, taxation and
Net operating profit (loss) before
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27 REPURCHASE AND RESALE AGREEMENTS

28

Ultimate Major
parent shareholder Directors 2023 2022

         2,949              -             37       2,986 3,179         
         1,115              -              -         1,115 1,115         

Additional / perpetual tier-1 capital*             390              -              -            390 390            

            966              -              -            966 387            

2023 2022

Commission income 18           8                
Interest expense 257         119            

Compensation of the key management personnel is as follows:
2023 2022

Short term employee benefits 21           20              
Post employment benefits 4             8                

           25 28              

29

30

Proceeds from assets sold under repurchase agreements at the year-end amounted to US$ 6,933 million (2022:
US$ 2,878 million). The carrying value of securities sold under repurchase agreements at the year-end amounted to
US$ 7,245 million (2022: US$ 2,984 million).

Amounts paid for assets purchased under resale agreements at the year-end amounted to US$ 2,191 million (2022:
US$ 1,386 million), net of ECL allowance, and relate to customer product and treasury activities. The market value
of the securities purchased under resale agreements at the year-end amounted to US$ 2,577 million (2022: US$
1,559 million).

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Deposits from customers
Borrowings

Related parties represent the ultimate parent, major shareholders, associates, directors and key management
personnel of the Group and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties. Pricing
policies and terms of these transactions are approved by the Group's management.

The year-end balances in respect of related parties included in the consolidated financial statements are as follows: 

The income and expenses in respect of related parties included in the consolidated financial statements are as
follows:

Funds under management at the year-end amounted to US$ 18,506 million (2022: US$ 17,018 million). These
assets are held in a fiduciary capacity and are not included in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Deposits from customers, banks and borrowings include Islamic deposits of US$ 3,769 million (2022: US$ 2,618
million). Loans and advances, non-trading investments and placements include Islamic assets of US$ 1,021 million
(2022: US$  984 million), US$ 809 million (2022: US$ 882 million) and US$ nil (2022: US $ 8 million).

ISLAMIC DEPOSITS AND ASSETS

FIDUCIARY ASSETS

* During the year, the Group has paid interest on additional / perpetual tier-1 capital amounting to US$ 18 million
(2022: US$ 9 million) which has been charged to the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Short-term self-liquidating trade and
transaction-related contingent items
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31

32

32.1 Basic and diluted earnings per share

2023 2022

Profit attributable to the shareholders of the parent 235             154             
Net profit attributable to the shareholders of the parent after adjusting

for interest paid on additional / perpetual tier-1 capital (for basic and
diluted earnings per share) 217             145             

Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year
(millions) for basic and diluted earnings per share 3,094          3,094          

Basic and diluted earnings per share (US$) 0.07            0.05            

32.2 Proposed dividends and transfers
2023 2022

Proposed cash dividend for 2023 of US$ 0.0225 per share
(2022: US$ 0.015 per share) 70               46               

The proposed cash dividend is subject to regulatory approvals and approval at the Annual General Meeting.

33

2023 2022

[a]            4,080            3,866 
              464               470 

[b]            4,544            4,336 

              325               290 

[c]            4,869            4,626 

All figures in US$ Million

CAPITAL ADEQUACY

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management policies are to ensure that the Group complies with
externally imposed capital requirements and that the Group maintains strong credit ratings and healthy capital
ratios in order to support its business and to maximise shareholders’ value.

ASSETS PLEDGED AS SECURITY

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to shareholders of the parent for the year
by the weighted average number of shares during the year. Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to shareholders of the parent by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year
plus the weighted average number of shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential shares
into shares.

At the reporting date, in addition to the items mentioned in note 27, assets amounting to US$ 363 million (2022:
US$ 265 million) have been pledged as security for borrowings and other banking operations.  

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE AND PROPOSED DIVIDENDS AND 
TRANSFERS

The risk asset ratio calculations as at 31 December 2023 are based on standardised measurement methodology and
in accordance with the CBB Basel III guidelines. 

CET 1

The Group's earnings for the year (before proposed dividends) are as follows:

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of its activities. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue capital securities. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies and processes from the previous years.

AT 1

Total capital base  

CAPITAL BASE

Total Tier 1 capital

Tier 2
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33

2023 2022

       27,632         25,003 
            836              866 
         1,758           1,677 

[d]        30,226         27,546 

[a/d*100] 13.5% 14.0%

[b/d*100] 15.0% 15.7%

[c/d*100] 16.1% 16.8%

12.5% 12.5%

34 CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

1
January 

2023
Cash flow, 

net

Foreign 
exchange 

movement

31 
December 

2023

Certificates of deposit 435            (299)                          6              142 
Borrowings 1,297         2                               4           1,303 

Total liabilities from financing activities           1,732           (297)               10           1,445 

1
January 

2022
Cash flow, 

net

Foreign 
exchange 

movement

31 
December 

2022

Certificates of deposit 725                      (187)           (103) 435            
Borrowings           1,211               75               11 1,297         

Total liabilities from financing activities 1,936                   (112)             (92) 1,732         

The Group has complied with all the capital adequacy requirements as set by the Central Bank of Bahrain. 

The Group’s capital base primarily comprises:

CAPITAL ADEQUACY (continued)

(b) Additional Tier 1 Capital: eligible portion of a perpetual financial instrument issued by the Bank's subsidiary; and

(c) Tier 2 capital: eligible non controlling interests and  expected credit losses.

(a) Tier 1 capital: share capital, treasury shares, reserves, retained earnings, non controlling interests, profit for the
year and cumulative changes in fair value;

Minimum requirement for Risk asset ratio

Risk asset ratio

Total risk weighted assets

Operational risk weighted assets

RISK WEIGHTED EXPOSURES 

Market risk weighted assets and off balance sheet items 
Credit risk weighted assets and off balance sheet items

Tier 1 ratio

CET 1 ratio
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35 GOODWILL ON BUSINESS ACQUISTION

35.1 Goodwill on acquisition of BLOM Bank Egypt

2023 2022

As at 1 January 51 80
Exchange rate movement (10)              (29)              

As at 31 December 41 51

35.2 Impairment testing of Goodwill and CDI acquired

• 

• 

• 
• 
• 

Interest margins

Discount rates
Discount rates reflect management’s estimate of Return on Capital Employed (‘ROCE’) required in each business.
This is the benchmark used by management to assess operating performance and to evaluate future investment
proposals. Discount rates are calculated by using a capital asset pricing model.

Assumptions are based on published industry research. At 31 December 2023, the goodwill impairment test
determined there was no impairment required to the CGU allocated to MENA subsidiaries. 

The forecast cash flows have been discounted using the discount rate mentioned above. A 1% point increase in the
discount rate or decrease in the terminal growth rate keeping other factors constant would reduce the recoverable
amount of the CGU and will result in a goodwill impairment.

interest margins;
discount rates; and
projected growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the projection period.

Interest margins are based on prevailing market rates at the start of the budget period. These are changed over the
budget period for anticipated market conditions.

Projected growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the projection period

The goodwill acquired through business combination is reviewed annually for impairment. At each reporting
period, an assessment is made for indicators of impairment. If indicators exist, an impairment test is required. The
impairment test compares the estimated recoverable amount of the Group’s CGUs that carry goodwill, as
determined through a Value-In-Use (VIU) model, with the carrying amount of net assets of each CGU. The
goodwill has been allocated to the CGU, MENA subsidiaries, which is also operating and reportable segment.

The calculation of VIU in the CGU is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined based on residual income approach. The VIU model
used projected cash flows in perpetuity through a 8-year forward period of projections, and thereafter applying a
(long-term) terminal growth rate. Significant assumptions used in the residual income model for impairment
assessment are:

Discount rate of 20% (2022: 21%), which is derived using a capital asset pricing model and comparing it
with cost of capital rates produced by external sources.
Long-term profit growth rate of 7% (2022: 7%), adjusted for expected changes in benchmark interest
rates and sector growth rates over time, applied to projected periods beyond 2031.
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35 GOODWILL ON BUSINESS ACQUISTION (continued)

35.2 Impairment testing of Goodwill and CDI acquired (continued)

Other intangibles

• 

• 

36 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

be separable, that is, be capable of being separated or divided from the entity and sold, transferred,
licensed, rented or exchanged, either individually or together with a related contract, asset or liability; or
arise from contractual or other legal rights, regardless of whether those rights are transferable or separable
from the entity or from other rights and obligations.

There were no subsequent events through 11 February 2024, the date the consolidated financial statements were
approved by the Board of Directors which may impact the consolidated financial statements.

Acquired other intangibles are recognised at their ‘fair value’ upon initial recognition. The specific criteria which
needs to be satisfied for an intangible asset to be recognised separately from goodwill in an acquisition is that the
intangible asset must be clearly identifiable, in that it either;

The Bank identified CDI’s as other intangibles which are being amortised using the straight-line method over the
useful life of the asset, which is estimated to be 10 years. If an indication of impairment arises, the recoverable
amount is estimated and an impairment loss is recognised if the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying
amount. There were no indicators of impairment identified with respect to CDI.
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Overall Summary

Bank ABC reported a surge in 2023 annual Net Profit attributable to its shareholders of 53% YOY reaching 
US$ 235 million. This success was due to strong core business growth, cost discipline, and a stable funding 
base, along with interest rate tailwinds and steady cost of credit. 

After surpassing the US$1-billion mark in revenue in 2022, the Group improved its Total Operating Income 
by 16% in 2023 to reach US$ 1,279 million. This growth was well diversified across our markets and business 
lines. Net interest income improved by 19% year-on-year supported by strong loan volumes, improving 
margins and interest rate tailwinds. Other operating income grew by 9% due to increased volumes, client 
cross-selling and ancillary fee income. 

Achieving excellent earnings growth

In 2023, the Group built on the momentum from the previous year to earn a Net Profit of US$235 million. 
This is a significant 53% growth compared to 2022, when the Group earned US$154 million in net profit. 
This growth in profit in 2023 resulted in earnings per share for the year of US$0.07, compared to US$0.05 
for 2022.

The Group’s revenues reached a record level of US$1,279 million for the full year, a rise of 16% from US$1,101 
million in 2022, demonstrating our established strength in core MENA markets and ambitious growth of our 
footprint globally. We continued our investments into strategic digital initiatives and enhanced our digital 
proposition through a range of key partnerships and initiatives to build our ‘Bank of the Future.’ Our digital 
mobile-only bank, ila, and our fintech payments provider Arab Financial Services also achieved excellent 
revenue growth. Global growth was bolstered by advancing of the integration between Bank ABC Egypt and 
erstwhile BLOM Bank Egypt (BBE) acquired in 2021.

Net interest income for the year was US$935 million, an increase of 19% compared to US$786 million in 2022. 
Non-interest income jumped by 9% to US$344 million from US$315 million the previous year. 

As well as strong revenue growth, the Group continued to enforce appropriate cost discipline without 
compromising on investments in digital transformation and other strategic initiatives. Operating expenses 
totalled US$764 million for 2023, rising by 11% from US$690 million. Given revenue growth at 16%, this 
resulted in “Positive jaws” of 5%, and the cost to income ratio improved by 3% to 59.7% from 62.7% in the 
previous year.
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Credit loss expenses for the year stood at US$145 million, compared with the previous year’s US$119 million. 
Taxation on operations was a charge of US$74 million (2022: US$83 million), resulting in the full year net 
profit attributable to the shareholders of the parent of US$235 million (2022: US$154 million).

Sources and uses of funds

Notwithstanding the challenging conditions of the year, the Group’s overall asset portfolio quality remains 
solid, and our underwriting standards are sound. Equity attributable to the shareholders of the parent 
and perpetual instrument holders at the end of the period was US$4,300 million, an increase of 5.0% from 
the US$4,095 million reported at end of 2022, primarily resulting from the 2023 net profit and changes in 
comprehensive income offset by 2022 dividend payment.

The Group’s asset profile is predominantly made up of loans, securities, and placements. The loans and 
advances portfolio stood at US$19,096 million, 5.0% higher than the US$18,190 million posted at year-
end 2022. Non-trading investments increased by US$3,288 million to US$11,368 million, money market 
placements by US$5 million to US$2,231 million, while liquid funds and securities bought under repurchase 
agreements increased by US$2,385 million to US$6,657 million.

Deposits from customers increased by US$2,309 million to US$23,705 million. Deposits from banks, 
certificates of deposit and repos totalled US$11,210 million (2022: US$7,077 million), while borrowings totalled 
US$1,303 million (2022: US$1,297 million). 

Total assets of the Group at the end of the year stood at US$43,892 million, 20% higher than at US$36,639 
million as at year-end 2022. Average assets for the year were US$39,480 million (2022: US$35,081 million) 
and average liabilities, including non-controlling interests, were US$35,320 million (2022: US$31,003 million).

Credit commitments, contingent items and derivatives

The notional value of the Group’s consolidated off-balance sheet items stood at US$50,929 million (2022: 
US$42,461 million), comprising credit commitments and contingencies of US$10,376 million (2022: US$7,981 
million) and derivatives of US$40,553 million (2022: US$34,480 million). The credit risk-weighted asset 
equivalent of these off-balance sheet items was US$4,225 million (2022: US$3,062 million). 

The Group uses a range of derivative products for the purposes of hedging and servicing customer-related 
requirements, as well as for short-term trading purposes. The total market risk-weighted equivalent of 
the exposures under these categories at the end of 2023 was US$799 million (2022: US$827 million). No 
significant credit derivative trading activities were undertaken during the year.
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Geographical and maturity distribution of the balance sheet

Bank ABC Group has well diversified assets, primarily across the Arab world, the Americas and Western 
Europe. The Group’s liabilities and equity are predominantly in the Arab world (56%; vs. 63% in 2022), 
followed by Latin America (19%; vs. 18% in 2022), chiefly in our Brazilian subsidiary, Banco ABC Brasil.

Financial assets Liabilities & equity Loans & advances

(%) 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Arab world 31 41 56 63 34 41

Western Europe 11 11 13 8 13 11

Asia 2 2 2 2 1 1

North America 25 15 9 7 9 9

Latin America 25 26 19 18 35 31

Others 6 5 1 2 8 7

100 100 100 100 100 100

An analysis of the maturity profile of financial assets according to when they are expected to be recovered 
or settled, or when they could be realised, shows that at the end of 2023, 64% (2022: 64%) had a maturity 
of one year or less. Loans and advances maturing within one year amounted to 63% (2022: 65%). The 
proportion of liabilities maturing within one year was 65% (2022: 56%). 

Financial assets Liabilities & equity

(%) 2023 2022 2023 2022

Within 1 month 32 32 20 24

1-3 months 18 13 12 11

3-6 months 9 9 7 5

6-12 months 10 10 12 16

Over 1 year 23 27 31 25

Undated 8 9 18 19

100 100 100 100
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Distribution of credit exposure

ABC Group’s credit exposure (defined as the gross credit risk to which the Group is potentially exposed) as 
of 31 December 2023 is given below:

Funded exposure
Credit

commitments & 
contingent items

Derivatives*

(US$ millions) 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Customer type

Banks 6,094 6,503 2,183 2,058 313 341

Non-banks 19,131 16,640 7,211 5,305 305 296

Sovereign 15,409 10,426 982 618 5 9

40,634 33,569 10,376 7,981 623 646

Risk rating

1 = Exceptional 895 2,162 964 908 - -

2 = Excellent 10,738 3,607 157 291 48 61

3 = Superior 3,382 3,512 923 434 203 249

4 = Good 2,792 2,562 1,248 1,033 22 14

5 = Satisfactory 10,128 10,241 5,003 3,323 293 257

6 = Adequate 11,161 9,936 1,729 1,620 51 61

7 = Marginal 1,162 1,017 181 150 6 3

8 = Special Mention 137 340 109 134 - 1

9 = Substandard 186 166 49 54 - -

10 = Doubtful 46 22 6 27 - -

11 = Loss 7 4 7 7 - -

40,634 33,569 10,376 7,981 623 646

* Derivative exposures are computed as the cost of replacing derivative contracts represented by mark-to-
market values where they are positive, and an estimate of the potential change in market values reflecting 
the volatilities that affect them. 
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Classified exposures and impairment provisions

The total of all impaired loans as at the end of 2023 was US$710 million (2022: US$655 million). ECL 
allowances including stage 3 provisions at the end of 2023 stood at US$648 million (2022: US$673 million).

The total of all impaired securities as at the end of 2023 was US$74 million (2022: US$74 million). ECL 
allowances, including stage 3 provisions, at the end of 2023 stood at US$88 million (2022: US$87 million).

The ageing analysis of impaired loans and securities is as follows: 

Impaired loans

(US$ millions) Principal Provisions Net book value

Less than 3 months 133 57 76

3 months to 1 year 132 65 67

1 to 3 years 292 182 110

Over 3 years 153 131 22

Total 710 435 275

Impaired securities

(US$ millions) Principal Provisions Net book value

Less than 3 months - - -

3 months to 1 year - - -

1 to 3 years - - -

Over 3 years 74 74 -

Total 74 74 -

Note: Impaired loans and off-balance sheet credits are formally defined as those in default on contractual 
repayments of principal or on payment of interest in excess of 90 days. In practice, however, all credits that 
give rise to reasonable doubt as to timely collection, whether or not they are in default as so defined, are 
treated as non-performing and specific provisions made, if required. Such credits are immediately placed on 
non-accrual status and related interest income reversed. Any release of the accumulated unpaid interest 
thereafter is made only as permitted by International Financial Reporting Standards.
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Group capital structure and capital adequacy ratios

Bank ABC’s balance sheet remains strong with capital and liquidity ratios well above the regulatory 
requirements. LCR and NSFR stood at 278% and 128% respectively as at year-end 2023, while liquid assets 
to deposits ratio maintained a healthy level at 50.3%.

The Group’s capital base of US$4,869 million comprises Tier 1 capital of US$4,544 million (2022: US$4,336 
million) and Tier 2 capital of US$325 million (2022: US$290 million). 

The consolidated capital adequacy ratio (CAR) was at 31 December 2023, calculated in accordance with the 
prevailing Basel III rules, was 16.1% (2022: 16.8%), well above the 12.5% minimum set by the Central Bank of 
Bahrain. The CAR comprised predominantly Tier 1 ratio of 15.0% (2022: 15.7%), well above the 10.5% minimum 
set by the Central Bank of Bahrain.

All ABC Group subsidiaries meet the capital adequacy requirements of their respective regulatory 
authorities.

A resilient operating environment despite headwinds

Our core and network markets remained resilient in 2023 despite market volatility and rising geopolitical 
risks. Against the background of the Russia-Ukrainian Conflict, the eruption of the Gaza Conflict and 
disruption of maritime trade through the Suez Canal, as well as real estate sector-related challenges in a 
number of economies including the US and China, global growth is estimated to have slowed to 3.1% in 2023, 
down from 3.5% in 2022. 

Growth in MENA economies is estimated to have slowed to 1.8%, down from 5.6% in 2022, mainly due to 
OPEC+ related oil production curbs in oil exporters and headwinds from tighter monetary policy. Meanwhile, 
non-hydrocarbon activity has remained brisk and sovereign credit ratings among oil exporters generally 
continued to improve. 

With inflation easing closer to targets, central banks are aiming for a soft landing 

Following the decline in global price pressures, major central banks paused monetary tightening in the 
second half of 2023 and have since indicated that monetary easing could be appropriate in 2024. The United 
States Federal Reserve raised the upper limit of its funds rate to 5.5% in mid-2023 from 4.5% at the start of 
the year, and has since kept it unchanged at this level. MENA central banks with dollar pegs have generally 
matched the changes by the Federal Reserve. 

In Europe, the European Central Bank (ECB) raised its main refinancing operations rate to 4.5% in September, 
up from 2.5% at the start of the year. ECB has also kept its key policy rates unchanged since then. 
Meanwhile in the United Kingdom, the Bank of England last raised its bank rate to 5.25% in August, from 
3.5% at the start of 2023 in response to high inflation. With the decline in inflation closer to their 2% target, 
major central banks have indicated that monetary easing could be appropriate in the quarters ahead. In 
Brazil, Banco Central do Brasil has already cut its key SELIC rate from a high of 13.75% in July to 11.25% at 
the start of 2024 and indicated further monetary easing would be appropriate in light of declining price 
pressures and moderating activity.
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The impact of increased geopolitical tensions

While economies near the conflict zone have been most affected by the eruption of the Gaza Conflict, the 
disruption of maritime traffic through the Suez Canal threatens to create supply chain bottlenecks and 
price pressures elsewhere, including in Europe. Among our core markets, Egypt is most exposed due to a 
near halving of Suez Canal revenues and impact on tourism and investment. Jordan has also been impacted 
particularly due to a decline in tourism. By contrast, a geopolitical risk premium on hydrocarbon prices may 
support external and fiscal balances in oil exporters such as Libya and the GCC.

Looking ahead to 2024

In the year ahead, global growth is projected at 2.8% against the background of elevated geopolitical risks 
and interest rates weighing on consumption and investment expenditures and trade. We expect MENA 
economies to buck the trend, with headline growth rising to 2.5% in 2024, with less drag from OPEC+ related 
oil production curbs. 

Barring further supply shocks, receding inflationary pressures are expected to provide scope for major 
central banks to begin monetary easing later in the year. MENA central banks with dollar pegs are expected 
to also match potential monetary easing by the Federal Reserve, supporting activity in their economies. 
We expect external assistance to remain steadfast for more vulnerable economies such as Egypt, which is 
undertaking reforms including an expected move towards a market-based exchange rate regime.

Bank ABC is setting bold aspirations for 2024, cautious of the economic headwinds such as the impact of 
tight financial conditions on credit quality and spillovers from ongoing conflicts in Ukraine and Gaza. With 
our strong track record of resilience and overcoming market volatility, we are confident of capitalising our 
strengths and leveraging our investments to continue to accelerate profitable growth during 2024.

Group Financial Review
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(All figures stated in US dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Arab Banking Corporation B.S.C. (“Bank ABC”) follows regulatory requirements and internationally-
recognised best practice principles and guidelines, having in place a corporate governance system that 
provides an effective and transparent control framework that is fair and accountable.

Bank ABC is licensed by the Central Bank of Bahrain (“CBB”) as a conventional wholesale bank. Incorporated 
in 1980 as a Bahrain joint stock company, Bank ABC has an authorised capital of US$4.5 billion and a paid-up 
capital of US$3.11 billion as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: US$3.11 billion).

Bank ABC communicates all relevant information to stakeholders punctually and clearly through a variety 
of channels, including a well-maintained website and relevant public disclosures via announcements on the 
Bahrain Bourse. In particular, it reports its profits on an annual, semi-annual and quarterly basis.

At least the last five years’ consolidated financial statements are available on the Bank ABC 
corporate website.

Shareholders

Bank ABC’s shares are listed on the Bahrain Bourse since 1990. The Central Bank of Libya (“CBL”), one of 
Bank ABC’s founding shareholders, owns a majority of the shares. The CBL increased its shareholding to 
59.37% in 2010 by participating in that year’s capital increase and acquiring the Abu Dhabi Investment 
Authority’s 17.72% shareholding. The Kuwait Investment Authority, another of Bank ABC’s founding 
shareholder, continues to own 29.69% of the shares. Each of the foregoing shareholders is either a 
governmental entity or is (directly or indirectly) owned by a governmental entity in its jurisdiction of 
establishment. International and regional investors hold the remaining shares of Bank ABC.

The following table shows the ownership structure of Bank ABC as at 31 December 2023:

Name of Shareholder Percentage Shareholding Nationality

Central Bank of Libya 59.37% Libyan

Kuwait Investment Authority 29.69% Kuwaiti

Other shareholders with less than 5% holdings 10.94% Various

Total 100%  
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The following table shows the distribution of shareholdings as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

% of  
shares held

2023 2022

No. of
shares

No. of
shareholders

% of total 
outstanding

shares
No. of

shares
No. of

shareholders

% of total 
outstanding

shares

less than 1% 128,344,432 1,341 4.1 128,344,432 1,312 4.1

1% up to  
less than 5%

211,976,668 3 6.8 211,976,668 3 6.8

5% up to  
less than 10%

- - - - - -

10% up to  
less than 20%

- - - - - -

20% up to  
less than 50%

923,289,191 1 29.7 923,289,191 1 29.7

50% and above 1,846,389,709 1 59.4 1,846,389,709 1 59.4

Total 3,110,000,000 1,346 100 3,110,000,000 1,317 100

Bank ABC’s Corporate Governance Charter 

In 2010, the CBB substantially updated its corporate governance requirements (particularly the CBB 
Rulebook’s High Level Controls Module) for financial institutions, which are incorporated in Bahrain (the “CBB 
Corporate Governance Requirements”) and most recently updated via revisions to the High-Levels Control 
(HC) Module in April 2023, which came into effect from 1st October 2023. Such regulatory requirements 
largely correspond with the Corporate Governance Code of Bahrain of 2022 (the “Code”), which is issued 
by the Ministry of Industry and commerce. The Board of Directors adopted the Bank ABC Corporate 
Governance Charter in December 2010 (the “Corporate Governance Charter”), which substantially reflects 
the CBB Corporate Governance Requirements and the Code as they have evolved. Bank ABC reviews on 
a regular basis the Corporate Governance Charter and, whenever required, makes the necessary and 



appropriate amendments. The Corporate Governance Charter is published on the Bank ABC corporate 
website and deals with a number of corporate governance related matters, including:

	 the role and responsibilities of the Board and its committees;

	 the responsibilities of Directors to Bank ABC and the shareholders;

	 the appointment, training and evaluation of the Board;

	 remuneration of the Board and of Bank ABC employees;

	 Bank ABC’s management structure; 

	 communications with shareholders and the disclosure of information to relevant stakeholders; and

	 the detailed mandates of each of the committees of the Board.

Recent Corporate Governance Changes 

In 2023, there were no signficant changes to the Corporate Governance Charter. However, there were some 
changes to the Group Audit Charter, Group Compliance Charter, and Group Risk Committee Charter, mainly 
to align these charters with the revised CBB Rulebook’s High Level Controls Module that was issued in 
April 2023 and came into effect from 1 October 2023. 

Compliance with CBB Corporate Governance Requirements and the Code 

Bank ABC was compliant with the CBB Corporate Governance Requirements and the Code as at 31 
December 2023, save that the Chairman of the Board is not an independent Director, the Corporate 
Governance Committee was comprised of less than three independent Directors (although the majority 
of Directors are independent) and the Board Audit Committee comprised of two independent Directors 
(including its Chairman) and two non-executive Directors (which requires that the Audit Committee shall 
comprise of at least three members, provided that the majority of them are independent). Despite the 
variance in the letter of the requirements, given the checks and balances in the decision making process 
and alignment with the CBB, Bank ABC is compliant with the CBB Corporate Governance Requirements.

Corporate Governance
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities of the Board

Bank ABC adopts a corporate governance charter for the Board and charters for the various Board 
committees (the “Bank ABC Board Mandates”). The Bank ABC Board Mandates are published on the Bank 
ABC corporate website. The Board of Directors, collectively, are responsible for the overall strategic direction, 
supervision and control of the Bank ensuring that no individual or group has unfetter powers in the decision 
making process. In particular, the Board’s responsibilities include (but are not limited to):

a)	 those responsibilities assigned to the Board by the Articles of Association of the Bank;

b)	 setting the ‘Tone at the top’, with leading role in establishing corporate culture and value, including 
Bank’s objectives,;

c)	 Bank’s overall business performance;

d)	 monitoring management performance;

e)	 the adoption and annual review of strategy;

f)	 monitoring the implementation of strategy by management;

g)	 causing financial statements to be prepared which accurately disclose Bank ’s financial position;

h)	 convening and preparing the agenda for shareholder meetings;

i)	 monitoring conflicts of interest and preventing abusive related-party transactions;

j)	 assuring equitable treatment of shareholders, including minority shareholders;

k)	 the adoption and review of management structure and responsibilities;

l)	 the adoption and review of the systems and controls framework; and

m)	 overseeing the design and operation of the remuneration systems of the Bank and ensuring that such 
systems are not primarily controlled by the executive management of the Bank.

The Board meets regularly to consider key aspects of the Group’s affairs, strategy and operations.

The Board exercises its responsibilities for best practice management and risk oversight mainly through the 
Board Risk Committee, which oversees the definition of risk/reward guidelines, risk appetite, risk tolerance 
standards and risk policies.

The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and implementing such internal controls 
via Senior Management, as the Board determines necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements that are free from any material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Appointment of Directors

The shareholders appoint the Board for a term of three years, with the current term of the Board 
commencing on 23rd March 2022 and terminating in March 2025. At the 2023 year end, there were nine 
Directors on the Board, with diverse and relevant skills, who worked well together as a team. Collectively, 
they exercised independent and objective judgement in meeting their responsibilities.

In accordance with Bank ABC’s Articles of Association, a shareholder or group of shareholders holding 25% 
or more of the share capital may nominate Directors proportionate to their respective shareholdings. Other 
Directors are elected.

Corporate Governance

 137



In accordance with the Bank ABC Board Mandates, each proposal for the election or re-election of a Director 
shall be accompanied by a recommendation of the Board, and a summary of the advice of the Remuneration 
Committee (see the description of role of the Remuneration Committee in this report).

The Board also has the power under Bank ABC’s Articles of Association to appoint new directors and fill any 
Board vacancies that may arise, subject to such appointments being subsequently ratified by shareholders.

When a new Director is inducted, the Chairman, or Bank ABC’s Board Secretary or Compliance Officer, 
or other individual delegated by the Chairman, reviews the Board’s role and duties with that person. In 
particular, they describe the legal and regulatory requirements of the Bank ABC Board Mandates, the Code 
and the CBB Corporate Governance Requirements. The Chairman of the Board (or other individual delegated 
by the Chairman of the Board) ensures that each new Director is provided with a comprehensive induction 
pack providing requisite materials to ensure his contribution to the Board from the beginning of his term. 

Bank ABC has a written appointment agreement with each Director. This describes the Director’s 
powers, duties, responsibilities and accountabilities, as well as other matters relating to his appointment 
including his term, the time commitment envisaged, the Board committee assignments (if any), Directors’ 
remuneration and expense reimbursement entitlement, and Directors’ access to independent professional 
advice when needed.

Biographies of the Board of Directors are included in appendix 1.

Assessment of the Board

The Bank ABC Board Mandates require that the Board evaluates its own performance each year, as well as 
the performance of each Board committee and individual Director. This evaluation includes:

a)	 assessing how the Board operates; 

b)	 evaluating the performance of each Board committee in light of its specific purposes and 
responsibilities, which shall include reviews of the self-evaluations undertaken by each Board 
committee;

c)	 reviewing each Director’s work, his attendance at Board and Board committee meetings, and his 
constructive involvement in discussions and decision making;

d)	 reviewing the Board’s current composition against its desired composition in order to maintain an 
appropriate balance of skills and experience, and to ensure planned and progressive refreshing of the 
Board; and

e)	 recommendations for new Directors to replace long-standing Directors, or those Directors whose 
contribution to Bank ABC or its Board committees (such as the Group Audit Committee) is not 
adequate.

The Board has conducted an evaluation and self-assessment of its performance, and the performance 
of each Board committee and each individual Director in relation to the financial year ended on 
31 December 2023.
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Independence of Directors

The Bank ABC Board Mandates include detailed criteria to determine whether a Director should be classified 
as independent or not. The Bank ABC independence criteria are at least as restrictive as the formal criteria 
specified in the CBB Corporate Governance Requirements.

Bank ABC had four independent, non-executive Directors and five non-independent, non-executive 
Directors as at 31 December 2023. The CBB Corporate Governance Requirements require that at least a 
one-third of Bank ABC’s Board of Directors is independent and also require that certain Board committees 
(including the Group Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, Group Compliance Committee, and 
Board Risk Committee) be comprised of a certain number of Directors, a certain proportion of independent 
Directors and/or that such Board committees be chaired by an independent Director. Save as may 
otherwise be disclosed in this section, Bank ABC is now fully compliant with such requirements. The CBB 
Corporate Governance Requirements also state that it is preferable for the Chairman of the Board to be 
an independent Director, whereas the Chairman of the Board is, in fact, classified as a non-executive, non-
independent Director.

As a rule, Directors do not have any direct or indirect material interest in any contract of significance with 
Bank ABC, or any of its subsidiaries, or any material conflicts of interest. This remained the case in 2023. 

The Bank ABC Board Mandates require that any transaction that causes a Director to have a material 
conflict of interest must be unanimously approved by the Board (other than the relevant Director). Each 
Director is required to inform the entire Board of any actual, or potential, conflicts of interest in their 
activities with, or commitments to, other organisations as they arise, and to abstain from voting on these 
matters. Such disclosures shall include all material facts.

Each Director has a legal duty of loyalty to Bank ABC, and can be personally sued by Bank ABC or 
shareholders for any violation.

Compensation & interests of Directors

The remuneration structure for the Board of Directors is determined in accrodnace with directors’ 
remuneration policy (the “Remuneration Policy”) of Bank ABC. The Remuneraton Policy is adopted by the 
Annual General Meeting on 21 March 2021 in accordance with Article 28 (b) of the Articles of Association of 
Bank ABC, based on a proposal of the Board of Directors of Bank ABC. The Remuneration Policy is intended 
to remain in force until 2025.

The objective of the Remuneration Policy, amongst others, is for Bank ABC to be able to (at all times) 
to attract, retain, and motivate Directors of skills and expertise commensurate with the complexity and 
diversification of its global business and be able at the same time to provide value to such Directors in 
return of their value to Bank ABC. 

The remuneration structure for the Board of Directors is composed of a flat fee (the “Flat Fee”), which 
is easy to manage, but also competitive enough to motivate Directors’ behavior and attract and retain 
the quality needed to run Bank ABC successfully. Such Flat Fee is composed of a monthly cash retainer 
(the “Retainer1”); attendance fees payable to Directors attending different Board and Board Committee 
meetings (“Attendance Fees2”); and allowances to cover travelling, accommodation and subsistence costs 
incurred in connection with attending Board and Board Committee meetings (“Allowances”).

  1This is refered to in the following table, according to the MOIC disclousre tables as “ Remunerations of the chairman and BOD”.
 2This is refered to in the following table, according to the MOIC disclousre tables as “ Total allowance for attending Board and committee meetings”.
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The aggregate remuneration paid to Board members in 2023 amounted to US$1,897,023 (2022: US$1,760,511), 
which was divided between the three elements as follows: 

Fixed remunerations Variable remunerations

Name

First: Independent Directors:

Dr. Khaled Kawan 50,000 4,500 - 9,407 63,907 - - - - - - - -

Dr. Farouk El Okdah 75,833 3,000 - 13,191 92,024 - - - - - - - -

Dr. Ibrahim El Danfour 135,000 22,500 - 95,566 253,066 - - - - - - - -

Mr. Abdullah 
Al Humaidhi

133,750 12,000 - 46,114 191,864 - - - - - - - -

Mr. Khalil Nooruddin 150,833 31,500 - 24,819 207,152 - - - - - - - -

Second: Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Saddek Omar 
El Kaber

147,500 9,000 - 49,911 206,411 - - - - - - - -

Mr. Mohammad 
Saleem

138,750 15,000 - 59,577 213,327 - - - - - - - -

Mr. Ashraf Mukhtar 110,000 9,000 - 58,149 177,149 - - - - - - - -

Dr. Tarik Yousef 137,917 30,000 - 112,768 280,685 - - - - - - - -

Ms. Huda Al Mousa 127,083 28,500 - 55,854 211,437 - - - - - - - -

Third: Executive Directors: 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Total 1,206,667 165,000 - 525,357 1,897,023 - - - - - - - -

Note: The aggregate remuneration paid to the members of the Remuneration Committee with respect 
to their membership of such committee for the year 2023 was US$20,000, which sum is included in the 
Retainer fee (2022: US$20,000). 

No Director owned or traded Bank ABC shares in 2023.
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Board Committees

The Board and its committees are supplied with full and timely information to enable them to discharge 
their responsibilities. In this respect, the Board, its committees and all Directors have access to senior 
management, external consultants and advisors, as required. The Board Secretary is responsible for 
ensuring that the Board procedures, and applicable rules and regulations, are observed.

The Board has delegated specific responsibilities to a number of Board committees. Each such committee 
has its own formal written charter, which is set out in full in the Corporate Governance Charter. The main 
Board committees are:

	 The Board Risk Committee, which is responsible for the review and approval of the Group’s Credit 
and Risk Policies, including the risk appetite statement (RAS). The Committee reviews and makes 
recommendations to the Board regarding the annual risk strategy/appetite, within which business 
strategy, objectives and targets are formulated. The Committee delegates authority to senior 
management to conduct day-to-day business within the prescribed policy and strategy parameters, 
while ensuring that processes and controls are adequate to manage the Group’s Risk Policies and 
Strategy. The Board Risk Committee meets not less than three times a year.

	 The Board Corporate Governance Committee, which assists the Board in shaping and monitoring the 
Group’s Corporate Governance policies and practices, reviewing and assessing the adequacy of these 
policies and practices, and evaluating the Group’s compliance with them. The Corporate Governance 
Committee meets not less than once a year.

	 The Group Board Audit Committee, which is responsible to the Board for the integrity and 
effectiveness of the Group’s system of financial and internal controls. This Committee also recommends 
the appointment, compensation and oversight of the external auditors, as well as the appointment of 
the Group Chief Internal Auditor. The Group Audit Committee meets not less than four times a year.

	 The Board Remuneration Committee, which is responsible for the formulation of the Group’s executive 
and staff remuneration policy, as well as senior management appointments, ensuring that Bank ABC’s 
remuneration levels remain competitive so it can attract, develop and retain the skilled staff needed to 
meet its strategic objectives. The Committee also ensures that the remuneration policy and philosophy 
of Bank ABC and the ABC Group are aligned with Bank ABC’s long-term business strategy, business 
objectives, risk appetite, values and long-term interests, while recognising the interests of relevant 
stakeholders. The Remuneration Committee meets not less than twice per year.

	 The Group Board Compliance Committee, which is responsible to the Board for monitoring compliance 
of the Group in the various countries in which the Group operates. The Committee also assists the 
Board in discharging its governance and oversight responsibilities for the Compliance risk management 
framework of Bank ABC and of Bank ABC’s compliance with applicable laws and regulations on a group 
wide basis. The Group Compliance Committee meets not less than four times a year.

	 The Strategy Committee. The Board has also delegated specific responsibilities for reviewing and 
overseeing the implementation of the strategy for Bank ABC and the Bank ABC Group to an ad-hoc 
Board Strategy Committee which shall meet as required to be effective.
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As at 31 December 2023, the current members of each of the Board committees were as set out in the 
following table:

Board Committee Member Name Member Position Classification of Director

The Board Risk
Committee

Mr. Abdallah Al Humaidhi Chairman Independent

Mr. Khalil Nooruddin Member Independent

Dr. Ibrahim El Danfour Member Independent 

Mr. Mohammad Saleem Member Non-Independent

Dr. Khaled Kawan Member Independent 

The Corporate Governance 
Committee

Dr. Khaled Kawan Chairman Independent

Mr. Abdallah Al Humaidhi Member Independent 

Dr. Tarik Yousef Member Non-Independent

The Group Audit
Committee

Mr. Khalil Nooruddin Chairman Independent

Ms. Huda Al Mousa Member Non-Independent

Dr. Ibrahim Eldanfour Member Independent 

Dr. Tarik Yousef Member Non-Independent

The Remuneration 
Committee

Dr. Khaled Kawan Chairman Independent 

Mr. Abdallah Al Humaidhi Member Independent 

Dr. Ibrahim El Danfour Member Independent

The Group Board 
Compliance Committee

Mr. Khalil Nooruddin Chairman Independent

Ms. Huda Al Mousa Member Non-Independent

Dr. Ibrahim El Danfour Member Independent

Dr. Tarik Yousef Member Non-Independent

The Strategy 
Committee

Mr. Saddek Omar El Kaber Chairman Non-Independent

Mr. Mohammad Saleem Member Non-Independent

Dr. Tarik Yousef Member Non-Independent

Mr. Abdallah Al Humaidhi Member Independent

Mr. Khalil Nooruddin Member Independent
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Corporate Governance

Attendance of Directors

The details of Directors’ 2023 attendance at Board and Board committee meetings are set out in the 
following table: 

Board Members
Board  
Meetings

The 
Board Risk 
Committee 

The 
Corporate 
Governance 
Committee

The Group  
Audit 
Committee

The Remu-
neration 
Committee

The 
Compliance 
Committee

The 
Strategy 
Committee

Mr. Saddek 
Omar El Kaber
Chairman

6(6)  N/A  N/A N/A  N/A N/A 1(1)

Mr. Mohammad 
Saleem
Deputy Chairman

6(6) 4(4) N/A N/A N/A N/A 1(1)

Ms. Huda 
Al Mousa
Director

6(6) N/A N/A 7(8) N/A 4(4) N/A

Mr. Abdallah 
Al Humaidhi
Director

6(6) 2(4) 2(2) N/A 2(2) N/A 1(1)

Dr. Ibrahim 
El Danfour
Director

6(6) 4(4) N/A 8(8) 2(2) 4(4) N/A

Dr. Tarik 
Yousef
Director

6(6) N/A 2(2) 8(8) N/A 4(4) 1(1)

Mr. Ashraf 
Mukhtar
Director

6(6) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Mr. Khalil 
Nooruddin
Director

6(6) 4(4) N/A 8(8) N/A 4(4) 1(1)

Dr. Farouk 
El Okdah
Director

2(6)1 N/A 1(2)2 N/A 1(2)3 N/A N/A

Dr. Khaled 
Kawan
Director

3(6)4 N/A 1(2)5 N/A 1(2)6 N/A N/A

Figures in brackets indicate the maximum number of meetings during the period of membership. “N/A” 
indicates that a Director was not a member of the relevant Board committee during 2023. 

1  Resigned from the Board in July 2023
2 Resigned from the Corporate Governance Committee in July 2023
3 Resigned from the Remuneration Committee in July 2023

4 Appointed to the Board in July 2023
5 Appointed to the Corporate Governance Committee in November 2023
6 Appointed to the Remuneration Committee in November 2023
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Meeting dates during 2023:

The Board and its committees meet as frequently as is necessary for them to discharge their respective 
responsibilities, but the Board meets no less than four times a year. The Group Audit Committee meets no 
less than four times a year, the Remuneration Committee meets no less than twice a year, the Board Risk 
Committee meets no less than three times a year, the Corporate Governance Committee meet no less than 
once a year, and the Group Board Compliance Committee meets no less than four times a year. 

The Board Strategy Committee meets as required to effectively discharge its responsibilities. In 2023, the Board 
Strategy Committee met once on 19-20 May 2023 to review and approve Bank ABC’s new three year strategy. 

The details of the dates of the Board and Board committee meetings in 2023 are set out below:

Dates of Meetings

Board 12 February 2023
19 March 2023
21 May 2023
24 July 2023
12 and 13 November 2023 (two days meeting)
10 December 2023

The Board Risk Committee 7 February 2023
2 May 2023
10 August 2023
31 October 2023

The Corporate Governance Committee 11 February 2023
9 December 2023

The Group Audit Committee 9 February 2023
16 March 2023
3 May 2023
15 June 2023
6 July 2023
7 August 2023
1 November 2023
7 December 2023

The Remuneration Committee 11 February 2023
9 December 2023

The Group Compliance Committee 9 February 2023
3 May 2023
7 August 2023
7 December 2023

The Strategy Committee 19 and 20 May 2023 (two days meeting)
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board of Directors is responsible for establishing and reviewing the Group’s system of internal control. 
The Board receives minutes and reports from the Board Risk Committee (“BRC”), the Group Audit Committee 
and the Board Compliance Committee, identifying any significant issues relating to the adequacy of the 
Group’s risk management policies and procedures, as well as reports and recommendations from the 
Corporate Governance Committee and the Remuneration Committee for any needed decision making and 
action(s) at their end.

Management informs the Board regularly about how the Group is performing versus budget, identifying major 
business issues and examining the impact of the external business, economic and regulatory environment.

Day-to-day responsibility for internal control rests with management. The key elements of the process for 
identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the Group can be summarised as:

	 a well-defined management structure with clear authorities and delegation of responsibilities, 
documented procedures and authority levels to ensure that all material risks are properly assessed 
and controlled

	 internal control policies that require management to identify major risks, and to monitor the 
effectiveness of internal control procedures for adequate reporting and mitigation

	 a robust compliance function, exercised through Group Compliance reports to the Board Compliance 
Committee over Compliance Risks, 

	 an internal audit function, exercised through Group Audit, which reports to the Group Audit Committee 
on the effectiveness of key internal controls in relation to the major risks faced by the Group, and 
conducts reviews of the efficacy of management oversight in regard to delegated responsibilities, as 
part of its regular audits of Group departments and business units

	 a comprehensive planning and budgeting process that delivers detailed annual financial forecasts and 
targets for Board approval, and

	 a Group Risk Management function, comprising overarching Head Office risk management committees 
and a dedicated risk management function supporting the group.

Management structure

The Group Chief Executive Officer, supported by Head Office management, is responsible for managing the 
day-to-day operations of Bank ABC. There is a clear segregation of duties in the management structure at 
Bank ABC.

Senior managers did not hold or trade any shares in Bank ABC during 2023.

The management organisation chart is included in appendix 2.

COMPLIANCE

Compliance risk is the risk of legal or regulatory sanctions, material financial loss, or loss to reputation the Bank 
may suffer as a result of its failure to comply with the statutory, regulatory and supervisory requirements 
including industry codes with which the Group must by law comply with, or which it voluntarily adheres to.

Bank ABC is committed to maintaining the highest standards of ethical and professional conduct, including 
complying with all applicable rules and regulations. The Group Chief Compliance Officer (GCCO), together 
with the Heads of Compliance and Money Laundering Reporting Officers Group-wide, support the Board and 
Senior Management in effectively managing the compliance risks faced by the Bank. 
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The Bank has a dedicated Group Board Compliance Committee (BCC). The GCCO reports directly to the BCC 
and administratively to the Group Chief Executive Officer (GCEO). 

The Group Compliance Oversight Committee (GCOC) is the Senior Management committee established by 
the BCC, that oversees compliance risk management group-wide. To support the GCOC, Compliance and 
Financial Crime Committees (CFCCs) are established in each jurisdiction group-wide, which report into their 
respective BCC, or equivalent.

As detailed in the Group’s Risk Appetite Statement, the Bank has no tolerance for regulatory breaches that 
are intentional or due to gross negligence. In addition, the Bank has no appetite for the facilitation, aiding or 
abetting of any form of criminal activity. 

It is recognized that operational risk, including Compliance Risk, is inherent in business operations, processes 
and systems and that inadvertent errors may occur. Nevertheless, the Bank is committed to conducting 
business in compliance with regulatory requirements and implementing appropriate risk management and 
risk mitigation mechanisms to ensure that a robust compliance culture is embedded within the organisation. 

The Bank continues to enhance its compliance framework by investing in systems and the Compliance 
Function capability.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

1.	 In 2023, the Bank ABC Group paid external auditors of the Parent US$ 1,991,667 in audit / 
assurance fees.

2.	 All non-assurance services were preapproved by the Audit Committee of the Parent. The Bank ABC 
Group paid external auditors of the Parent US$ 797,279 for non-assurance services.

3.	 Ernst & Young have expressed their willingness to continue as the auditors of the Group for the year 
ending 31 December 2024. Bank ABC’s management, based on evaluation of services provided by its 
external auditors, has recommended the appointment of Ernst & Young and a resolution proposing 
their reappointment will be presented at the annual general meeting to be held in March 2024.

POLICY ON THE EMPLOYMENT OF RELATIVES AND APPROVED PERSONS 

Bank ABC has a Board approved Policy on Employment of Relatives and Connected Persons. This Policy 
aims to ensure that Bank ABC has transparency in relation to the employment of relatives and Connected 
Persons in order to prevent actual, or perceived, conflicts of interest. 

The Policy sets out that no relatives or near relatives of any Bank ABC employee, Executive or Board 
Member may enter into employment with Bank ABC. Exceptional approvals may be granted by an 
independent panel following a full and fair selection process.
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REMUNERATION POLICIES OF BANK ABC IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE 
REQUIREMENTS OF THE CBB

Senior management and staff receive compensation based on several fixed elements, covering salary, 
allowances and benefits, as well as variable, performance-related elements.

In January 2014, the Central Bank of Bahrain (CBB) issued new rules relating to the remuneration of 
approved persons and material risk-takers and others, which were subsequently amended later during 2014 
(the “CBB Sound Remuneration Practices”), with recent amendments via CBB HC Module in April 2023. Bank 
ABC has implemented remuneration policies and procedures to cover Bank ABC, Ila Bank and Bank ABC 
Islamic, which are compliant with the CBB Remuneration Rules.

Bank ABC reviewed its remuneration practices and redesigned its variable compensation scheme in order 
to be fully compliant with the CBB’s requirements. Key changes to Bank ABC’s remuneration systems and 
governance processes were made to comply with the CBB regulations and included:

i.	 Ensuring the risk framework is extensive and captured in decisions around variable pay, including 
confirming risk-adjustments to any bonus pool.

ii.	 Separating control functions from the Group bonus pool and ensuring they are measured 
independently from the businesses they oversee.

iii.	 Introducing an equity-linked vehicle in which to deliver the appropriate amount of variable 
remuneration for covered persons.

iv.	 Introducing deferral arrangements that defer the appropriate amount of variable remuneration for 
the Group Chief Executive Officer (GCEO), deputies, top five most highly-paid business line employees, 
material risk takers and approved persons.

v.	 Introducing clawback and malus policies that apply to variable remuneration.

While maintaining the same Variable Compensation Scheme (VCS) and bonus multiples tables, further 
changes to the Employees’ Performance Management System were introduced in early 2016 to encourage 
behaviours that will help fulfil the Group’s strategic goals. Variable pay now depends on a more extensive 
matrix of factors, rather than just the income generated. These added factors facilitate measuring the 
quality of the income rather than just its magnitude. In addition, other non-financial factors have also been 
added as part of the performance matrix. 

The Remuneration Committee (RemCo) reviews and approves Bank ABC’s remuneration policy structure on 
an annual basis. Where rules on compensation exist in other jurisdictions in which Bank ABC operates, Bank 
ABC’s Group policy is to take necessary steps to comply with local market regulations that are applicable 
to our foreign subsidiaries and branches. Where no rules are applicable, ABC adopts best local market 
practices.

A distinct and separate bonus pool has been created to reinforce the safeguarding role and independence 
of staff in Control Functions, and is measured by the impact and quality of their safeguarding role. These 
measures are based on department-specific objectives and targets, which are independent of company 
financial performance.
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Bank ABC conducts business within a set of overarching goals and limits that, together, define its risk 
appetite and tolerance. This is approved by the Board Risk Committee as part of the Group Risk Strategy, 
which complements the budgets and strategic plans proposed by the business. The Bank’s bonus pool is 
subject to potential adjustments based on the review of the RemCo, in the respect of the approved risk 
appetite, risk tolerance and risk policies during the fiscal year.

Variable compensation and performance management are linked. Performance expectations are clearly 
articulated for revenue-generating, support and control functions. Individual bonus payments reflect Group, 
business unit and individual performance.

Bank ABC has adopted a remuneration deferral policy in line with the CBB Sound Remuneration Practices. 
This defers a required amount of the variable remuneration for the GCEO, deputies, top five most highly-
paid business line employees, defined material risk takers and approved persons.

Bank ABC has also adopted a malus policy, which allows any form of deferred variable remuneration to be 
reduced or cancelled in specific and exceptional circumstances. Exceptional circumstances are defined as 
material events. They may include a material restatement of the Bank’s financial statements, the discovery 
of significant failures in risk management or exposure to material financial losses at Group, business unit or 
individual level. In respect of unvested awards, and depending on each specific circumstance, malus may be 
applied to either that portion of unvested awards linked to the performance year in question or the total 
outstanding set of unvested awards.

A clawback policy has been introduced to allow Bank ABC to recover part, or all, of the awards already paid 
to an employee or former employee if a material event is discovered. Clawback provisions may be enforced 
upon the discovery of an employee’s, or former employee’s, accountability or responsibility for, or direct 
implication in, material events that may bring the Bank into serious disrepute. Additionally, they may be 
enforced in the event of individual criminal or other substantial misconduct.

The design of the Bank’s reward structure aligns pay outcomes with prudent risk management and sound 
governance practices. The mix of an individual employee’s pay, allowances and variable compensation is 
dictated by the nature of the role he/she holds. Variable pay for the relevant emploees is delivered using a 
blend of cash and equity-linked instruments. It may be paid up-front in cash or deferred in accordance with 
the Bank’s deferral policy. With Board approval, the variable pay multiples may be reviewed from time to 
time to ensure competitiveness with the market.

The remuneration disclosures have been reviewed and approved by the RemCo, which has confirmed they 
are aligned to the CBB rulebook requirements.

Bank ABC takes risk seriously. Reward practices embed and reinforce the Bank’s desired risk culture, and 
risk behaviours directly impact variable pay, based on the following principles:

i.	 Financial performance is not the sole measure of performance; both quantitative and qualitative 
approaches are used to measure risk; bonus pools are adjusted for all types of risk, both tangible and 
intangible, reflecting both Group and business unit performance.

ii.	 Bonuses can be diminished (or nil) in light of excessive risk taking at Group, business or individual level.

iii.	 Bonus pools reflect the cost of capital required, and liquidity risk assumed, in the conduct of business.

In addition, Bank ABC has a process for assessing the performance of senior management against a set of 
pre-agreed audit, risk & compliance (ARC) objectives, which are cascaded down in the organisation. Their 
pay is linked to long-term profitability and sustainable value.
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Pay principles

The following ‘pay principles’ apply at Bank ABC and govern all current and future remuneration decisions. 
These principles have been approved by the RemCo.

Summary

Principle Theme

Principle 1 We pay for performance 

Principle 2 We take risk seriously 

Principle 3 We think long-term

Principle 4 Pay decisions are governed effectively

Principle 5 Clear and simple

Principle 6 Competitive, sustainable and affordable

Principle 1 | We pay for performance

Approach

	 Performance expectations are clearly articulated for revenue-generating, support and control 
functions.

	 Pay and performance management are linked.

	 Bank ABC rewards performance that delivers its strategy, and that delivers the behaviours, cultures 
and ways of working that underpin doing business with the Bank.

Delivery

	 Group and / or business unit underperformance can result in no bonus pool.

	 Bonuses can be diminished (or nil) in light of poor Group, business unit or individual performance.

	 Individual bonus payments reflect Group, business unit and individual performance.

	 Group and business units are expected to meet demanding but achievable performance targets.

	 Low performance ratings for any employee can result in no bonus.

	 High performing business units may pay bonuses, even if the Group underperforms.

	 Bank ABC differentiates high performance from average or low performance.

	 Bonuses can be paid for non-profitable business units in start-up or turn-around phases.

	 Bonus calculations reflect a measure of the appropriate behaviours which support doing business with 
Bank ABC.

	 Control functions are measured on the impact and quality of their safeguarding role.

	 Pay for employees engaged in control functions promotes impartiality and objectivity – it ensures that 
all employees at Bank ABC take risk seriously.

	 Bonuses can be paid to control function employees who exercise their roles effectively, even in light of 
poor Group or business unit performance.
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Principle 2 | We take risk seriously

Approach

	 Reward practices embed and reinforce Bank ABC’s desired risk culture.

	 Risk behaviours directly impact variable pay.

Delivery

	 Financial performance is not the sole measure of performance.

	 Bonuses can be diminished (or nil) in light of excessive risk taking at Group, business or individual level.

	 Bonus pools reflect the cost of capital required, and liquidity risk assumed, in the conduct of business.

	 Bonus pools are adjusted for all types of risk, both tangible and intangible, which are reflected in both 
Group and business unit performance.

	 Both quantitative and qualitative approaches are used to measure risk.

	 Pay for material risk takers is significantly weighted towards variable pay.

	 Material risk takers’ performance is rewarded using a mix of cash and equity (or an equity-linked 
vehicle) to reflect their influence on the Bank’s risk profile.

	 Risk behaviours of material risk takers have a direct impact on variable pay outcomes.

Principle 3 | We think long-term

Approach

	 Pay is linked to long-term profitability and sustainable value.

Delivery

	 Deferral mechanisms are used for approved persons / material risk takers.

	 Deferral mechanisms include an equity-linked vehicle.

	 60% of variable pay for GCEO and the most highly-paid employees is deferred for three years.

	 40% of variable pay for material risk takers and approved persons (paid over BHD100,000) is deferred 
for three years.

	 No form of guaranteed variable remuneration can be granted, except in exceptional circumstances, for 
a period of no more than one year following hire.

	 Unvested deferred bonuses can be recovered in light of discovering past failures in risk management, 
or policy breaches, that led to the award originally being granted.

	 Participation in deferral is reviewed on an annual basis, subject to meeting the minimum requirements 
under the CBB rules.
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Principle 4 | Pay decisions are governed effectively

Approach

	 Variable pay schemes are owned and monitored by the RemCo.

	 The RemCo oversees remuneration practices across the Bank.

Delivery

	 The RemCo oversees the design and delivery of variable pay across the Bank.

	 The RemCo reviews and approves the Bank’s remuneration policy on an annual basis.

	 The GCEO and senior management do not directly own or control remuneration systems.

	 The RemCo reviews and approves bonus pools and payouts across the Bank, and reviews and 
approves the pay proposals for material risk takers and approved persons.

	 Risk and Compliance provide information to the RemCo before it determines the bonus pool and Group 
performance.

	 HR controls remuneration policies, while line managers have suitable discretion to apply them.

	 HR develops compliance and monitoring practices to actively track global compliance with Group 
remuneration policy. 

Principle 5 | Clear and simple

Approach

	 Reward communications are clear, user-friendly and written in plain language.

	 The aims and objectives of the new VCS are clear and transparent.

Delivery

	 Clearly communicate what is meant by malus and clawback, and the instances in which these 
provisions could be applied.

	 Open and easy access to the variable pay policy, plan rules and relevant communications.

Principle 6 | Competitive, sustainable and affordable

Approach

	 The VCS helps to attract and retain high-calibre talent.

	 The VCS structure can be maintained over the long term, and its total cost is always affordable to 
the Bank.

Delivery

	 Bonus pools vary year-on-year, based on Group performance, external market conditions, the internal 
climate and affordability.

	 Individual pay opportunities are driven by the external market and internal positioning.
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Application of pay principles 

Bank ABC will remunerate covered employees to attract, retain and motivate sufficient talent to safeguard 
the interests of the Bank and its shareholders, while ensuring the Bank avoids paying more than necessary. 
The remuneration systems fairly reward performance delivered within the risk appetite of the Bank, over an 
appropriate time horizon, to align with risk.

Variable remuneration is paid according to the scheme on the below categorisation:

	 Approved persons in business lines: For the GCEO and the five most highly-paid business line 
employees, variable pay in 2019 was paid as 40% upfront cash, 10% in deferred cash and 50% in a 
deferred equity-linked vehicle. For the others in the same category, the pay split was 50% upfront cash, 
10% upfront equity-linked vehicle, 40% deferred equity-linked vehicle.

	 Approved persons in control functions: The variable pay for employees in this category was paid as 
50% upfront cash, 10% upfront equity-linked vehicle, 40% deferred equity-linked vehicle.

	 Other material risk takers: The variable pay for employees in this category was paid as 50% upfront 
cash, 10% upfront equity-linked vehicle, 40% deferred equity-linked vehicle.

	 Other staff of Bahrain operations: The variable pay was paid fully in cash up front.

Remuneration arrangements are structured to promote sound risk behaviours. Their performance is 
measured against a range of financial and non-financial factors related to risk. Employees categorised as 
approved persons in control functions have their remuneration measured independently of the business 
that they oversee, so ensuring sufficient independence and authority. All variable pay is subject to malus 
and clawback.
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Ratification of the 
Appointment of 
New Director



The Board of Directors of Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.) (the “Bank ABC”) wishes to provide 
Shareholders with information regarding the ratification of the appointment of a new director at the annual 
ordinary general meeting (the “AGM”) to be held on 24 March 2024.

Dr. Khaled Kawan

PhD (Doctorat D’Etat) in Banking Laws, University of Paris (Sorbonne), France.

Dr. Kawan has held various executive level positions at Bank ABC from 1991 until his retirement in 2022. 
He served as the Group Legal Counsel until December 2009, when he was appointed Deputy Group Chief 
Executive Officer. Subsequently, Dr. Kawan was elevated to Group Chief Executive Officer of Bank ABC in 
October 2013. He currently holds a number of Board offices within the Bank ABC Group, including Chairman 
of the Boards of ABC International Bank plc, Arab Banking Corporation SA and Banco ABC Brasil. He has 
more than 30 years of banking experience.

Recommendation of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors of Bank ABC recommends to Shareholders that the appointment of Dr. Khaled 
Kawan as a director of Bank ABC pursuant to Articles 19 and 20 of the Company’s Articles of Association 
respectively be ratified by Shareholders. 

Ratification of the Appointment of 
New Director
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Minutes of the Previous meeting

Directors’
Report
Completion of the 
AT1 Capital Securities 
Issuance



To:	 The Shareholder of Bank ABC 

Re:	 Potential Issuance of Basel III compliant Additional Tier I capital securities 

1.	 Background

1.1	 At the Board meeting held on 11 February 2024, the Board of Directors approved the potential issuance 
of Basel III compliant Additional Tier I capital securities (“AT1 Securities”) up to an aggregate amount of 
US$ 400,000,000 (four hundred million) subject to the consent of the shareholders and the approval of 
the Central Bank of Bahrain. 

1.2	 AT1 Securities consist of capital instruments that are perpetual, in that there is no fixed maturity and 
cannot be redeemed at the option of the holder / investor. The claims of AT1 Securities rank above 
ordinary shareholders but are subordinated to holders of Tier 2 instruments, senior creditors and 
depositors. AT1 Securities have a call option which allows the issuer to pay out, and redeem, the 
instruments after the call date.

1.3	 To qualify as Tier 1 regulatory capital the terms and conditions of the AT1 Securities include a feature 
that allows the AT1 Securities to be written down and/or converted into ordinary shares of Bank ABC in 
circumstances where Bank ABC might cease to remain a going concern (the “Loss Absorption Features”).

1.4	 The issuance of AT1 Securities by Bank ABC would (i) support optimization of the capital structure; 
(ii) create additional risk-weighted asset and balance sheet capacity to support the Group’s strategy 
for accelerated earnings growth; and (iii) maintain the Group’s capital ratios at levels which underpin our 
Group’s investment grade (IG) credit rating. 

1.5	 The timing and commercial terms of the potential issuance of AT1 Securities will be determined by 
(i) projected balance growth and (ii) favourable market conditions. 

1.6	 To proceed with the potential issuance of AT1 Securities, Bank ABC requires the shareholders, amongst 
other things, to pass resolutions to:

a.	 consent to the issuance of the AT1 Securities, subject to the approval of the Central Bank of Bahrain; 

b.	 expressly waive the pre-emption rights relating to the issuance of any shares in the event the AT1 
Securities are converted into ordinary shares in accordance with the Loss Absorption Features; and

c.	 authorize the Board of Directors of Bank ABC to take the necessary decisions regarding the 
issuance of the AT1 Securities. 

	 The proposed resolutions is set out in page 3.

2.	 Recommendation

The Board of Directors deem the potential issuance of AT1 Securities to be advisable and in the best 
interest of the Bank and the approval of the shareholders is hereby respectfully requested.

Completion of the AT1 Capital 
Securities Issuance
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Board of Directors
Biographies

Mr. Saddek Omar El Kaber
Chairman
SC ‡ >|<

MBA and MS in Public Accounting, University of 
Hartford, Connecticut, USA.

Governor of the Central Bank of Libya, Member of 
the Board of Trustees of the Libyan Investment 
Authority, Chairman of the Libyan National AML/
CFT Committee, Chairman of the Libyan National 
Payments Council, and Chairman of Arab Banking 
Corporation – Egypt S.A.E, Previously, Mr. El 
Kaber was Chairman of ABC International Bank 
plc, U.K., and Chairman and General Manager of 
UMMA Bank, Libya. Mr. El Kaber has held past 
key positions in a number of banks and financial 
institutions including being the Deputy Chief 
Executive Officer of ABC International Bank plc, 
U.K., the Deputy Chairman of the Board of Arab 
Banking Corporation- Algeria, Country Manager 
and CEO of Arab Banking Corporation-Tunisia and 
a Director of Arab Financial Services Company 
B.S.C.(c). He joined the Board of Arab Banking 
Corporation (B.S.C.) in December 2011. He has 
more than 35 years of experience in international 
finance and banking.

Mr. Mohammad Abdulredha Saleem 
Deputy Chairman
RC SC ‡ >|<

Bachelor of Business Administration in Finance 
from Kuwait University. 

Mr. Saleem has gained professional experience 
from his service over 33 years at Kuwait Investment 
Authority since 1986 where he held various 
positions including the Treasury Department 
Manager from 2006 to date. He has been a 
member of Warba Bank’s Board of Directors 
since March 2016 to date. He currently holds the 
position of Vice Chairman in the Arab Banking 
Corporation. He served previously in the State 
of Kuwait as Chairman and Board Member of 
audit and investment committees. He has been a 
Chairman or a member of the board of directors in 

a number of companies such as Generations Fund 
Holding Company, Kuwait Investment Company, 
the Egyptian Kuwaiti Real Estate Development 
Company, Gulf Custody Company, Kuwait Real 
Estate Holding Company, Kuwait Flour Mill & 
Bakeries Company. He also participated in many 
theoretical and practical courses at leading banks 
and global financial institutions in areas of portfolios 
management, investment, and capital markets.

Ms. Huda Al Mousa	
Director
AC CC ‡ >|<

MBA degree in Business Management, 
Georgetown University.

Huda Almousa serves as a Director at the 
General Reserve Asset Department of the Kuwait 
Investment Authority (KIA) since 2018. Her journey 
in the finance sector, spanning more than 15 years, 
includes diverse experiences in banking, asset 
management, and public finance. Before joining 
KIA, Huda was involved in various banking roles 
across key global financial centers, including New 
York, Dubai, Hong Kong, and Kuwait.

Alongside her responsibilities at KIA, Ms. 
Almousa lends her expertise to several key 
financial institutions and committees. She is a 
board member at Kuwait Credit Bank and Bank 
ABC, and she participates in the State of Kuwait 
Debt Management Committee, among other 
committees, contributing to financial oversight and 
policy development at the state level.

Mr. Abdallah Al Humaidhi
Director
RC RemCo GC SC ‡ §

MS, American University of Beirut.

Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, 
Commercial Facilities Company, Kuwait; a Director 
of the Board of First National Bank S.A.L., Lebanon. 
Mr. Al Humaidhi is also a Member of the Board and 
honourary Treasurer of the Kuwait Chamber of 
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Commerce & Industry and a Director of the Board 
of ABC International Bank plc, UK and a Member of 
the Board of Directors of Investcorp and chairman 
of the Audit and Risk Committee. Member of the 
Board of Directors of the Kuwait Red Crescent 
and Honorary Treasurer. Previously he served 
as Member of the Board and the Executive 
Committee of Kuwait Investment Authority. He 
has been a Director of Arab Banking Corporation 
B.S.C. since 2001 and has more than 40 years of 
experience in the banking and investment sectors.

Dr. Ibrahim El Danfour
Director
AC RC RemCo CC ‡ §

PhD in Accounting, Glasgow Caledonian University, 
Glasgow, The United Kingdom.

Chief Executive Officer of the Libyan African 
Investment Company (LAICO), Chairman of BSIC 
Gambian Bank, Gambia, Member of European 
Accounting Association (No. 95844), founding 
member of the Libyan Accountants Association, 
collaborator at Academic of Postgraduate Studies, 
Misurata, Libya. Previously Dr. Eldanfour was the 
Chairman of Ensemble Hotel Holdings, South 
Africa, Director of Libya for Investment Company, 
Egypt, Chairman of LAICO Hotels & Resorts 
Management Company, Liechtenstein, Director 
of Waha Bank, Libya. Dr. Eldanfour held various 
key positions in academia as well as the public 
and private sectors, mainly in accounting, financial 
management, corporate transformation and 
ERP systems, giving him more than 22 years of 
hands on experience in these domains, for which 
he has a number of publications and is an active 
participator in related high profile events and 
conferences.13 years of banking experience.

Dr. Tarik Yousef
Director
AC GC CC SC ‡ >|<

PhD in Economics, Harvard University, USA.

Director of the Middle East Council on Global 
Affairs since 2022. Member of the Board of 

Directors of the Central Bank of Libya since 2012. 
Former Senior Fellow in the Global Economy & 
Development Program at the Brookings Institution 
between 2006 and 2020. Dr. Yousef worked at 
Georgetown University in Washington DC between 
1998 and 2006 as Professor of Economics in 
the Edmund Walsh School of Foreign Service 
and Sheikh Al-Sabah Chair of Arab Studies at 
the Centre for Contemporary Arab Studies. His 
policy experience includes working as Economist 
in the Middle East and African Departments of 
the International Monetary Fund, Visiting Senior 
Economist in the Office of the Chief Economist of 
the Middle East and North Africa Region of the 
World Bank between 2002 and 2005 and Senior 
Advisor for the Millennium Project at the UN 
between 2004- 2005. Dr. Yousef joined the Board 
of Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.) in 2015. He 
has 20 years of experience in the finance and 
business fields.

Mr. Ashraf Mukhtar 
Director 
‡ >|<

MSC Master of International Accounting from 
Malaysia.

Director of banking operations department, 
previously deputy of director of banking 
operations department, worked as a member of 
inspection team at the department of banking 
and monetary supervision, appointed in a 
managing position for ALRAHILA petroleum 
company, previous member of LCs foreign 
currency payment committee and deputy head of 
documents for collection committee, has 13 years 
of banking experience.

Mr. Khalil Ibrahim Nooruddin
Director
AC RC CC SC ‡ § 

Bachelor of Science in Systems Engineering from 
King Fahad University of Petroleum and Minerals, 
Dhahran, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia; Master of Science 
in Quantitative Methods and Finance from Leonard 
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GC	 Member of the Corporate Governance Committee 
RemCo	 Member of the Remuneration Committee 
RC	 Member of the Risk Committee
CC	 Member of the Compliance Committee
SC	 Member of the Strategy Committee
‡	 Non-Executive 
§	 Independent 
>|<	 Non-independent
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N. Stern School of Business, New York University, 
New York, U.S.A; Chartered Financial Analyst from 
CFA Institute, Charlottesville, Virginia, U.S.A.

Mr. Nooruddin is a senior banker, with over 40 
years’ experience gained through serving local 
and international financial firms both at executive 
and board levels. Currently, he is the Managing 
Partner of Capital Knowledge, a management and 
financial consulting firm. Over the past twelve 
years, Mr. Nooruddin concluded several consulting 
and restructuring assignments for financial 
institutions, working on strategy formulation 
and implementation. Prior to this, Mr. Nooruddin 
was a member of the Management Committee 
of Investcorp Bank, Bahrain; Vice President UBS 
Asset Management in London and Zurich; 
Vice President Chase Manhattan Bank in 
Bahrain; and Operations Research Analyst, 
Bahrain Petroleum Company, Bahrain. He 
currently serves on the board of RA Holdings, 
formed under authorization of a US bankruptcy 
court to oversee the liquidation of Arcapita 
Investment Bank, Bahrain. Previously he served 
on the boards of Gulf International Bank, Bank Al 
Khair, Ithmaar Investment Bank, Bahrain Islamic 
Bank, Takaful Insurance Company and Bahrain 
Financing Company.

Dr. Khaled Kawan
Director
GC RemCo RC ‡ § 

PhD (Doctorat D’Etat) in Banking Laws, University 
of Paris (Sorbonne), France.

Dr. Kawan has held various executive level 
positions at Bank ABC from 1991 until his 

retirement in 2022. He served as the Group Legal 
Counsel until December 2009, when he was 
appointed Deputy Group Chief Executive Officer. 
Subsequently, Dr. Kawan was elevated to Group 
Chief Executive Officer of Bank ABC in October 
2013. He currently holds a number of Board offices 
within the Bank ABC Group, including Chairman 
of the Boards of ABC International Bank plc, Arab 
Banking Corporation SA and Banco ABC Brasil. He 
has more than 30 years of banking experience.

Dr. Farouk El Okdah 1

Director
GC RemCo ‡ § 

PhD in Business and Applied Economics, 
Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania; 
MBA in Finance, Wharton School, University of 
Pennsylvania; Master of Accounting with Honors, 
Cairo University; BA in Accounting, Ain Shams 
University, Egypt.

Former Governor and Chairman of the Central 
Bank of Egypt and former Chairman and CEO of 
the National Bank of Egypt. Dr. El Okdah was also 
former Vice President of Bank of New York (US). 
He previously served as the the Non-Executive 
Chairman of the National Bank of Egypt (UK) 
Limited. He also served as the Non-Executive 
Chairman of the Union de Banques Arabe et 
Francaises (UBAF) and was a Member of the 
Board of Directors of Egypt Air, Egypt. Dr. El Okdah 
joined the Board of Arab Banking Corporation 
(B.S.C.) in 2014. He has more than 35 years of 
experience in banking and finance.

1 Resigned from the Board in July 2023
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